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FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

1 Findings and Recommendations are grouped as they appear in the text at the page
number indicated:

Page 14

Recommendation 1: The Committee recommends that the Government develop
guidelines requiring all public servants to report on the outcome of travel undertaken
for a public purpose.

Page 41

Recommendation 2: The Committee recommends that the Department of Education
and Training investigate whether the funding provided by the Aboriginal Education
and Training Directorate to the Balga Senior High School was used for the purpose it
was intended and if not, was the redirection of the funding appropriate. Further, what
was the knowledge and complicity of any officer of the Department of Education and
Training in relation to this funding.

Page 41

Recommendation 3: The Committee recommends that the Department of Education
and Training investigate how it was possible for Mr Hammond in September 2004 to
arrange an FTE conversion to fund the Balga Works Program at the Balga Senior
High School without the support of the Minister for Education and Training and with
the Director General’s reservations about the program.

Page 106

Finding 1: The Committee finds that that the DET failed to ensure adequate
verification of the enrolment and attendance records and this was a failure in their
financial management practices.
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Page 109

Finding 2:

The Committee finds that the responsibility for the failures with the program and the
administration of the school lay primarily with Mr Hammond.

The Committee is of the view that the DET is also responsible for the failures for the
following reasons:

i) its complicity in providing funding for the BWP in an ad-hoc manner and
without proper planning, accountability mechanisms or due diligence;

ii) its ineffectiveness in responding in an appropriate and timely manner despite
overwhelming evidence of the issues being faced by the BSHS and the BWP
throughout the life of the program. In particular, the response of the
Investigation Reference Group at the end of 2005 was inadequate (see
paragraphs 3.55 to 3.103); and

iii) its ineffectiveness in managing Mr Hammond.

The Committee has concerns with the process for the appointment of a supplementary
deputy principal to provide additional support for the BSHS. The Committee believes
that the DET should have taken greater responsibility for this appointment rather than
leaving Mr Hammond to Chair the selection process.

The Committee finds that the DET responses to the BWP issues were inadequate and the
additional support provided did not resolve the problems. The DET should have
ensured that the issues faced by the BSHS were being addressed as a result of the
additional resources being provided.

Further, the Committee finds that the Minister for Education and Training was not fully
informed through the briefing notes provided in relation to the BWP (see paragraph
3.154).

Page 111

Recommendation 4: The Committee recommends that the Minister for Education and
Training advise the Legislative Council as to whether he is satisfied that the
Department of Education and Training has met its duty of care obligations towards
those persons adversely affected by the Balga Works Program.
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Page 139

Finding 3: The Committee finds that:

a) Mr Michael Carton did not have the necessary skills and expertise to establish
the accommodation component of the program;

b) planning and staff training was inadequate to deal with the young people placed
in the program; and

c) that Mr Michael Carton mismanaged the supervision of the young people in the
accommodation program. This included lack of suitable supervision and the
lack of effective discipline and behaviour management.

Page 147

Recommendation 5: The Committee recommends that a review of the monitoring
processes for placements by the Department of Corrective Services and the
Department Child Protection be undertaken.

Page 161

Recommendation 6: The Committee recommends that the Department of Education
and Training develop written policies and guidelines for due diligence checks that are
to be undertaken by a school when engaging a private service provider. This includes
ensuring the private provider has processes in place to ensure that the staff hired by
the private provider are appropriately qualified.

Page 172

Recommendation 7: The Committee by a majority (comprising Hons Giz Watson,
Peter Collier, Sheila Mills and Helen Morton MLCs) recommends that the Western
Australian Council of State School Organisations Incorporated prohibit school
employees who are members of a Parents and Citizens Association to also be
signatories of the Parents and Citizens Associations bank accounts.

Page 173

Recommendation 8: The Committee recommends that the Government ensure that a
detailed investigation be undertaken by the appropriate authorities into the role and
activities of the Balga Senior High School Parent and Citizens Association Inc in
relation to the Balga Works Program.
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Page 181

Recommendation 9: The Committee recommends that the Government establish as a
matter of priority, a program for disengaged youth that provides appropriate
education and vocational training along with integrated accommodation and life skills
support.

Page 181

Recommendation 10: The Committee recommends that the Department of Education
and Training reviews the financial management support provided to schools. This
should include adequate training for Business Managers, Registrars, Principals and
Deputy Principals on the financial management practices of the Department of
Education and Training.

Page 181

Recommendation 11: The Committee by a majority (comprising Hons Giz Watson,
Peter Collier, Sheila Mills and Helen Morton MLCs) recommends that the
Government reimburse all former employees of the Balga Works Program, who can
demonstrate their claims for outstanding wages and superannuation.

Page 181

Recommendation 12: The Committee recommends that the Government examine
whether it has any recourse to recoup monies including outstanding wages and
superannuation from any individual or company and their directors involved in the
management of the Balga Works Program including Mr Hammond, Mr Michael
Carton and Hurson Pty Ltd.

Page 182

Recommendation 13: The Committee recommends that the Government provide
assistance and support in the form of a debriefing and counselling to the people
affected by the Balga Works Program and that in six months time the Government
report back to the Legislative Council on its actions.

Page 182

Recommendation 14: The Committee recommends that the Government identify the
young people who were enrolled in the Balga Works Program and ensure that they are
able to access educational and employment assistance to the level promised by the
Balga Works Program.

Page 182

Recommendation 15: The Committee recommends that the Department of Education
and Training review the adequacy of its capacity to facilitate the resourcing and
establishment of innovative initiatives within schools.
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CHAPTER 1
INTRODUCTION

REFERENCE AND PROCEDURE

1.1 On 27 June 2007 the Legislative Council (Council) referred the following inquiry to
the Estimates and Financial Operations Committee (Committee):

Memorandum of Understanding between Balga Senior High School
and Manufacturing Industry Training Services Pty Ltd

(1) The Standing Committee on Estimates and Financial
Operations is to inquire into and report on -

(a) the establishment, administration and financing of
the Balga Works Program; and

(b) such other relevant matters as the Committee
considers appropriate.

(2) The Committee is to report to the House no later than
Thursday, 18 October 2007.

1.2 In order to define the scope of its inquiry, within its terms of reference the Committee
resolved to focus on the following in relation to the program referred to as Balga
Works:

 examine the events surrounding the establishment of the program;

 the adequacy and timeliness of responses to complaints raised concerning the
program;

 examine the procedures and processes of the Department of Education and
Training, the Department of Child Protection and the Department of
Corrective Services; and

 identify if there were any failures in the administration and funding of the
Balga Works Program.

1.3 The Committee sought and was granted an extension of time until 29 May 2008.

1.4 The Committee advertised for written submissions in The West Australian newspaper
on Saturday, 21 July 2007, the Wanneroo Times, the Stirling Times and the Eastern
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Suburbs on Tuesday, 24 July 2007. Details of the inquiry were also placed on the
parliamentary website (www.parliament.wa.gov.au).

1.5 The Committee wrote to the key stakeholders requesting submissions. A list of the
stakeholders that the Committee wrote to is attached at Appendix 1.

1.6 The Committee received 29 submissions. A list of the written submissions accepted
by the Committee is set out at Appendix 2.

1.7 The Committee held private briefings with the Corruption and Crime Commission
(CCC), the Western Australia Police Service (WAPS) and the Department of
Education and Training (DET) on 11 July 2007.

1.8 The Committee held a number of private hearings. A list of the hearings is set out at
Appendix 3.

1.9 The Committee held all its hearings in private due to consideration of a number of
factors, including the sensitive nature of the evidence it was receiving, the need to
provide anonymity for witnesses’ and recognition of the principles of the sub judice
convention. Hearings with government officers have subsequently been made public.

1.10 In accordance with Standing Order 423, the Committee sought leave of the Legislative
Council and Legislative Assembly to enable Mr Trevor Sprigg MLA, the then
Member for Murdoch1 to give evidence before it.2

1.11 The Committee has made a number of adverse findings against individuals and
organisations. In accordance with Standing Order 330(g), the Committee provided
such persons and organisations with an opportunity to respond to the Committee’s
draft findings. The Committee considered all responses received, and has amended its
findings where appropriate. Relevant letters and responses are attached at
Appendix 4.

1.12 The Committee thanks the individuals and organisations that provided evidence and
information for the inquiry.

BALGA SENIOR HIGH SCHOOL

1.13 Balga Senior High School (BSHS) is a specialist program-based school which has
become an important institution within the northern suburbs public education system
for catering to the educational needs of a range of students at risk. The BSHS services
Aboriginal students at risk, students with intellectual disabilities, humanitarian
migration entrant students with limited schooling, young mothers who are supported

1 Trevor Sprigg MLA passed away on 17 January 2008.
2 Leave was granted on 20 September 2007.
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with an at-school child care service, students exhibiting significant violence and a
small mainstream intake from the local area.3 The BSHS has the lowest social
economic scale in Perth.4

1.14 Programs offered at BSHS include the Swan Nyungar Sports Education Program,
Intensive English Centre, Education Support Units, Young Parents Program, ‘No
Dole’ Program, Balga Youth Program, Police Rangers, Aspirations, and a
comprehensive Vocational Education and Training (VET) Program.5

1.15 BSHS was not always a program-based school. In 2001, BSHS changed its structures
and program focuses. It removed the Tertiary Entrance Examination courses and
instead focused on providing VET courses and pastoral care. BSHS commenced the
process of developing specific purpose curriculum programs to suit the needs of
students.6 The reason for this change was because the traditional model did not suit
the diverse needs of the students:

The essential reason for this dramatic change was because the
traditional model simply did not suit Balga’s disadvantaged students
at risk. Failure had become the norm; Balga decided to go for
realistic and relevant success.7

1.16 The former Principal of the BSHS, Mr Mervyn Hammond, was the driving force
behind the changes at BSHS and the development of the programs at the school. Prior
to his retirement in September 2006 Mr Hammond was seen as very successful by the
community. In 2001 he was the Rotary Principal of the Year and in 2004 he was on
the National Honours List for Services to Education. He also won a Pacific Institute
scholarship to the United Kingdom.8

1.17 The Balga Works Program (BWP) was established within this context.

THE BALGA WORKS PROGRAM - A BRIEF OVERVIEW

1.18 The following is an overview of what the BWP was purported to provide.

1.19 The BWP was a training program, holistic in nature, comprising an education
component and accommodation component. Care was provided for the students
enrolled in the program, 24 hours a day, seven days a week, 52 weeks of the year.
The program commenced operating in February 2005 and ceased in October 2006.

3 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p2.
4 http://www.det.wa.edu.au/education/schoolinfo/ (viewed on 26 May 2008).
5 http://www.balgashs.wa.edu.au/ (viewed on 21 November 2007).
6 BSHS Program 2005 Information Sheet: School Program Overview.
7 Ibid.
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1.20 The aim of the program was to provide education, training and transition to
employment opportunities for 16 to 17 year old students with a history of non-
engagement with mainstream schooling. The BWP business plan stated that it would:

- Provide an opportunity for disadvantaged young people (through
drug, alcohol, social, personal and justice issues) to find a pathway of
reintegration into education and the broader community.

- Develop the employability [sic] skills and work readiness of students
to enable them to access greater employment opportunities thereby
increasing the number of local youth commencing work upon leaving
school.9

1.21 Many of the students enrolled in the program had some involvement in the justice
system, while the others were under the care of the Chief Executive Officer of the
Department of Child Protection, formerly the Department of Community
Development (DCD).

The intent of the education component

1.22 The education component of the BWP was based at the BSHS and managed by a
private provider.10 The students were enrolled in the BSHS and completed activities
throughout normal timetabled classes during standard school hours.11 An overview of
the education component of what the BWP intended to achieve is set out at Appendix
5. Key features of the education program included:

 A 10 stage program and transition to TAFE, employment or employment-
based training depending on student outcomes. The 10 stages are outlined in
Appendix 5. The 10 stages comprise:12

a) a balanced and broad education program which included fundamental
literacy and numeracy skills development through delivery of
certificates in general education for adults, general life skills education,
employability skills and community skills development;

b) training in areas of specific industry shortage which are ideally based
in sustainable trades, particularly mining, engineering, building and
construction, and automotive industries; and

8 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p2.
9 The Balga Works Programme Business Plan, April 2006, p5 and Balga Works Program (BWP) Model.
10 The Balga Works Programme Business Plan, April 2006.
11 Balga Works Program (BWP) Model.
12 Balga Works Program Progress Report, December 2005 and Forward Planning 2006 Draft, p3.
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c) paid industry placement.

 Small class sizes.

 Mentoring throughout the program.

The accommodation component

1.23 The accommodation component of the BWP provided housing for some of the
students enrolled in the BWP. The accommodation, located in Joondalup, was
supervised by carers, who lived on the premises and provided care to the students
outside of school hours.13 Food, linen, cutlery, crockery and the basic necessities for
an independent home life were supplied by the private provider who was responsible
and accountable for this aspect of the program.14

Ancillary components of the BWP

1.24 The BWP purported to offer the following ancillary services:

Outreach

1.25 BWP operated the “Northbridge boom bus”, so named for the flashing lights and loud
music which was played on the bus. On weekends, the bus picked up young people
from Northbridge at night and took them to the Balga-Morley Police and Community
Youth Centre (PCYC) where the Aboriginal Police Liaison Officers and volunteer
police officers worked with them. At the PCYC activities included basketball, gym,
boxing, and theatre. An internet café and a pool room were also available.15

After-school programs

1.26 BWP offered after-school programs at the PCYC and Joondalup such as boxing,
music, fitness, surfing and yoga.16

Rehabilitation

1.27 The BWP offered rehabilitation support through a detoxification program and
diversionary activities, including a surfing and yoga program, and a retreat in
Gracetown, Margaret River.

13 Accommodation Services Carer’s Guide.
14 Fifth Submission from the DET, Attachment E, September 2007.
15 The Balga Works Programme Business Plan, April 2006, p11.
16 Balga Works Program Progress Report (Nov 2005) and Forward Planning 2006 DRAFT, p7.
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Transport

1.28 BWP provided transport to pick up students and take them to school. The BWP also
provided a transport service to pick up students from school and take them to
appointments including to, for example, court and justice compliance meetings,
mental and personal health appointments.17

Management

1.29 The BWP was a collaborative project between the BSHS, the Balga Senior High
School Parents and Citizens Association Inc (P & C) and a private service provider,
run through the BSHS.

1.30 The private provider was providing program planning, development, operations,
reviews and evaluations as well as accommodation, transport, after school care and
other program initiatives. All resources for the direct delivery of the BWP, including
staffing were the provider’s responsibility, except for the provision of the learning
environment, for example, classrooms and toilets, and administrative support which
were provided through negotiation with the Principal of BSHS.

1.31 BSHS had line management responsibility for planning, resourcing, implementing and
accounting for the BWP. The school’s facilities were used to house the BWP.18

1.32 The P & C assisted the private provider in sourcing funding for the BWP.

TERMINOLOGY

1.33 The concept for the BWP originated from a proposal to adopt and adapt a training and
employment program for disadvantaged youth in Melbourne run by Manufacturing
Industry Training Services Pty Ltd (MITS) a private registered training organisation.
The concept was developed through a number of proposals culminating in the BWP.
As the proposals evolved the terminology used to refer to the concept also changed.
The various terms used are outlined below:

i) The MITS Re-engagement Program (May 2004)

ii) Balga Senior High School Youth at Risk Education and Training and
Employment Project (Manufacturing and Mining Industries) (May 2004)

iii) Swan Education District Process Fabrication, Manufacturing and Mining
Industries Vocational Education and Training Project Proposal (July 2004)

17 The Balga Works Programme Business Plan, April 2006, p11.
18 Briefing Note Request - Ministerial No 2589, Subject: Balga Works, 29 July 2005.
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iv) Mining and Manufacturing Industry Training Scheme (MITS) - Balga Senior
High School (September 2004)

v) Process Fabrication, Manufacturing and Mining Industries Vocational
Education and Training Project Proposal (October 2004)

vi) Mining, Manufacturing Industry Training Scheme (October 2004)

vii) Balga SHS/MITS Vocational Education and Training Partnership (October
2004)

viii) Balga Senior High School/MITS Vocational Education and Training
Partnership - Process Fabrication, Engineering, Manufacturing and Mining
Industries Vocational Education and Training Project (October 2004)

ix) Balga (MITS) Program to be called “Swan Works” (November 2004)

x) Balga Works Program (January 2005)

1.34 The BWP was effectively a trial and precursor of the broader Swan Works Program,
which was a key initiative of the Swan District Education and Training Plan. To date
the Swan Works Program has not been established.

NEED FOR THE INQUIRY

1.35 The Committee has heard evidence during its inquiry that has led the Committee to
conclude that the BWP was an abject failure.

1.36 The Committee has heard that whilst working in the program many of the staff did not
receive regular pay, they were verbally and physically assaulted by the students,19 they
were not provided adequate support and were bullied, and lied to by Mr Michael
Carton.

1.37 In retrospect, witnesses were able to identify that they were persuaded by Mr Michael
Carton to collude in covering up some of the program’s deficiencies. This led to some
of the failures of the program not being exposed until this inquiry.

1.38 The experience of the BWP has left many of the former employees emotionally and
financially scarred. Some of the former employees feel that they have not had closure
on the BWP and are still suffering. They feel that their experience in the BWP has not
been acknowledged and that no one cares. The Committee heard evidence from some
of the staff that:

19 Submission Nos 6, 9, 13, 14 and 16.
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1.38.1 The stress of working at the BWP has led them to alcohol and substance abuse
and depression.20

1.38.2 The stress of working at the BWP had impacted on their ongoing ability to
work.21

1.38.3 Not being paid a regular wage has had a devastating impact on their personal
life. For example, they have had to refinance mortgages, take out personal
loans and use credit cards to pay bills, default on mortgage payments and
default on credit card payments.22

1.39 An example of this evidence from a former employee was:

During my time at BWP [I] experienced non payment of wages or
superannuation. I also had to take out personal loans and obtain
credit cards to compensate for this non payment of wages. I have
subsequently overcommitted my self financially and have been unable
to meet regular payments on these debts and I am on the verge of
bankruptcy because of it. At the time of my employment at BWP I had
custody of all my children. Due to my financial hardship I was
unable to provide adequately for them and they have since returned to
the care of their mother. Since returning to work I have had to pay a
high amount of child support that has only made my financial position
even harder. Since leaving BWP I have experienced a lot of
depression at times have nearly lost the will to continue my life the
way it has turned out. I feel that nobody cares about what went on
there or the effects that it has had on so many lives. I am currently
working with at risk youth again but have to admit I haven’t the same
passion as I used to.23

and a further example was:

As a result of the experiences I suffered Depression I had had on two
occasions being forced to do some creative accounting by
rearranging my accounts to save my mortgage, not to mention the
stress and pain caused to my family and friends as a direct result of
the pressure I was under, not only to keep myself from slipping further
in a deeper depression but to try and keep my house and my sanity my
relationships did suffer tremendously. It has taken me a long time

20 Submission No 16.
21 Submission Nos 1, 4 and 16.
22 Submissions No 4 and 14.
23 Submission No 14.



TWELFTH REPORT CHAPTER 1: Introduction

G:\DATA\EF\efrp\ef.bwp.080529.rpf.012.xx.a.doc 9

and a lot of effort to come to terms with my treatment and the total
mismanagement of the Balga Works Programme and all of the young
people and the staff that have been bullied and abused by Michael
Carton and his cronies and it is only now after seeing that some one
actually gives a damn about us and what we have been subject to that
I am coming out of what I and my family and friends have been
through. I am still on anti-depressants and under a doctors care for
some after effects of the time in my life but as I can now see a light at
the end of this very dark and very long tunnel I pray that we can get
closure on this and make sure that no one else will have to go through
what we have and had to suffer as we have.24

1.40 The Committee heard evidence that a number of students to whom the BWP offered
an opportunity for a fresh start in life have been left with nothing but disillusionment.
Many of the students who were supposed to benefit from the program are still tackling
drug and alcohol abuse, some are now back out on the street and some are recidivist
offenders.

1.41 Evidence received included:

The impact has been great to the kids. Their trust was abused; they
were the most disadvantaged youth, who were promised many things,
which were never delivered.25

and a further example:

The things that I was promised never came true and my life has been
harder since because I went back to what I know, which was drugs.26

1.42 The Committee notes the role of the former workers of the BWP in raising community
awareness of the issues surrounding the operation of the BWP, by taking their
concerns to Members of Parliament. In particular, their concerns about the non-
payment of wages, tax and superannuation, and also their concerns about
inappropriate practices within the program.

Committee Comment

1.43 The intention of BWP was to offer education, assistance and support to young people
disengaged from mainstream schooling and also to those in the juvenile justice
system. This included an opportunity to address the personal, social and economic
costs associated with at risk disengaged young people, including long-term

24 Submission No 6.
25 Submission No 4.
26 Submission No 5.
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unemployment, juvenile offending, teenaged pregnancies, suicide, personal health
problems and negative impacts on the community.27

1.44 The BWP operated for less than two years before it was closed down. The Committee
received allegations that in this time the program failed to provide the services that
were promised to the young people, that the government failed to provide duty of care
to the students, that there were poor working conditions, that management was
inadequate, that staff intimidation occurred, and that staff did not receive the proper
award rates and conditions and were not paid.

1.45 The Committee in its inquiry has attempted to ascertain the validity of these
allegations and discover the reasons behind the closure of the BWP. The Committee
has identified a number of issues surrounding the BWP. In its report the Committee
aims to inform the Parliament of these issues and the reasons behind the program’s
failure. The Committee highlights the ongoing need for a program of this type in
Western Australia and makes recommendations to assist in the establishment of such a
program in the future.

1.46 The Committee advises that it was hindered in its inquiry by the lack of adequate
record keeping during the establishment and operation of the BWP. Therefore,
despite a lengthy and thorough inquiry the Committee could not investigate every
aspect of the BWP. For example, the Committee has not investigated:

 the validity and efficacy of the services and programs provided by the BWP,
such as, the detoxification program; and

 what happened to all of the funding that was provided to BWP.

27 BSHS Vocational Education and Training (VET) Project Proposed Process Fabrication, Engineering,
Manufacturing and Mining Industries Vocational Education and Training Project, Swan Education
District, November 2004, p5.
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CHAPTER 2
EVENTS SURROUNDING THE ESTABLISHMENT OF THE BALGA

WORKS PROGRAM

BACKGROUND TO THE BWP

The MITS program

2.1 The BWP was based on a program being run by a Victorian company, Manufacturing
Industry Training Services Pty Ltd (MITS). MITS was providing career guidance,
training and skills development (MITS Program), accepting a client base that
included youths from disadvantaged backgrounds, and those with social problems
including drugs and homeless situations.28

2.2 In early 2004, the Principal of BSHS, Mr Mervyn Hammond was made aware of the
program being run by MITS by one of his staff members, Mr Mark Carton. Mr Mark
Carton’s brother, Michael Carton was working for MITS at this time.29

2.3 Mr Hammond approached Mr Robert Somerville, Director, Aboriginal Education and
Training Services, DET and Mr Gary Hodge, a consultant and Chair of the
Community Safety and Crime Prevention Council at that time, about the MITS
Program. In May 2004, Mr Hamond along with Mr Somerville and Mr Hodge visited
the Victorian operations of MITS to see the MITS Program.30

2.4 On how the BWP came to be established Mr Hammond advised the Committee:

I was approached by one of my staff members about an interesting
program in Melbourne for difficult students, and that was called
MITS. In fact, Michael Carton, who worked for MITS, eventually
rang me, and then came over and made a submission with his CEO,
John McQuay, and, on balance, it seemed that the great strength of
the program, which was based on manufacturing in Melbourne, could
be and should be transferable to Perth, and so that presentation
indicated that this was worth looking at. Other people I invited to the
presentation: there was Bob Somerville, the director of Aboriginal
education at DET. So that was the initial starting point. Because I
run Balga on a series of different programs - so there is nothing

28 Gary Hodge Consultancy, Swan Education District Proposed Process Fabrication, Manufacturing and
Mining Industries Vocational Education and Training Project Draft Report, June 2004, p34.

29 Mark Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007, p2.
30 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p2.
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conventional about the school; in fact, it has 11 separate, or it had 11
separate programs which related, in the main, to students at risk. I
just mention that because one of the programs which did relate to
students not going on the dole and joining the workforce was actually
called the No Dole program. I was a speaker at a No Dole
conference in Melbourne which was funded by the AMP and the
Beacon Foundation, so I was in Melbourne, and MITS, through
Michael Carton, invited me to have a look at the operations of MITS.
At the same time there were some other Perth-based people in
Melbourne on different matters to me, namely, again, Bob Somerville,
and Gary Hodge. We went and had a look at the program,
interviewed some students, realised that some of these Melbourne
students were coming from, you know, the wrong side of the fence,
and it seemed exactly what we needed to start in Perth, particularly
for Balga, with a high Aboriginal content and a high migrant content.
It seemed exactly the program that we needed. It was not something
that I decided by myself; there was Bob Somerville, the director of
Aboriginal education, as I said, and Gary Hodge. We discussed it at
length over a period of time and the program slowly unfolded.31

Scoping exercise commissioned by the DET

2.5 Recognising the potential of the program Mr Somerville commissioned a scoping
exercise on the feasibility of operating such a program in Western Australia, with the
aim of presenting a proposal to the corporate executive of the DET. Mr Somerville
engaged Mr Gary Hodge as a consultant in June 2004 to undertake the ‘environmental
scan on Balga Senior High School Youth at Risk Education and Training and
Employment Project (Manufacturing and Mining Industries)’, and to report on the
research and policy parameters around such a program in Western Australia.32 This
consultancy was conducted under the direction of a steering group that comprised Mr
Hammond, Mr Somerville, Mr Michael Carton, and Mr Mike Jakins, Executive
Officer of the Process Manufacturing Industry Training Council of Western
Australia.33 As explained by Mr Somerville:

… Coming back from that I provided some advice to my executive
director about the potential of the program itself and also spoke with
the deputy director general about the potential of the program, and at
that stage both myself, Merv and Gary Hodge decided this might be
worthwhile looking into to provide a possible program along these
lines.

31 Mervyn Hammond, former Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 7 November 2007, pp2-3.
32 Gary Hodge, Transcript of Evidence, 4 October 2007, p2.
33 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p2.
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Hon PETER COLLIER: Who was the director general, executive -

Mr Somerville: The deputy director general was Margaret Banks at
that particular time. At that stage we decided to do some preliminary
work on working up a possible equivalent of MITS here for Western
Australia. I needed to be convinced that there was the scope around
the Balga area; in other words, there was a number of disengaged
youth there. All the information we were told was gut reaction
information, so I wanted to find out how many kids were not engaged
in training or education at that particular stage and also whether or
not there were industries in the Balga and Malaga area that could
possibly take on something similar to the motor industry trade
scheme. As a consequence of that, we decided to get a scoping
exercise up and underway. Now, we did not place a tender out. What
we decided to do was to use Gary Hodge’s consultancy to do that
work for us, so that we could put a submission through to corporate
executive on a program such as this. Gary was very, very interested.
The scoping exercise was overseen - not under seen, overseen - by a
small working party.34

Reporting by a public servant

2.6 Mr Somerville advised that he did not write a formal report following his visit to
MITS in Melbourne:

Hon KEN TRAVERS: The other thing is, as a result of the visits to
Victoria, was there any paperwork generated as a result of that; any
reports developed by people - yourself or others - that came from
those visits?

Mr Somerville: I probably put a briefing note together, but I cannot
recall a briefing note. I tried to find one. I certainly briefed my
executive director when I came back in detail about the program that
was there.35

Committee comment

2.7 The Committee is of the view that for accountability purposes it should be a
requirement for a public servant to make a formal written report following any travel
for a public purpose.

34 Robert Somerville, Director, Aboriginal Education and Training, DET, Transcript of Evidence,
15 October 2007, pp2-3.

35 Ibid, p10.
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2.8 Where part of the purpose of travel is to inform public officers of the operation of a
program in another jurisdiction, the report should detail the information and
knowledge acquired.

Recommendation 1: The Committee recommends that the Government develop
guidelines requiring all public servants to report on the outcome of travel undertaken
for a public purpose.

Meeting with the Minister for Education and Training

2.9 On 3 August 2004, Mr Hodge and the steering group met with Mr Alan Carpenter
MLA, the then Minister for Education and Training (Minister Carpenter), about the
work of the consultancy and a proposal for the BSHS to deliver the MITS Program
(MITS/BSHS proposal). Mr Somerville advised the Committee:

Then Gary decided to organise a meeting with my minister at the
time, and that was Alan Carpenter, to provide Alan with some advice
about the potential of this. He asked MITS to draw up a proposal for
MITS to deliver the program in that Balga region, rather than the
school, but MITS to deliver the program. I went along to that meeting
representing Margaret Banks, because Margaret was invited as the
deputy director general, and Margaret asked me to go because, of
course, I was putting the scoping exercise together and so on. At that
meeting a proposal was put together which I think, off the top of my
head, was around $2 million a year; it was very, very expensive.
While the minister liked the idea, he straightaway said that he was not
going to fund a $2 million proposal. He like [sic] the idea, liked the
concept, but cut the meeting fairly short at that particular stage.36

2.10 The briefing note provided to Minister Carpenter by the DET in preparation for the
meeting (attached at Appendix 6), stated that funding was being sought to the extent
of $2.2 million in 2005, rising to $8.5 million over three years, for BSHS to deliver
the MITS Program. The recommendation to the Minister for Education and Training
contained in the briefing note was that he note the initiative, and that he refer the
proposal to the DET for further analysis and evaluation, and in particular, for the
initiative to be considered as part of a District Education and Training Plan (DETP).

2.11 Mr Hammond’s line manager, Mr John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education
District, DET advised the Committee that he had no involvement in the initial paper
by Mr Gary Hodge and recommended to Mr Greg Robson, his executive director, that
the Minister not support the concept:

36 Ibid, p3.
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I can check the date of the meeting, but a few days before the meeting
Greg Robson, my executive director, rang me and said, “Are you
aware of a meeting happening with Merv Hammond and the minister,
and are you aware of what is being presented?” I said that I was not
aware of that. My advice to Greg was that because the meeting was
to do with MITS - it might have been called MITS or another name
because different terminology is used for these various programs - we
did not have enough detail, and in the briefing he should comment
that it would not be supported at this stage. My understanding is that
a briefing went to the minister in August that actually gave that
direction to the minister.37

2.12 Minister Carpenter did not support the MITS/BSHS proposal given the extent of the
funding requirements.38

Minister not accurately briefed for the meeting

2.13 Mr Hodge submitted to the Committee that Minister Carpenter was under the wrong
impression about the purpose of the meeting. He advised that Minister Carpenter was
not fully briefed by the DET on the situation regarding the funding of the program.39

2.14 Mr Hodge advised the Committee that he met with Mr Kevin O’Keefe, Executive
Director, Aboriginal Education and Training and Mr Greg Robson, Executive
Director, Teaching and Learning, Curriculum Policy and Support, DET, a week or so
prior to the meeting with Minister Carpenter, and explained the funding sources to
them, including that it was an enrolment funded driven model. This information was
not contained in the project proposal which Mr Hodge provided to the DET for the
meeting. Mr Hodge advised that he does not know why the information was not
passed on to Minister Carpenter in the briefing note prepared for him.

Mr Hodge: … At the time the Premier did not have the report in his
hand. He only had a single briefing note. I had not seen the briefing
note. I had met, prior to that meeting, to discuss the funding
arrangements for this program with both Greg Robson, who is the
executive director who is mentioned in my consultation, and with
Kevin O’Keefe, the executive director senior to Robert Somerville. I
said that it is not my role to recommend the funding. I was there to do
the policy. It is up to the department to do the costing and the funding
and do all the projected models on assumptions that 200, 300, 400
young people would eventually enrol in this program. That is what I

37 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 11 July 2007, p8.
38 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p3.
39 Gary Hodge, Transcript of Evidence, 4 October 2007, p6.
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thought would go through to the minister. We spoke for about five
minutes. Then the minister stopped us and said, “Excuse me, don’t go
any further. I know you’re here to raise $7 million.” I was
flabbergasted because that was not the briefing that I had had with
the senior departmental officers … The briefing I had with the senior
departmental officers - if I refer to item 6 in my report, starting from
the middle of page 7, I had identified all the relative government
policies around youth advantage, plus building prosperity, the
Gordon inquiry into family violence, child abuse, etc. But more
significantly over the page, towards the bottom on page 8,
“Resourcing”, these were all the available sourcing funds that I knew
of that the department should have given in that analysis to the
minister in that briefing note. If they are not there in that briefing
note that was provided by the department, at worst, it is gross
incompetence but I will leave it up to you. These were the funding
sources that could be accessed by the program if these kids turned
up.40

And further:

Mr Hodge: Yes. When I left that meeting - it was a week or so before
I met with the minister to make sure they got the notes in time - my
understanding was that they were going to add the analysis of all
these programs and the recommendations that I imagined were going
to go ahead. What I would have expected from the minister on that
day would have been that the minister notes that this program would
go ahead contingent upon enrolment being reached, the numbers
being reached in the enrolment arrangements, so that the funds would
flow but, secondly, that he would request that expenditure for that
fund be put in place and be assured that those government
arrangements be put in place. That is what I thought the
recommendations would be in that briefing note.41

2.15 Mr Hodge further advised that the briefing note prepared by the DET did not
accurately reflect the situation:

Hon KEN TRAVERS: The opening statement, “Attached is a
proposal prepared on behalf of Balga Senior High School and
MITS.” It goes on to talk about it being prepared by you in the
capacity as private consultant. Is that an accurate statement?

40 Ibid, pp6-7.
41 Ibid, p8.
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Mr Hodge: No, it is not because it was commissioned by the
education department not by Balga. There are a whole series of
things that concern me in this briefing note, that as DG I would not
have signed off to a minister. It is misleading.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: I know it is hard to take the hypothetical but,
if you had received this briefing note without the attached proposal,
can you understand why the minister thought you were there to seek
up to $8.5 million of new money?

Mr Hodge: Absolutely. I assumed from his comments that he had got
something like this. It was an inadequate briefing that really
canvassed all the funding options. In saying, “taking up to 35 per
cent of available funds” they do not mention the major funding
source, which would have been the enrolment-driven funds. I am not
sure what the figure is now but about $8 500 per head would have
allocated for every young person who turned up. So, to say that it
would absorb 35 per cent of the cap funds is misleading and is not
accurate. The major funding components would have come from the
enrolments at the time.42

2.16 The now Premier Alan Carpenter MLA, advised the Committee that to the best of his
recollection the briefing note, the project proposal or briefing about the funding
sources was not provided to him prior to the meeting. The Premier confirmed that he
did not support the program based on the costs per student outlined, and he made that
position clear at the meeting.43

2.17 In response to a question asked in Parliament on the matter, the Premier stated:

Although I thought that the ultimate outcomes were laudable - that is,
more kids would be engaged in education - I actually did not think
that the program stacked up at all. The amount of money that was
being talked about for state support for such a program was
exorbitant. It was in the tens of thousands of dollars per student. My
view was that if we were to pay that sort of money, we might as well
just pay the students and employ them directly, because the objective
was to get students into some form of employment. … My recollection
is that I did not support the program at all.44

42 Ibid, p18.
43 Letter from Alan Carpenter MLA, Premier, 4 December 2007.
44 Western Australia, Legislative Assembly, Parliamentary Debates (Hansard), Tuesday 28 November

2006, p8847.
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2.18 Mr Hodge advised the Committee that the MITS/BSHS proposal was never contingent
on Ministerial approval:

Hon PETER COLLIER: I understand that but you were making
comment that you were surprised the education minister was talking
about these figures etc, but he would have been going by the figures
that were in that draft report.

Mr Hodge: Those figures are probably accurate but they do not
identify the funding sources where the $8.2 million was coming from.
My assumption from the conversation of the minister on the day was
“You were here to ask me for $8.2 million.” That was never the case.
We were not there to ask for $8.2 million. The analysis should have
been by the department that these funding sources, based on the
assumptions of one teacher every 16 students or the assumptions in
the Ernst & Young report, because of the special needs of these kids,
one teacher per eight students. All that is in that report, which was
accurate at the time, is some early modelling done around what this
program would cost given these certain assumptions.

Hon PETER COLLIER: All I am saying is given this, you can
understand why the minister for education may have had
reservations.

Mr Hodge: No, I cannot because if we had had the conversation, it
would have been very different. The conversation never got that far.
The meeting was short-circuited very, very rapidly before I could talk
about governance, before I could talk about the fact that these
funding sources here may have added up to $8.2 million but it was not
contingent on ministerial approval.45

Committee observations

2.19 The Committee notes:

a) that Minister Carpenter did not support the MITS/BSHS proposal;

b) that Minister Carpenter was not fully informed by the DET on the purpose of
the meeting and the funding arrangements of the MITS/BSHS proposal;

c) that the briefing note prepared for Minister Carpenter was not an accurate
reflection in view of the knowledge that the DET had at that time; and

45 Gary Hodge, Transcript of Evidence, 4 October 2007, pp6-7.
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d) the view of Mr Hodge that the MITS/BSHS proposal was never contingent on
ministerial approval.

Reporting of the outcome of the meeting with the Minister

2.20 Mr Somerville advised the Committee that following the meeting with Minister
Carpenter he had a meeting with his executive director and gave her a verbal
briefing.46

2.21 The Committee asked whether it was normal practice not to provide a written report of
such a meeting:

Hon KEN TRAVERS: Is it normal practice at meetings with a
minister for departmental officials who are representing the director
general or the acting director general to just provide verbal briefings
and not to provide a written report of what occurred and what the
views of the minister are?

Mr Somerville: The - yes, sometimes there is a verbal briefing; other
times there may be a written briefing, depending on what the deputy
director general may require at that particular time. A verbal
briefing seemed to be appropriate at that particular time.47

2.22 The Committee notes the advice of the Leader of the House representing the Premier,
in a response to a question asked in Parliament on the matter, that there is no record of
minutes from the meeting and that there is no record of any written report of the
meeting to the DET.48

Absence of Ministerial directive not to proceed

2.23 Mr Michael Carton advised the Committee that following the meeting with Minister
Carpenter, it was his understanding that the Minister did not support the program.
However, a week or so after the meeting he was advised that the DET had come up
with another method in which the program could proceed:

Mr Carton: Let me say very clearly that I think it was Gary Hodge
was insistent that the minister at the time be approached. I need to
make this point very clear. … Mr Carpenter was approached by a
range of education people, along with - I went to that meeting, and a
number of others. There must have been 10 or 12 of them, from

46 Robert Somerville, Director, Aboriginal Education and Training, DET, Transcript of Evidence,
15 October 2007, p6.

47 Ibid, p7.
48 Western Australia, Legislative Council, Parliamentary Debates (Hansard), Tuesday 19 June 2007, p3261.
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memory, and Alan Carpenter was absolutely emphatic that the
program was not to proceed. He made that clear. I still remember
the veins on the side of his neck swelling when he was shouting. I will
never forget that side, and thinking what in the devil are we doing
here, because all these bureaucrats had insisted that everything was
okay, and we saw Alan Carpenter, who just about basically kicked us
out. The net result of that meeting was that a number of department
staff, along with consultants employed to start this, got together and
came up with an approach under some other funding where it could
proceed. There was a committee set up, which was called Swan
Works at the time, and that was to look at it. It was then agreed that
it could not proceed under Swan Works, but it came through
education and the directorate that it would be Balga Works, and that
was how it was to proceed. Where the minister got to in it, I do not
know, but the only thing I know is that Alan Carpenter absolutely
basically said, “Get out of my office”, and that is where it finished
with the minister at the time. … I will say that Alan Carpenter said
exactly what he believed, and made it very clear to everybody at that
time what the situation was. Within a week, I was assured that all of
that had been sorted out, and that the department was able to proceed
with the program. In fact, it was less than a week.

Hon HELEN MORTON: Who gave you that assurance, or how did
you get that assurance?

Mr Carton: Initially, that came from Mr Hammond. It came from - I
believe I was told that there had been funding supplied by one of the
other departments within the department, and I cannot remember
what that department was - oh, it was Aboriginal education, that
provided some seed funding, and that those matters had been
resolved, and I was not to worry about them; that was the politics of
education.49

2.24 Mr Somerville advised the Committee that following the meeting with Minister
Carpenter he still felt there was a broad level of support from the DET for the concept,
just not the BSHS/MITS proposal and he portrayed this to Mr Hammond:

Mr Somerville: The minister at the time was very clear that the
Department of Education and Training was not going to fund the
$2 million, but was supportive of the concept of a program that re-
engaged youth, particularly Aboriginal youth, back into the schooling
system, so there was no direct support of the MITS program to go into

49 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, pp10-11.
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the school; it was support of the concept of re-engaging Aboriginal
youth. That was very clear.

Hon HELEN MORTON: Did that support extend to the project that
was being developed at the time around Balga?

Mr Somerville: It was not supportive of the MITS program; that was
very clear.

Hon HELEN MORTON: Say we take MITS out of the equation
altogether - the actual program that was being established?

Mr Somerville: Certainly I left the meeting with the feeling that the
minister supported the concept of a program around engaging youth,
but not MITS itself.

Hon HELEN MORTON: I am more interested in how you relayed
that information to other people in your area and in your government
agency.

Mr Somerville: I relayed back to the deputy director general that I
was keen on progressing a submission to corporate executive about a
program similar to MITS that would re-engage Aboriginal youth in
the Balga area.

Hon HELEN MORTON: Did you get that submission out?

Mr Somerville: No.

Hon HELEN MORTON: What happened to that?

Mr Somerville: It was - the submission did not go ahead because it
was to be embedded within the education and training plan within the
district, so that is the reason it did not go forward.

….

Hon HELEN MORTON: Did you relay your understanding of the
broad level of support for the concept to Merv Hammond?

Mr Somerville: I would think so, yes.50

…

50 Robert Somerville, Director, Aboriginal Education and Training, DET, Transcript of Evidence,
15 October 2007, pp7-8.
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The CHAIRPERSON: Were you aware that Merv Hammond and
Michael Carton were setting up the program in late 2004 anyway? I
mean, that they were going ahead and setting up a program?

Mr Somerville: I understood it [BWP] was through the district, and
the district was working on it through the plans, and I knew Merv
[Hammond] wanted to set the program up. I did not know what
Michael Carton’s involvement was at that time. He had been used as
a consultant and was prepared to fly over on his own money to assist
Merv get the program up, so I thought it was still in the same ilk - that
he was being used as a consultant.51

2.25 However, it was Mr Garnaut’s submission that he was not aware of any ministerial
directive not to continue with the program:

Hon PETER COLLIER: Back in August of 2004, if the minister had
said that the program were not to continue, would you have adhered
to that directive?

Mr Garnaut: In August -

Hon PETER COLLIER: Of 2004.

Mr Garnaut: - 2004 there was a meeting of Merv Hammond and
Gary Hodge and maybe others with the minister, and I contributed to
the advice to the minister through my executive director Greg
Robson; the advice was not to approve that particular program,
which was asking for $8 million over three years, and that was the
Hodge paper.

Hon PETER COLLIER: Yes.

Mr Garnaut: And so if the minister’s directive had been such, we
would have implemented such.

Hon PETER COLLIER: Okay. So if the minister makes that
decision, you know, the department will adhere to the minister’s
wishes.

Mr Garnaut: That is normal procedure.52

51 Robert Somerville, Director, Aboriginal Education and Training, DET, Transcript of Evidence,
15 October 2007, p8.

52 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
p26.
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Committee comment

2.26 The Committee notes that it was clear from the meeting with Minister Carpenter that
he did not support the MITS/BSHS proposal. Further, the Committee has not received
any evidence that suggested that Minister Carpenter supported this proposal.

2.27 The Committee notes that there are no minutes or written record of the meeting.
Further, that the DET officer present at the meeting did not take a written record of the
Minister’s position and provide it to the DET.

2.28 Given the tone of the meeting with Minister Carpenter and the Minister’s clear
objection to the project proceeding, the Committee is of the view that Mr Hammond,
Mr Michael Carton and Mr Somerville would have been aware that it was not
appropriate to proceed with the program.

The scoping exercise continues

2.29 Following the meeting with Minister Carpenter the work of the consultancy continued
to be progressed. Mr Somerville advised the Committee:

We went back again to work on the proposal to corporate executive. I
had found about $250 000 in my training budget that we could
possibly put towards it, because I did not want to put a proposal to
corporate executive with no funding; and at the same time I provided
advice to Merv about putting up some proposals to the competitive
allocation for training funding. So there were some other funding
sources that he might have been able to tap into.53

2.30 In September 2004 Mr Hodge and Mr Hammond met with Mr Paul Albert, then
Director General, DET, to discuss the proposal now being referred to as the
MITS/BSHS vocational partnership project.54

2.31 At the Director General’s request, work was being undertaken to redraft the budget for
the project which at the time presented a full cost model, but no analysis on how
enrolment driven resources and other resources could be applied. The recast budget
was to provide this information. To ensure affective governance of the project and to
oversight the project’s research and evaluation dimensions a cross-government
steering group was proposed to be set up.55

53 Robert Somerville, Director, Aboriginal Education and Training, DET, Transcript of Evidence,
15 October 2007, p3.

54 Briefing Note from Robert Somerville, Director, Aboriginal Education, Training and Services, DET to
Director General, DET, 17 September 2004 and Email from Mervyn Hammond, Principal, BSHS, to Paul
Albert, Director General, DET, 24 September 2004.

55 Briefing Note from Robert Somerville, Director, Aboriginal Education, Training and Services, DET, to
Paul Albert, Director General, DET, 29 September 2004.
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2.32 The work being undertaken to develop the MITS/BSHS vocational partnership project
was noted by Mr Greg Robson, Executive Director, Teaching and Learning,
Curriculum Policy and Support, DET, in a briefing note to the Director General,
including that there had been continuing discussion at a number of points within the
organisation and with other parts of government in relation to the MITS/BSHS
proposal. It was also noted that the project proponents had applied for Competitive
Allocation of Training funding and User Choice funding from the DET and that they
had met with representatives of the Department of Premier and Cabinet.56

2.33 The handwritten diary notes of Mr Garnaut also refers to the activity of the project
proponents as follows:

Merv & G Hodge, have approached D Training to get funding - CATS
(Private TRG Services)

- User Choice

Also to Premier & Cabinet

…

Very messy/untidy piece of work. Hodge & Hammond continue to go
around the processes.57

2.34 Mr Robson recommended to the Director General that the proposal continue to be
considered through the processes established by the DET and that accurate, valid
costings and forward projections for take up be required in the context of the Swan
DETP.58 The Committee notes that this recommendation was consistent with the
recommendation contained in the briefing note to Minister Carpenter dated 2 August
2004.

Committee comment

2.35 The Committee notes that despite Minister Carpenter’s clear position, senior officers
of the DET continued to develop the funding and establishment of the program using
alternative funding models.

56 Briefing Note from Greg Robson, Executive Director, Teaching and Learning, Curriculum Policy and
Support, DET, to Paul Albert, Director General, DET, 30 September 2004.

57 Diary notes of John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, 21 September 2004.
58 Briefing Note from Greg Robson, Executive Director, Teaching and Learning, Curriculum Policy and

Support, DET, to Paul Albert, Director General, 30 September 2004.
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The scoping exercise not supported by the Swan Education District and Swan TAFE

2.36 Mr Garnaut advised the Director General that he and Mr Wayne Collyer, Managing
Director of Swan TAFE did not support the scoping exercise:

… At the end of the day, Wayne Collier [sic] and myself, in late 2004,
wrote to the director general directly and said that he was about to
receive a paper from Mr Hodge, and that both Mr Collier [sic] and I
have had no significant input into the evolution of it, and we do not
support it. So, in 2004, there was significant activity happening in the
evolution of this program that was completely outside of line
management. So, yes, I did have two discussions with Gary Hodge on
his paper that was evolving. He actually had me listed, within one of
his drafts, as a member of his steering committee on his project. I
never attended a steering committee meeting, and I was never
involved in any steering committee activity.59

The MITS/BSHS proposal incorporated into the Swan Works Program

2.37 In late September 2004, the Director General made a decision that the MITS/BSHS
proposal was not to go to the DET Corporate Executive but was to be instead
incorporated into the DETP. Mr Garnaut and Mr Collyer were directed to take over
the proposal and to manage the DET’s interest in it.60 As stated by Mr Garnaut:

In 2004 the work that we spoke about previously was undertaken with
Gary Hodge, Merv Hammond and Bob Somerville visiting the MITS
program and coming back excited about a concept that they thought
would work in Western Australian schools. Through our director
general and other senior officer involvement, it was decided that more
work needed to be done on that proposal and it should not proceed as
it is. As a result of that, I and Wayne Collier [sic], the general
manager of Swan TAFE, were asked by Greg Robson, the executive
director, to set up a process to refine a paper to represent how this
process may work in schools and present it to them.61

2.38 Mr Hammond and Mr Michael Carton were advised of this decision on 28 September
2004, specifically that:62

59 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
p44.

60 Email from Paul Albert, Director General, DET, to Gary Hodge, Consultant, 18 October 2004.
61 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET Transcript of Evidence, 11 July 2007, p7.
62 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p3.
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a) the program would continue to be considered through a process established by
the DET; and

b) more financial information and forward projections were required before the
program could be approved to proceed.

2.39 The Minister for Education and Training was also advised:

The project proponents met with the Minister for Education and
Training in August 2004. …

Subsequently, the project proponents have applied for funding under
several programs, which operate through the Training area of the
Department. They are also in discussion with the Directors of the
Swan Education District, the Managing Director of Swan Tafe to seek
consideration of their proposal as part of the District Education and
Training Plan (DETP). …

Recommendations

It is recommended that:

 The MITS proposal continue to be considered through the process
established by the Department of Education and Training for all 15
to 19 year old strategy initiatives; and

 Accurate, valid costings and forward projections for take up be
requested/required in the context of the Swan District Education and
Training Plan.63

2.40 The Director General wanted further work done on the proposal and he “was puzzled
to understand why BSHS would need to enter a partnership on the school site with a
Victorian private RTO [registered training organisation] rather than one with Swan
TAFE”.64 As stated by the Director General in an email to Gary Hodge:

The Department nor the school will enter any arrangement with MITS
or any other provider for that matter until:

1. The resourcing requirements for the project and its ongoing
operation are clear.

2. The operation of the program is clear.

63 Briefing Note from the Director General, DET, to the Minister for Education and Training,
‘Manufacturing Industry Training Services - Balga Senior High School Proposal’, 13 October 2004.

64 Email from Paul Albert, Director General, DET to Gary Hodge, Consultant, 18 October 2004.
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3. The policy implications of inviting a private provider from
another State without any tendering process or due regard to local
public and private providers have been addressed.

For your information, the Department already has four similar
projects in place and is currently pursuing an additional project in
another region of the State. In relation to the Balga proposal, at this
stage, the Department has not been able to assess the merits of the
proposal on the basis of the information provided so far, nor judge it
against other similar projects that are already in place.

As I indicated to you, John Garnaut, District Director of Swan, and
Wayne Collyer, Managing Director of Swan TAFE, have been given
responsibility for making a recommendation on the project. I suggest
that you work with them. …65

2.41 From the DET’s perspective, the MITS program envisaged for the BSHS by Mr
Hammond became incorporated into a program that would have broader input and
application, which became known as the Swan Works Program.66

2.42 In October 2004, Mr Garnaut and Mr Collyer commenced preparation of a position
paper to inform the DET Corporate Executive on the proposed Swan Works Program
which would be different in character from the MITS program for the school.67

2.43 Mr Hammond and Mr Michael Carton sought to have their proposal incorporated into
this new program.68

2.44 A working party, known as the Swan Works Steering Committee, was established to
support the preparation of the position paper. Mr Hammond and Mr Michael Carton
were members of the working party. The preparation of the position paper involved,
amongst other things, reviewing the consultancy reports prepared by Mr Hodge.69

2.45 The position paper was completed on 26 November 2004. It provided that:70

a) the MITS Program would not be used but a program consistent with the MITS
concept would be developed and that this would be the Swan Works Program;

65 Email from Paul Albert, Director General, DET to Gary Hodge, Consultant, 22 October 2004.
66 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p3.
67 Ibid.
68 Briefing note from Paul Albert, Director General, DET, to the Minister for Education and Training,

‘Manufacturing Industry Training Services - Balga Senior High School Proposal’, 13 October 2004.
69 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p3.
70 Ibid.
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b) the deliverer of the program would not necessarily be MITS and a local TAFE
college could have a role in the delivery of the program; and

c) if significant funding were to be provided to a non-government organisation to
deliver that program then there would need to be a tender for that delivery
arrangement.

2.46 The position paper was submitted to the DET at a meeting held on 3 December 2004
with Mr Robson, Mr Garnaut, Mr Hammond and other interested parties. In
December 2004 from the perspective of the DET, the Swan Works Program was the
basis for the development and implementation of the program. Mr Hammond and
Mr Michael Carton were aware of this position through their involvement with the
position paper.71

Swan Works Position Paper recommendation - BWP trial in 2005

2.47 A key recommendation of the position paper on the Swan Works Program presented
to Mr Robson by Mr Garnaut and Mr Collyer on 3 December 2004 was the approval
of a trial program at BSHS in 2005.72

2.48 The Committee was advised that the position paper was not presented to the DET’s
Corporate Executive in December 2004, because following discussion with the then
Director General, there were still concerns about the financial implications and what
role TAFE would play.73

2.49 In response, Mr Hammond contacted the Director General advising him that it was his
understanding that the report was to be considered by Corporate Executive to enable
approval to be given to the BSHS, prior to the end of the 2004 school year, so that
commencement of the trial at the start of 2005 could occur.74 As the Corporate
Executive was not presented with nor had considered the report, Mr Hammond sought
Mr Albert’s urgent consideration and approval of the trial directly to enable it to
commence in 2005 as planned.75 The DET advised that they have no record of any
response to Mr Hammond’s email.

2.50 By 21 December 2004 Mr Hammond was advised orally and by email that although
there was in principle support for the program it would probably start in Semester 2,
2005, after more detail about the financials and TAFE role was available. This

71 Ibid, p4.
72 Swan Education District, Swan TAFE, ‘Swan Works’ Project, A Position Paper on a Proposed ‘Swan

Works’ Project at Balga SHS 2005, November 2004, p12.
73 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p4.
74 Email from Mervyn Hammond, Principal, BSHS, to Paul Albert, Director General, DET, 15 December

2004.
75 Ibid.
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position was formally confirmed in a letter dated 17 January 2005 from Mr Robson to
Mr Garnaut, which was subsequently forwarded to Mr Hammond on 18 January
2005.76

Committee observations

2.51 The Committee notes that work progressed on the MITS/BSHS proposal in September
2004, under another name.

2.52 Further, that the work of the consultancy progressed on what was now being referred
to as the MITS/BSHS vocational partnership project with instruction from the
Director General for further work to be undertaken on the budget for the program.

2.53 The Committee notes that both the Director General and the Minister for Education
and Training received a briefing note regarding the work being undertaken by the
consultancy (see paragraphs 2.32 and 2.39).

2.54 It appears to the Committee that the MITS/BSHS vocational partnership project
proposal had varying levels of support from officers within the DET.

2.55 The Committee notes that:

a) carriage of the MITS/BSHS vocational partnership project proposal was given
to Mr Garnaut and Mr Collyer by the Director General, to be considered as
part of the DETP and that the program became incorporated in the Swan
Works Program;

b) the Director General had concerns with the MITS/BSHS vocational
partnership project proposal; and

c) that the Swan Works Program whilst it had in-principle support from the DET
was not ready to commence until at least Semester 2, 2005.

2.56 The Committee has not received any evidence to suggest that Mr Hammond was given
formal approval to commence a trial of the Swan Works Program at BSHS in 2005.

MITS/BSHS proposal continues to be developed in 2004

2.57 From September to December 2004, whilst the Swan Works Program was being
developed, Mr Hodge continued with his consultancy and was liaising with officers of
the DET and others, including the Department of Premier and Cabinet77 to provide the
information requested by the Director General at their meeting in September 2004.

76 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p4.
77 Briefing Note from Greg Robson, Executive Director, Teaching and Learning, Curriculum Policy and

Support, DET, to Paul Albert, Director General, DET, 30 September 2004.
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2.58 Also, during this period, delivery of the MITS/BSHS proposal continued to be
pursued by Mr Hammond and Mr Michael Carton.

2.59 On 13 September 2004, a funding grant from the Office of Crime Prevention was
approved for $44,000 to fund the setting up of the program for September to
December 2004, specifically to fund the appointment of a part-time Placement and
Community Liaison Coordinator for the establishment of the BWP. This funding had
been sought by the P & C in August 2004.

Grant from the Office of Crime Prevention

2.60 This grant was approved by the Minister for Community Safety, on the understanding
that DET Aboriginal Vocational and Educational Training Division were contributing
$250,000 to the Program.78 As stated by Mr Thorn, Director of the Office of Crime
Prevention:

Mr Thorn: One of the issues that I was concerned about was that we
were really fringe players, bit players in this whole exercise. What
was being put to us was that this was a very substantial program, and
it certainly appeared to be so from the documentation that we were
provided with. So one of the things I asked for Mr Tse to ensure that
we checked out was that the department was right behind what was
being proposed at Balga Senior High School, and the
recommendation I made to the minister, which she supported, was
that our funding be conditional on the education department
supporting the establishment of this program, and we subsequently
received advice via Mr Hammond from Bob Somerville, who was one
of the directors in the Aboriginal affairs branch of the department of
education, that that support was guaranteed or assured.79

2.61 The Committee notes that neither Mr Hammond or Mr Michael Carton could recall
who was appointed as the Placement and Community Liaison Coordinator or if one
was appointed.80 However, the acquittal report of the grant states that Mr Michael
Carton was appointed as the Placement and Community Liaison Coordinator for
which the funding from the Office of Crime Prevention was provided.81

78 Memorandum from Michael Thorn, Director, Office of Crime Prevention to Hon Michelle Roberts MLA,
Minister for Community Safety, 8 September 2004.

79 Michael Thorn, Director, Crime and Justice Policy Division, Department of Premier and Cabinet,
Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007, p3.

80 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, p17 and Mervyn Hammond, former Principal,
BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 7 November 2007, pp9-10.

81 Attachment to letter from Michael Thorn, Director, Crime and Justice, Department of Premier and
Cabinet, 22 October 2007.
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Acquittal report

2.62 On the acquittal process Mr Thorn advised the Committee:

The CHAIRPERSON: So, once the approval had been given, what
were the processes for the acquittal of those funds?

Mr Thorn: The acquittal requires an evaluation report to be
completed - in other words, they did what they said they would do -
and a financial statement to be prepared for us to say, once again,
that the funding was spent on what they said they would be spending
the funding on. We eventually received a satisfactory acquittal report
from the P&C.

…

The CHAIRPERSON: Thank you. So, as far as the office was
concerned, that acquittal was up to scratch? There was not any
question of auditing or checking at all?

Mr Thorn: Not that I recall. I certainly do not believe there were
any problems. I do not know what the time lapse was between the
completion of this little program, but bearing in mind it was really to
be finished early in 2005, I would have expected that the acquittal
would have been submitted to us fairly quickly after that, so it would
have been in the very early days of the program. Even in the worst
circumstances, probably we would not have been able to detect that
there were any problems at all.82

2.63 An acquittal letter was presented by Mr Keith Mynard, President, P & C on 11 August
2005, containing very little detail to justify expenditure of the funding. On
30 November 2005 Mr Mynard presented to the Office of Crime Prevention: an
acquittal letter from Mr Carton’s company, Hurson Pty Ltd (Hurson), outlining the
work undertaken by the Placement and Community Liaison Coordinator; and a BWP
progress and forward planning report which was seeded by the grant.

Committee comment

2.64 The Committee notes that the acquittal reports were submitted nearly a year after the
grant funding period had expired.

2.65 The Committee is of the view that the acquittal process of the Office of Crime
Prevention could have been more timely.

82 Michael Thorn, Director, Crime and Justice Policy Division, Department of Premier and Cabinet,
Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007, p5.
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MITS/BSHS program in late 2004

2.66 Throughout this period, Mr Michael Carton was visiting Mr Hammond often,
developing the program and providing advice.83

2.67 Payments were made to MITS from BSHS for consultancy work:84

 On 14 September 2004 the BSHS made a payment to MITS for professional
services in the consultancy phases of Balga VET extensions of $44,000.85

 On 8 October 2004 the BSHS made a payment to MITS for professional
services in the consultancy phase of Balga VET extensions of $56,000.86

2.68 In September 2004, Mr Hammond gained approval for the conversion of full-time
equivalent (FTE) teaching hours allocated to the BSHS for 2005 into salary dollars
for payment for the delivery of teaching and resources for the BWP at the school. At
this time, he was also continuing to lobby various sections of the DET and
government for the MITS Program to be delivered at BSHS from the beginning of
2005.87

2.69 In approximately October 2004 Mr Hammond started a pilot program with Mr
Michael Carton, which was based in a prevocational shed in BSHS.88 From this time
MITS had an office within BSHS and were employing staff to set up the program.89

2.70 The Committee was advised that approximately eight to ten students were enrolled
into the BWP between July and November 2004. The BWP began running during
Term 4 of 2004 and ran over the school holidays.90

2.71 The accommodation component of the program was also established at this time by
Mr Michael Carton, which was an extension of the original proposal put forward to
the DET.91

83 Submission No 22 from Thomas Sturt, 16 November 2007, p2.
84 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p45.
85 Public Sector Investigation Unit, Western Australia Police, Balga Works Program Timeline, (private

evidence).
86 Ibid.
87 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p3.
88 Peter Burgess, Investigation Balga Works Program DET, December 2005, p8.
89 Submission No 21 from John McQuay, 14 November 2007, p2.
90 Public Sector Investigation Unit Western Australia Police, and Mark Carton, Transcript of Evidence,

10 October 2007, p4.
91 Public Sector Investigation Unit Western Australia Police and Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence,

22 October 2007, p3.
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2.72 Mr McQuay of MITS submitted to the Committee that in December 2004
Mr Hammond telephoned him and advised that the project would begin in February
2005 and that at least 150 students would start and that MITS would be paid by FTE
funds which were paid to the BSHS at the beginning of the year against enrolment.92

The DET position

2.73 It was made clear in correspondence from the Director General to Mr Hodge and the
key DET staff involved that Mr Garnaut and Mr Collyer had been given the
responsibility for making a recommendation on the project and that the project would
not proceed until:93

i) the resourcing requirements were clear and could be met within existing
budgets;

ii) the operation of the program was clear; and

iii) the policy implications of inviting a provider from another State without due
regard to local public and private training providers had been addressed.

2.74 In October 2004 the Director General was advised by the then Minister for Education
and Training’s Office that Mr Hodge had advised that the DET had committed
$700,000 to the MITS project, which the Director General saw as a serious breach of
procurement guidelines (that is the involvement of a private registered training
organisation (RTO) through the grant of a large amount of money without any tender
process or approval for exemption). Subsequent to the approval of the conversion of
full-time equivalent teaching hours allocated to the BSHS for 2005 into salary dollars
for payment for the delivery of teaching and resources for the BWP at the school, the
Director General instructed that no funding commitments were to be made to the
program without his approval and until the program has been fully costed and
considered appropriate.

Gary Hodge has advised the Minister’s Office that the Department
has committed $700 000 to the MITS project. You need to be aware
that apart from a serious breach of procurement guidelines (the
involvement of a private RTO through the grant of a large amount of
money without any tender process or approval for exemption), the
Minister has requested a detailed costing and evaluation of the
program before any commitments are made. This is why Wayne
Collier [sic] and John Garnaut have been nominated as the
Department’s representatives to fully assess and cost the proposed

92 Submission No 21 from John McQuay, 14 November 2007, p3.
93 Email from Paul Albert, Director General, DET, to Gary Hodge, Consultant, 22 October 2004.
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program before any commitments are made to implement the
program.

I am instructing that no funding commitments be made to the proposal
without my approval. Would you please make sure that the school
and others involved fully understand that no commitments will be
made by the Department until the program has been costed and
considered appropriate.94

2.75 In response, Mr Somerville contacted the Director General to indicate that in his view
there had been no breach of protocol with regard to the program, particularly tender
protocols. He advised that MITS was being used by BSHS as a consultancy to
provide, free of charge to the school, the costings and advice to establish a program
replicating that of the program in Victoria called the Fabrication, Mining and
Manufacturing Industries Program.95

2.76 Mr Somerville further advised the Director General that Mr Hammond was aware that
if the school was to use, on a funded basis, the MITS private provider, a tender
process would need to be initiated. The $700,000 was not funding to a private
provider but was the total funding the school would receive through increased
enrolment (135 students) as well as the funding from Aboriginal Education, Training
and Services, of $250,000.96

2.77 Funds of $250,000 had been committed from the DET Aboriginal Vocational and
Educational Training Division to BSHS for a Youth Engagement program
(Fabrication, Mining and Manufacturing Program) based on the MITS program. This
funding was subsequently withdrawn from the BWP following the Director General’s
directive.97

2.78 In evidence Mr Somerville advised the Committee that the $250,000 had been
redirected to an aerospace initiative:

The CHAIRPERSON: The $250 000 that you referred to, did you
advise Merv Hammond that this was available for the program?

Mr Somerville: Yes, I did. What I advised Merv was that there was
money that I had identified but it had to be cleared by corporate
executive at that amount to go directly to a school.

94 Email from Paul Albert, Director General, DET, to Kevin O’Keefe, Executive Director, Aboriginal
Education and Training, DET, and Robert Somerville, Director, Aboriginal Education, Training and
Services, DET, 21 October 2004.

95 Email from Robert Somerville, Director, Aboriginal Education, Training and Services, DET, to Paul
Albert, Director General, DET, 22 October 2004.

96 Ibid.



TWELFTH REPORT CHAPTER 2: Establishment of the Balga Works Program

G:\DATA\EF\efrp\ef.bwp.080529.rpf.012.xx.a.doc 35

The CHAIRPERSON: Was this amount ever provided?

Mr Somerville: No, it was not.

The CHAIRPERSON: And what was the sort of sequence that
happened there that led to it not being provided?

Mr Somerville: The sequence, it went to a district program and that
is the Swan Works program they worked up with some funding that
was going to go on that. Merv advised me he was looking at other
funding sources, and as a consequence of that, that training $250 000
ended up becoming an Indigenous aerospace initiative. So the
funding was used for that the following year.98

2.79 Mr Somerville advised the Committee that funding for 2005 to the sum of $176,000
(GST inclusive) was paid to Swan TAFE in June 2005 to commence the Indigenous
Aerospace Initiative in July 2005.99

Hon HELEN MORTON: Was there - the $250 000 - was that left for
a while; and, if so, how long before it was redirected to another
program on the basis that eventually this business would be able to be
funded properly?

Mr Somerville: It was a one-off payment that we were going to put
into it, of the $250 000, which was available for that particular year.
As a consequence of that - because we already had the indigenous
aerospace concept up and underway, and I just identified an under-
expenditure - because I had taken over the training budget - a
particular under-expenditure, which was appropriate to be able to put
forward as starting off the program in the school, but it was not an
ongoing $250 000, so as a consequence of it not going forward and
going into the district process, and then taking about 12 months to get
that forward, the money was not available the following year.100

2.80 The Committee was advised that funding of $300,000 was paid to the BSHS from
DET Aboriginal Vocational and Educational Training Division in October 2004,
specifically for the school’s Swan Noongar Sports Education Program and the Follow
the Dream project. This funding contributed to costs incurred by these two projects

97 Ibid.
98 Robert Somerville, Director, Aboriginal Education and Training, DET, Transcript of Evidence,

15 October 2007, p5.
99 Letter from Robert Somerville, Director, Aboriginal Education and Training, DET, 19 December 2007.
100 Robert Somerville, Director, Aboriginal Education and Training, DET, Transcript of Evidence,

15 October 2007, p8.



Estimates and Financial Operations Committee TWELFTH REPORT

36 G:\DATA\EF\efrp\ef.bwp.080529.rpf.012.xx.a.doc

over the 2004 and 2005 calendar years.101 Mr Somerville advised the Committee that
there was no element of funding from the Aboriginal Education and Training
Directorate to BSHS for the Youth Engagement Program (also known as the MITS
program – Manufacturing Industry Services).102

2.81 A letter was sent to BSHS advising of the transfer of $300,000, of which $200,000
was for MITS. Mr Somerville advised the Committee that this letter had been sent in
error. A letter of correction was sent to BSHS a week later:

Hon SHEILA MILLS: Mr Somerville, you committed $250 000 to
Balga Works -

Mr Somerville: No, we set aside $250 000, but the money never went
to it.

Hon SHEILA MILLS: So why were you transferring $300 000 to
Balga Senior High School, by which $200 000 was for MITS and the
other $100 000 was for the SINSEP program, over and above the
$200 000?

Mr Somerville: That was an incorrect letter that went across to
Balga Senior High School. We had actually committed money for
SINSEP, for a bus that had been committed to the SINSEP program
and the running costs of the bus and for Follow the Dream, which
were three programs that were operating out of the school. The letter
was sent and when the director general’s order came down that we
were not to fund the program until it went to the education and
training plan, I put that email out to my staff in my finance area, who
then informed me that we had sent a letter off the week before. They
had just signed it by mistake. My finance people had thought that
during the negotiations which I had made them aware of, that the
$300 000 was for that. But it was not; it came from our schools’
budget area.

Hon SHEILA MILLS: Your email says “I’m meeting with my
finance people on Wednesday with a view to transferring $300,000
over to Balga Senior High School”.

Mr Somerville: That was $300 000 for those three programs; not for
the MITS program.

101 Letter from Robert Somerville, Director, Aboriginal Education and Training, DET, 19 December 2007.
102 Ibid.
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Hon SHEILA MILLS: So the letter to Balga Senior High School
went out by mistake before you sent this email, is that right?

Mr Somerville: I cannot remember the timing of it, but certainly we
rescinded it with a letter about a week afterwards.103

2.82 However, the Committee was advised by Mr Hammond that this funding came to the
school and that it was used for the BWP:

Hon KEN TRAVERS: All right. I just want to clarify to make sure
that we have it right. The $250 000 from the Aboriginal - I am not
sure what it is called - area of the department that Bob Somerville
heads up, that $250 000 was approved? The school actually received
that $250 000? That was actually paid to the school?

Mr Hammond: My registrar told me that was received, yes.

…

Hon HELEN MORTON: Can I ask a little about the $250 000 that
you said came through from Bob Somerville’s section of the
Department of Education and Training? Did you get anything -
either an email or something in writing - saying that money was going
to come?

Mr Hammond: What I do remember, to answer that, is the money
came through for Balga Works and then it was stopped and then it
came through again for another program, which was called Follow
the Dream. The money came through twice. So the money certainly
came through, according to my registrar.

Hon HELEN MORTON: Okay. So if you say it was stopped - it was
going to come through and it was stopped, or it came through and it
was stopped?

Mr Hammond: It came through twice. It obviously cannot come
through twice, so I - it is obviously very fuzzy, but I think it went to the
wrong place or something and it came through a second time.

Hon HELEN MORTON: And it came through a second time under
a different banner, did it, or in a different form?

103 Robert Somerville, Director, Aboriginal Education and Training, DET, Transcript of Evidence,
15 October 2007, p11.
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Mr Hammond: I think Bob said it had to come through for Follow
the Dream and then it was going to be shifted over within the school
to Balga Works.

Hon HELEN MORTON: Why do you think -

Mr Hammond: Why? I do not know.

Hon HELEN MORTON: You do not know why it could not stay as it
was in the first place?

Mr Hammond: I do not know anything about that at all.

Hon HELEN MORTON: What was your understanding, though, of
why it could not come in the first place -

Mr Hammond: Never heard it.

Hon HELEN MORTON: - versus it could come the second time?

Mr Hammond: Never heard it.

Hon HELEN MORTON: Was the Follow the Dream program, was
that dealing with the same kids or a different group of kids?

Mr Hammond: It could have been. To answer your question, it
could have been the same kids and it could have been different kids -
Aboriginal kids - that is what it was for.

Hon HELEN MORTON: But was it your understanding that it was
going to be spent on people involved in the Balga Works program?

Mr Hammond: Yes.104

2.83 Ms Michelle Green, former Business Manager at BSHS also advised the Committee
that the funding had been received by the school and was spent on BWP:

Hon SHEILA MILLS: Are you aware of a sum of money, $250 000
or $300 000 that was given to the school by the Aboriginal Education
and Training Unit?

Ms Green: Yes, I am. That was—that was very early days. …
Originally, that money came in saying that it was for the Balga Works
Program and about a week later, two weeks later, I got another letter

104 Mervyn Hammond, former Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 7 November 2007, p9 and pp10-11.
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through saying that money was not to be used for the Balga Works
Program, basically, or I was told it was not to be. But, the letter
basically stated that money was for Follow the Dream and SNSEP,
so —

Hon PETER COLLIER: Who wrote you that letter?

Ms Green: Now, I have got to think of the man’s name because I
forget them—was it Bob Somerville? I think it is Bob—Bob
Somerville.

Hon SHEILA MILLS: Was that money—at the end of the day, did
that money actually go to the Follow the Dream program or was it
actually purloined and put into Balga Works?

Ms Green: Some of it was used for Balga Works, some of it went back
to Follow the Dream, but I do not believe that it ever all went back to
Follow the Dream. …

Hon HELEN MORTON: I am interested in the comment “went back
to”. Does that mean that in the initial stage the money went to Balga
Works?

Ms Green: Yes it did, and what I would do was if I got some funding
in for Balga Works, I would try to get it put back to SNSEP and
Follow the Dream, where it really belonged. I only managed to do
that in the early days with an FTE payment. In the very early days, I
managed to get some money back through and say, “No, these
moneys have got to go through here; I’m not releasing it,” to try to
get the books back, but it was not long before everything would be
paid out again anyway. I was just instructed to pay the last of the
bank balance to Michael Carton; he needed that money to run it.

Hon HELEN MORTON: Was it $250 000 or $300 000, by the way,
that the original and second letters referred to?

Ms Green: I think $300 000 was the figure.105

Committee observation

2.84 It appears that upon receipt of funding from the Office of Crime Prevention in
September 2004, Mr Hammond and Mr Michael Carton began working to set-up the
MITS program at BSHS.

105 Michelle Green, Business Manager, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 17 March 2008, pp16-17.
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2.85 The Committee notes that:

a) Mr Somerville advised the Director General that MITS was being used by
BSHS as a consultancy. He also advised that the consultancy was being
provided free of charge to the school, however this was not the case (see
paragraph 2.67);

b) Mr Albert, the then Director General, DET, made his position on the
involvement of MITS in the project clear;

c) BWP commenced in 2004 despite the directive of the Director General that it
be considered within the Swan Works Program and that it not proceed until a
number of issues had been addressed;

d) the issues that the Director General required clarification on were:

 the resourcing requirements were clear and could be met within
existing budgets;

 the operation of the program was clear; and

 the policy implications of inviting a private provider from another State
without due regard to local public and private training providers had
been addressed.

e) Mr Hammond’s actions were in direct conflict with the Director General’s
instructions.

2.86 The Committee is unable to ascertain the extent of the knowledge of other officers
within the DET of the activity of Mr Hammond and Mr Michael Carton in setting up
the BWP in late 2004. The extent of their authorisation of the establishment of BWP
at that time is also unclear. Funding was approved through the conversion of FTE
funding for the BWP in September 2004, however, the Director General had
instructed that no funding be committed to the program.

2.87 The Committee notes that there is discrepancy in the evidence about the funding
provided by the Aboriginal Education and Training Directorate to the BSHS. The
Committee notes that whilst the funding was not provided to BSHS for the BWP, the
funding may have been used for this purpose. The Committee further notes that the
Business Manager felt that there was something irregular about the letters received
regarding this payment.
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Recommendation 2: The Committee recommends that the Department of Education
and Training investigate whether the funding provided by the Aboriginal Education
and Training Directorate to the Balga Senior High School was used for the purpose it
was intended and if not, was the redirection of the funding appropriate. Further, what
was the knowledge and complicity of any officer of the Department of Education and
Training in relation to this funding.

Recommendation 3: The Committee recommends that the Department of Education
and Training investigate how it was possible for Mr Hammond in September 2004 to
arrange an FTE conversion to fund the Balga Works Program at the Balga Senior
High School without the support of the Minister for Education and Training and with
the Director General’s reservations about the program.

THE BALGA WORKS PROGRAM FORMALLY ESTABLISHED

2.88 The BWP officially began in Term 1, 2005, as a school-based program at the
instigation of Mr Hammond.

2.89 On 31 January 2005 Mr Hammond advised his line manager Mr Garnaut that:106

 he was commencing with the BWP as a school based program;

 that the BSHS was proceeding to enrol students into the BWP;

 the BWP would be run through existing school resources as a school based
program;

 he was contracting Mr Michael Carton of MITS to contribute some work
related components of the BWP.

2.90 Mr Hammond also advised Mr Garnaut that at that stage there were no resource
implications for the system or beyond the capacity of the school. Further, that he
looked forward to the expansion of BWP into the wider Swan Works when the system
was ready to provide appropriate levels of support and the system was satisfied with
the necessary management arrangements.107

2.91 Confirmation that BSHS could run a program for at risk 16 and 17 year olds was
given by Mr Garnaut when he met with Mr Hammond and others at BSHS on
4 December 2004. Mr Garnaut stated that principals were free to implement school

106 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p4. See also email from Mervyn Hammond, Principal,
BSHS, to John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, 31 January 2005 provided in
attachment to letter from Keith Newton, A/Deputy Director General, Schools, DET, 24 July 2007, p6.

107 Ibid.
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based programs as long as they complied with DET policy and were conducted within
the school resource provisions.108 On school programs generally Mr Garnaut advised
the Committee as follows:

Mr Garnaut: Many schools run special type programs - or programs
that might not be special but that are different - to cater to the needs
of individual children in the school. There would be hundreds of
these types of programs statewide. It is a principal’s prerogative to
establish a program within the school’s resources and within the
department’s policies, to meet the idiosyncratic needs of a certain
group of students. From that perspective, principals are free to
establish relevant programs. That is part of our inclusion policy, and
it ensures that we help meet the needs of the diverse groups of
students we have around the state.109

2.92 The Committee notes that it was within DET policy that BSHS could commence the
BWP as a school-based program on the basis that it would be run within existing
school resources.

2.93 Mr Garnaut advised the Committee that he made sure that Mr Hammond was aware of
the parameters in which the program could operate, and that he was aware of the
contract management policy.110

2.94 In relation to MITS involvement in the BWP, Mr Hammond advised Mr Garnaut that
he was not contracting with MITS but that Mr Michael Carton was working within the
BWP.111 Mr Garnaut advised Mr Hammond that there were to be no contractual
arrangements unless he had firstly consulted with him and the manager of Contracting
Services. Mr Hammond was instructed to seek advice from the contracting manager
about contractual procurement requirements.112

2.95 On 14 February 2005 Mr Hammond met with Mr Di Pietro, Principal Contract
Manager, Department of Treasury and Finance, to discuss contracts and tender issues
pertaining to BWP and was fully informed of his obligations and the processes,
policies and requirements relating to this issue. Mr Michael Carton was present at this
meeting.113

108 Tabled paper from the Public Sector Investigation Unit Western Australia Police (private evidence).
109 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,

p15.
110 Ibid, p34.
111 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p4.
112 Ibid.
113 Tabled paper from the Public Sector Investigation Unit, Western Australia Police (private evidence).
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2.96 In relation to the accommodation component, in February 2005 Mr Michael Carton
indicated to Mr Garnaut that he was arranging accommodation for some at-risk
students at Joondalup as part of a distinct and separate funding arrangement to that of
the school program. Mr Garnaut advised Mr Hammond at this time that the school
should not contribute to the funding of any outside school care.114

2.97 The distinction between the Swan Works Program and the BWP was clearly
articulated. On 10 February 2005, at a Swan Works Steering Committee meeting,
Mr Hammond provided an outline of the BWP.115 The difference between the two
programs was discussed. It was noted that the BWP would be limited in its holistic
wrap around service and not be able to provide the extensive long-term mentor
support.116 The minutes of the meeting record the following:

An initial ‘Balga Works’ school program was endorsed by
John Garnaut for Balga SHS, assuming the program complied with
DET guidelines, and it was implemented within school resources. An
overview of Balga Works was provided by Merv Hammond and Mark
Carton (see attachment).117

2.98 Mr Garnaut advised the Committee that he was of the understanding that the “BWP
was a low-key program, lowly resourced, and would inform the development and
implementation of the broader, more heavily resourced Swan Works program - it was
a small, low-key program, for which the planning - comprehensive planning - was in
place”.118

DET funding and support for the BWP

2.99 The funding for the BWP education component was to come from the DET via the
conversion of part of the BSHS FTE establishment, that is, the BSHS was converting
FTE funding for use in the BWP (see paragraph 2.68). The DET advised the
Committee that schools can convert FTE funding to a flexible resource that can be
accessed through the School Salary Pool. This flexibility is intended to provide
schools with the capacity to purchase services to meet specific student educational
needs that cannot be provided through their school based staff or through the regular
staffing process.119

114 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p6 and Public Sector Investigation Unit, Western
Australia Police, Balga Works Program Timeline (private evidence).

115 Letter from Keith Newton, A/Deputy Director General, Schools, DET, Attachment a, 23 August 2007.
116 Swan Works Steering Committee, Minutes of Meeting, 10 February 2005.
117 Ibid.
118 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,

p30.
119 Eighth Submission from the DET, November 2007, p2.
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2.100 Mr Hammond advised the Committee that he believed he had the support of the DET
to run the program and that this was evidenced by the funding of the program through
the conversion of FTE funding by the DET.

Hon PETER COLLIER: So just to clarify one thing, Mr Hammond,
and to pick up on something Helen said: so from the program that,
Mr Hammond, you took or the group of you - Mr Hodge, Mr
Somerville and yourself - took to the education minister in August ’04,
which did not get ministerial approval, was not the program that was
established at the end of 2004, but you did feel that you had
departmental support for the program that you instituted.

Mr Hammond: Well, they were paying for the salaries of the
teachers to look after these kids, so, you know, they do not pay if they
do not support it.120

Committee comment

2.101 The Committee notes:

a) the verbal instruction of Mr Garnaut to Mr Hammond not to contribute to the
funding of any outside of school care;

b) that the Director General gave clear instruction on the requirements to be met
before the BWP could proceed and that it was to be incorporated into the
Swan Works Program. The Committee could not identify any formal
permission being granted to the BSHS to implement a trial of the BWP at the
BSHS in Semester 1 2005, nor can it find evidence that would have stopped
the trial going ahead;

c) that it was Mr Hammond’s understanding throughout the development of the
Swan Works position paper that a trial of the program would be implemented
at BSHS in 2005. Mr Hammond and Mr Michael Carton proceeded to set-up
the BWP at BSHS in the later half of 2004 without DET full knowledge or
formal authorisation; and

d) that Mr Hammond was aware that he could run the program as a school-based
program without any ministerial or departmental approval, including that the
program could be funded through enrolments and other sources. Further, that
Mr Hammond was aware of the parameters in which the BWP could operate,
including tender requirements and department contractual procedures.

120 Mervyn Hammond, Former Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 7 November 2007, p3 and p7.
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2.102 The Committee is of the view that Mr Hammond misled the DET about MITS
involvement in the BWP and that he did not advise the DET that he had set up the
BWP in late 2004.

2.103 Although the Committee acknowledges that Mr Hammond had considerable
discretion regarding the implementation of a school based program (see paragraphs
3.27 to 3.28), the Committee believes that Mr Hammond’s actions in proceeding with
BWP as a school based program in 2004 effectively meant that he deliberately
circumvented the instructions of the Director General of the DET.

2.104 The Committee notes that the DET was aware that the BWP was being implemented
as a school based program in Semester 1, 2005. The Committee notes that Mr
Garnaut endorsed the implementation, within school resources, of the BWP as a
school based program at BSHS.

2.105 The Committee is of the view that while Mr Hammond knew that he could run a trial
within existing resources (using FTE salary conversion payments) he would have been
aware that in order to implement the BWP, as initially proposed, considerable
additional funding would be required. The Committee notes that Mr Hammond
advised Mr Garnaut that he understood that the BWP would be absorbed into the more
heavily resourced Swan Works Program which was due to commence in Semester 2,
2005 (see paragraph 2.90).

2.106 The Committee feels that it has not obtained the full picture of the events surrounding
the establishment of the BWP, due to a lack of full and frank disclosure and a lack of
written evidence.

2.107 Further, the Committee felt from the commencement of its inquiry that the DET did
not fully convey its knowledge and understanding of the detail surrounding the
establishment and operations of the BWP. The Committee felt it was only provided
the minimum information until it requested further detail. The Committee’s
expectation is that a Government agency will be forthcoming with comprehensive
information to a Parliamentary Committee and the DET was not.

2.108 The Committee feels that the DET either consciously or unconsciously withheld
information. For example, the initial submission provided to the Committee by the
DET was seven pages long and contained no supporting documentation; however,
over the course of its inquiry as a result of the Committee’s requests it received an
additional seven submissions and well over 1000 pages of relevant documents from
the DET. In the Committee’s view, in providing evidence, some DET officers
appeared defensive and sought to provide as little assistance as possible. In its inquiry
the Committee felt that senior DET officers were either still not aware of the full
circumstances surrounding the BWP or they were not being completely open or
transparent.
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CHAPTER 3
THE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING AND THE

BALGA WORKS PROGRAM

SCARCITY OF FINANCIAL DATA ON THE BWP HELD BY THE DET

3.1 The Committee was severely restricted in its attempts to determine the level of
expenditure involved in the BWP by the lack of financial information available. The
Committee notes that Hurson had responsibility for the financial management and
records of the BWP.

THE BALGA WORKS PROGRAM IN 2005

3.2 The BWP started as a trial, however, as it continued to run throughout 2005 it
expanded rapidly. By the end of July 2005, 107 students were enrolled in the BWP,121

compared to 53 students in Term 1, 2005.

3.3 There was inter-agency involvement and the BWP was receiving funds from various
sources. Mr Hammond advised Mr Garnaut during Semester 1, 2005 that the
activities outside of the school hours were supported by other agencies such as Police,
Justice Department, Community Development and others, and that Mr Michael Carton
was performing a management role for the BSHS and was reporting to him.122

3.4 By the commencement of Semester 2, 2005 further resources were required for the
BWP. BSHS requested a further salaries FTE conversion for the payment of various
activities associated with the BWP.123

3.5 The positive feedback that Mr Garnaut was receiving on the BWP and the
achievements of the program at this time was primarily from the administrators of the
school. Mr Garnaut also stated that the feedback he was receiving from other agencies
involved indicated that the program was exciting and was achieving results for their
particular clients. As stated by Mr Garnaut:

Mr Garnaut: The feedback that I was getting on the program was, of
course, from the staff at the school, from the administration at the
school.

121 Briefing Note Request - Ministerial No 2589, Subject: Balga Works, 29 July 2005.
122 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p6.
123 Ibid, pp6-7.
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Hon PETER COLLIER: Do you mean staff of the school or the
program?

Mr Garnaut: I really mean the administrators of the school, who
were informing me of the program, and the achievements of the
program. At that time, I was chairing the human services interagency
group for the west metropolitan area, which was focused in the
Balga-Mirrabooka-Nollamara-Girrawheen area, and the feedback
from other agencies around that table - which were people equivalent
to me representing their agencies in a regional context - was that this
program was exciting and was achieving results for their particular
clients. I am talking about DCD, police, juvenile justice.124

3.6 Throughout this time the BWP was still considered as a precursor to the Swan Works
program by the DET125 and part of the Swan District Education and Training Plan.126

During the period between February and June 2005 the Swan Works Steering
Committee was progressing with its considerations. The Swan Works Steering
Committee presented a report to the then Executive Director in June 2005 but the
report was not acted upon.127

Memorandum of Understanding - MITS engaged as private service provider

3.7 On 14 February 2005, Mr Hammond, and Mr Michael Carton representing MITS
signed a memorandum of understanding (MOU) for the provision of services by MITS
to the BWP. The MOU outlined the responsibilities of both parties involved and was
for an initial period of three consecutive school years. It also contained an appendix
indicating that the contract price would be $1,064,062.50 for the year 2005 which
calculated to a potential amount of over $3 million for the three year period.128

3.8 On that same day at approximately 10.00am, Mr Di Pietro, Principal Contract
Manager, had met with Mr Hammond and Mr Michael Carton to give advice about
relevant procurement processes and contracting policies with respect to the BWP. The

124 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
p17.

125 ‘Briefing Notes for the Minister for Education and Training for her visit to Balga SHS with
Margaret Quirk MLA and Principals within Quirk’s Electorate on Friday, 19 August 2005’.

126 ‘Advice/Briefing Notes for the Minister for Education and Training Regarding Balga Works’, from
John Garnaut, District Director, DET, and Mervyn Hammond, Principal, BSHS, September 2005.

127 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p7.
128 Memorandum of Understanding between Balga Senior High School and Manufacturing Industry Training

Services Pty Ltd, 14 February 2005.
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MOU was not raised by Mr Hammond or Mr Michael Carton at the meeting.129 Mr
Hammond then signed the MOU without DET knowledge or authorisation.130

Committee comment

3.9 The Committee notes the procurement policies and procedures set out in the DET’s
Financial Management in Schools - Policies and Procedures131 and the Department of
Treasury and Finance Procurement Practice Guide for Public Authorities132

documents. In particular, the Committee notes the requirement that an open tender
process is required for purchases above $150,000.

Expenditure to MITS by BSHS

3.10 Subsequently, significant expenditure was made to MITS by BSHS on invoices for
services related to the BWP in early 2005:

 On 14 February 2005, following the signing of the MOU, six payments of
$9,900 totalling $59,400 was paid to MITS from the BSHS for professional
services in the consultancy phase of the program.133

 In March 2005 a number of invoices for payment were submitted by MITS for
the BWP, including:134

i) 4 March 2005, MITS invoice for $1,064,062.50 for 150 enrolled
students on 28 February 2005; and

ii) 15 March 2005, MITS invoice for $69,930 for ‘training services
provided 2005’.

3.11 The six invoices from MITS dated 14 February 2005 each for $9,9900 were noted by
Mr Peter Burgess during his investigation into the BWP for DET in 2005. When
asked if he knew why the six payments were made in six batches rather than one Mr
Hammond replied ‘No you would have to ask the Registrar’.135

129 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p5.
130 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p1 and Letter from Keith Newton, A/Deputy Director

General, Schools, DET, 24 July 2007, p13.
131 DET, Financial Management in Schools - Policies and Procedures: Effective: 1 July 20056 [sic].
132 Department of Treasury and Finance, Procurement Practice Guide for Public Authorities, January 2008.
133 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p5. See also Peter Burgess, Investigation Balga Works

Program DET, December 2005, p2.
134 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, pp5-6.
135 Peter Burgess, Investigation Balga Works Program DET, December 2005, p31.
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3.12 In relation to the six payments of $9,900 to MITS, the Business Manager of BSHS
advised the Committee that these payments were made on the instruction of
Mr Hammond, after she had advised him that payments over $10,000 were required to
go through the procurement process:

Merv was the one that was making all of the decisions. District office
was the first port of call before central office but, initially, I would
have to say central office knew nothing of the program because in the
very, very early days there were payments made to MITS, about five
or six of about $9 900. Merv had asked me to pay money to MITS and
I said, “Merv, we can’t do this. You’ve got to go through
procurement”, and at that point I did not know the figure—and the
figure was probably nearer to $20 000—but I said—“Is this, well”—I
said to him, “We can’t pay anything over $10 000 without you
running this through procurement to have this all okayed; we just
cannot do it.” “So, well, what’s the figure?” “Well, I’m sure it would
be about $10 000.” “So, fine.” He comes to me with—six—five or six
invoices for $9 900, “Pay those”, so there was not—central office in
the early days knew nothing about it.136

Committee comment

3.13 The Committee makes no comment on the evidence of the Business Manager.
Although it notes that there is reason for some concern regarding this evidence, the
Committee understands that this matter is being investigated by other bodies.

3.14 The Committee notes that there were 53 students in the BWP in Term 1, 2005 and that
MITS submitted an invoice that claimed there were 150 enrolled students on
28 February 2005 (see paragraphs 3.2 and 3.10).

Change in private service provider

3.15 In April 2005 Mr Michael Carton advised Mr Hammond that MITS were not going to
provide the service anymore. MITS went into liquidation and Mr Michael Carton
took over the BWP through his company Hurson. Mr Hammond stated that:

It was just the same person we used inside MITS. He just kept going
under the new name Hurson.137

3.16 Mr Michael Carton advised the Committee that Hurson involvement was initiated by
Mr Hammond:

136 Michelle Green, Business Manager, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 17 March 2008, p14.
137 Peter Burgess, Investigation Balga Works Program DET, December 2005, pp17-18.
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Mr Carton: Mr Hammond had indicated, with MITS’ demise, that he
wanted the program to continue. He asked myself and he spoke to my
wife as to whether she would continue with Hurson. We initially
indicated we would not, and as a result of that, I think in late March
or early April, we then agreed for an interim until the tender was let.

…

Hon KEN TRAVERS: No, I have got to be honest and say I am still
not clear but -

Mr Carton: Let me labour the point, then. When the demise of MITS
was imminent and we had advised Mr Hammond of that, he had
requested that I do it. Of course, I said I could not because of my
bankruptcy. He indicated to me he knew we had a family company
that was involved in MITS: could that company do it? I spoke to my
wife about it. She then went to Perth or Mr Hammond spoke to her
about it. I am sure she went over to Perth for it. As a result of that, it
was agreed that Hurson would take on the school and the residential
until tender was let.138

3.17 Mr Hammond did not sign a contract for service with Hurson or engage in any
procurement process prior to their involvement.

Involvement of a private provider and misleading of the DET

3.18 The DET have advised the Committee that they had no knowledge at the time that Mr
Hammond had engaged MITS to run the BWP and that considerable payments were
being made by the BSHS to MITS for service delivery.

The CHAIRPERSON: My next question is: why did the department,
in your view, allow Mr Hammond to engage MITS when a directive
had been given in October 2004 from the Director General of
Education not to do so?

Mr Garnaut: There was no awareness that MITS were being
engaged as a private provider from the beginning of 2005, so that is
something that Merv Hammond chose to do on his own volition and
he did it independently.139

138 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, p15.
139 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,

p3.
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3.19 The DET advised the Committee that neither Mr Garnaut or other relevant personnel
in the DET had any knowledge of the existence of the MOU prior to 28 October 2005,
when the Minister for Education and Training received a letter from the liquidator,
claiming an outstanding debt against the DET, pursuant to the MOU.140 The
liquidator claimed a breach of contract by BSHS and that BSHS is indebted to MITS
for the sum of $1,135,704.90, with further claims possible.141

3.20 The DET submitted that:

During 2004 and 2005, in seeking to run the MITS Program and in
proceeding with the School Program in the manner that he did, the
Principal acted outside the scope of his authority, and relevant
policies of the Department of Education and Training (‘Department’)
and government. It appears that the Principal misled his line
managers about the School Program and Carton’s involvement in the
Program.142

3.21 The Committee asked Mr Garnaut how he believes Mr Hammond misled the DET
about the program and Mr Michael Carton’s involvement in 2005:

Mr Garnaut: I think there was an element of misleading the
department at the time. The misleading may have commenced in
2004 when Michael Carton was obvious [sic] in the school doing
some work, and I did ask the question of Merv Hammond: what role
is Michael playing in the school? He said he was providing
consultancy advice for free, voluntary, because he was an ex-student
of the school. He was a person who had come from a background
where he understood the needs of high-risk children, street kids, and
he was volunteering his services to help. I found out later, subsequent
to an audit about 12 months later, that there had actually been money
being transferred for those services later on. So, that was one
indicator of some misleading.

In terms of the extent of involvement of Michael Carton in the
program in 2005, I asked Merv Hammond to present a paper to the
Swan Works steering committee on 10 February to outline the clear
differences between the Swan Works program and the Balga Works
program. He did this. In that particular document there was clear
reference to the budget for the program and there was no indication

140 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p7.
141 ‘Briefing Notes for the Minister for Education and Training regarding the Balga Senior High

School/Manufacturing Industry Training Services Pty Ltd Vocational Education and Training
Partnership’, from John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, 11 November 2005.

142 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p1.
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there of the heavy finances being funding for private providers, such
as Michael Carton.143

3.22 When the Committee asked Mr Hammond whether in seeking to run the BWP in the
manner that he did, that he acted outside the scope of his authority and relevant
policies of the DET and the government, Mr Hammond responded as follows:

Mr Hammond: So under devolution - under the principles of
devolution - I guess you people know all about the “four squiggle
books”, which are the devolution Bibles, which came down in the
early 1990s. High school principals - all school principals - are
encouraged to look for new ways to do things. Under the principle of
devolution, I believe I had that authority.144

3.23 Mr Hammond refutes that he misled his line managers about the program and Mr
Michael Carton’s involvement in the program:

Mr Hammond: I had constant contact with my line manager; Gary
Taylor had constant contact with myself; Gary Taylor [Deputy
Principal145] had constant contact with the district office. I do not
think there was anything misleading in any of that.146

Committee comment

3.24 The Committee notes that:

a) the BWP officially commenced in February 2005 as a trial program and that it
was expected that a tender process would follow or that the program would
become part of the Swan Works Program.

b) the MOU was signed by Mr Hammond without the knowledge or
authorisation of the DET and in apparent breach of Government contracting
and procurement policies. Further, that the DET believes that Mr Hammond
misled them about the involvement of the private provider.

c) in order to avoid having to meet the DET procurement procedures for
expenditure above $10,000 Mr Hammond instructed that six payments of
$9,900 each be made to MITS in February 2005.

143 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
p1.

144 Mervyn Hammond, Former Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 7 November 2007, p29.
145 Gary Taylor was appointed as a supplementary Deputy Principal at BSHS from Semester 2, 2005 (see

paragraphs 3.36 onwards).
146 Ibid.
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d) Hurson took over from MITS as the service provider in April 2005, again, in
apparent breach of Government contracting and procurement policies, and
that no written contract for service provision was entered into between Hurson
and BSHS.

e) During 2005 the BWP was expanding rapidly and was requiring additional
resources to sustain the program.

f) Mr Hammond does not believe that he misled the DET about the program and
that he believed that under the principle of devolution he had the authority to
run the program as he did.

g) The principle of devolution does not extend to authorising school principals to
ignore Government contracting and procurement policies (see paragraph 3.27
to 3.28).

DET monitoring of the BSHS

3.25 The Committee queried the monitoring of the BSHS and how it was possible that the
DET was not aware that Mr Hammond had engaged a private provider.

3.26 The Committee was advised that initial DET involvement and monitoring of the BWP
was within the context of its standard review of the BSHS. As a school based
program it was the principal’s responsibility to ensure the soundness of the program
and all programs operating within the school.147

Devolution of authority to the principal

3.27 The DET have a policy of devolution of authority to the principal of a school. It is
under this authority that school programs can be implemented autonomously by a
principal.

3.28 The principal of devolution was explained to the Committee by Mr Keith Newton,
A/Deputy Director General, Schools, DET:

The CHAIRPERSON: So could you elaborate on what decision-
making authority is devolved to the principal of a high school?

Mr Newton: There is significant decision making devolved to any
principal of any school. They are charged with making sure the
educational programs in the school match the needs of the students
and in upper secondary, of course, are consistent with the Curriculum
Council requirements; and in other parts from K-12 in line with the

147 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
p16.
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curriculum framework. They have financial responsibilities devolved
to them and they have community decision-making abilities devolved
to them as well. Although not autonomous, they do have considerable
decisions on a day-by-day basis with the operation of their school to
meet certain outcomes.

The CHAIRPERSON: And obviously duty of care and those sorts of
things.

Mr Newton: Yes.

The CHAIRPERSON: If the principal goes beyond his or her
powers or acts inappropriately, what action does the department take
to address this?

Mr Newton: If they step outside their bounds in some form of
criminal authority [sic], then of course it is referred to the police. If it
is in terms of management, gone outside the policies and compliance
models of the department, then the district director has the authority
to, in the first instance, put the person under some sort of
performance appraisal to make sure that their work is in fact
compliant with the department’s requirements. Where the person
does not comply, then they can take that action further, which
ultimately would lead to some form of disciplinary action, and that
would then be a matter of a judgement by the director general of the
day.148

3.29 The DET have advised of the following checks and balances in place to oversee the
running of school programs:149

 schools are audited by the DET internal assurance directorate periodically and
reports to schools on their financial management. The audits are followed up
by the district director and ensures that any recommendations are put in place;

 a school review process is undertaken whereby the district director reviews
the quality of schooling based on a school review framework which reviews
schools’ operations across eight key areas of operation including standards of
student performance, school planning, school annual reporting, the safe and
inclusive nature of the learning environment, the leadership across the school,
the HR management processes in the school, the interaction with the
community and the contribution that makes to the quality of schooling, the

148 Keith Newton, A/Deputy Director General, Schools, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 19 October 2007, p23.
149 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,

pp15-16.
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implementation of department strategic initiatives, and the quality of teaching
and learning in the school; and

 a quality assurance framework which requires schools to self-assess their own
performance against the framework including quality of schooling. The
district director works with schools on their self-assessments.

3.30 The Committee was advised that the school review process is a continuous process
that occurs usually over a two year period.150

3.31 The Committee was further advised that the frequency of school audits is not based on
time, but is instead based on identified risks:

Mr Newton: Schools are audited on a cycle of risk. It is not a three-
year cycle or four-year cycle; it is an identified set of risks. Some
schools are audited more frequently than others and Balga Senior
High School is one of those schools that, clearly, we will audit more
frequently until we are confident that it is performing well. The audit
and risk directorate produces a schedule of those schools that need to
be audited because for some time, or there is some evidence that
suggests, things are not going as well as they should be. Each school
has to complete a self-assessment audit every year and submit that,
which the audit and risk directorate then reviews and says out of that
these are the ones that need to be reviewed. The school executive
then has the ability to say that on top of that we still think we should
audit this or that school for whatever reason, usually because the
district director has alerted us to something that might not be showing
up in the self-assessments.151

3.32 The DET process for auditing schools is as follows:152

a) Under the DET School Audit Program all government schools are audited
each year by Departmental Auditors or are required to complete and submit a
School Audit Control Self Assessment Survey (CSA) to the Audit Branch.
To date approximately 20 percent of schools have been audited each year by
Departmental Auditors and the remainder submit a CSA. Staff resources in
Audit Branch have recently been increased and it is expected that
approximately 25 percent of schools will be audited annually by Departmental
Auditors from 2008 on.

150 Keith Newton, A/Deputy Director General, Schools, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 19 October 2007, p23.
151 Ibid, p25.
152 Supplementary information provided by Keith Newton, A/Deputy Director General, Schools, DET,

undated, p2.
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b) Schools are selected for audit each year based on risk, however the risk
methodology has been designed so that all schools will be audited more
frequently, that is, annual or biannually. Key risk variables used include
materiality, revenue value, complexity, staff changes, results from previous
audits, and length of time from previous audit. The weightings placed on risk
variables will usually result in secondary schools being classified as medium
to high risk and generally lead to more regular audits of those schools, that is
at least once every two years.

3.33 Specific programs within a school are assessed at the discretion of the director
general. Mr Garnaut advised the Committee that the DET does not have the time or
the resource to quality assure and control every program that is run in every school. It
is the responsibility of principals to do that.153 As stated by Mr McCaffrey, Deputy
Director General, Finance and Administration, DET:

Mr McCaffrey: The responsibility for all schools when they run
programs or they engage outside contracts for whatever purpose is
the responsibility of the principal. The principal has the authority
and responsibility to manage their school for the kids they have and
run the programs and the courses that they deem fit. In my mind, I
have no doubt it is clearly the responsibility of the principal.154

Issues identified with the BSHS and Mr Hammond

3.34 In 2005 the focus of Mr Garnaut as the District Director was not exclusively the BWP
but the whole of the BSHS. The school had a whole range of issues that were
identified by Mr Garnaut in 2004 that were being addressed. It had been identified
that BSHS lacked the appropriate structure to suit its program-based focus as a school
for kids at risk - the traditional school leadership structure did not suit BSHS. As
stated by Mr Garnaut:

Well, because it is a very different structure as an organisation, the
traditional school leadership structure does not fit a school like Balga
Senior High School, yet they were trying to get an old, traditional
structure to fit with this programmic-type school. I am not aware of
any other school in Western Australia that has a programmic
structure like Balga Senior High School has. What we had was
curriculum leaders in the eight learning areas, and student service
coordinators, all theoretically impacting and influencing across the
whole school in providing leadership. In my school review work, I

153 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
pp15-16.

154 Peter McCaffrey, Deputy Director General, Finance and Administration, DET, Transcript of Evidence,
15 October 2007, p2.
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discovered that this simply was not happening. The leadership and
management structure was not as effective as it should be, and there
needed to be a major review of that structure? [sic]155

3.35 Mr Garnaut felt that Mr Hammond did not have the capacity or experience to lead a
change in planning and organisational structure, and thus additional resources were
sought to establish a new position, with the key responsibility to set in place improved
processes for whole-of-school planning, and for program planning for each of the
programs, which included getting clear about the outcomes, the data to be collected on
student performance, and the financial budgets and management issues to do with
each program.156

3.36 Additional quality assurance processes were put in place in 2005 to support the BSHS
at that point in time, including:157

 a supplementary deputy principal, Mr Gary Taylor was put into the school in
Semester 2, 2005 to support the management across the school and
accountability processes;

 additional financial management support to the Principal and Registrars from
the Finance and Administration Officer of the Swan District Education Office;
and

 performance management by Mr Garnaut of Mr Hammond on management
and school leadership issues.

3.37 During a hearing on 10 October 2007, Mr Garnaut advised the Committee that the
appointment for the position of supplementary deputy principal was undertaken by “a
panel involving Merv Hammond and other senior staff. I think a principal from a
neighbouring school was involved. It was a merit selection process, which
Merv Hammond chaired and led, and it was appropriate for him to do”. In a letter to
the Committee received on 21 May 2008 Mr Garnaut said he was a panel member.
Mr Garnaut did not state this at the hearing.158

3.38 The Committee was also advised that Mr Taylor and Mr Hammond knew each other
prior to Mr Taylor commencing at BSHS. Mr Taylor advised the Committee that:

Mr Taylor: Merv Hammond was a principal of mine at Mukinbudin
District High School back in the 80s. We had maintained a

155 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
p19.

156 Ibid, p19.
157 Ibid, p16.
158 Ibid, p18.
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professional, if not a somewhat friendship-type relationship, with
Merv, Lee and her family.159

3.39 Mr Taylor, Deputy Principal advised the Committee on his role at the BSHS and the
issues that school was experiencing:

… The brief essentially was to look at system operations management
and so on of the Balga Senior High School programs, and to assist
the district director, John Garnaut, and the principal, Merv
Hammond, in reshaping the current programs within the school to a
point where they were sustainable.

The CHAIRPERSON: What problems were being experienced at
Balga Senior High School when you began your employment there?

Mr Taylor: They probably mostly surrounded the visionary programs
that were implemented by Merv Hammond, the principal - probably
with a lack of good support and management structures behind them.
There were issues with behaviour management. There were issues
with financial management. There were issues with performance
management. There were issues with reporting. The school
essentially needed some support in order to bolster those
departmental requirements, so that it could be properly planned and
managed and properly run. Essentially, it was probably a case of
running before they could walk. Programs were built from ideas
down rather than from good practice up.160

3.40 Mr Taylor advised the Committee that:

… there had not been a school plan developed for some years, there
had not been an annual report produced for some years, there was no
performance management across the school and there were no
program plans. In fact, there was no real plan as to how the direction
of the programs might proceed, so it was my task to come in and
develop all of that, along with looking at the very future and direction
of the programs and try to work out how best to mould them and
shape them so that they might actually continue to work for the
kids.161

3.41 In October 2005 an audit was conducted by the Finance and Administration Officer of
the Swan District Education Office, just prior to the issue of the MOU emerging. This

159 Gary Taylor, Deputy Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 1 November 2007, p2.
160 Ibid, pp1-2.
161 Ibid, p4.
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audit was requested by Mr Garnaut in response to some concerns raised with him
about the financial management of the school. The audit findings were reported to
Mr Garnaut in November 2005 and raised some concerns for Mr Garnaut relating to
details on invoices, family members of the school’s administration being on the staff
of the BWP and concerns with the P & C.162 See paragraphs 3.59 to 3.60 for further
details on the audit findings.

3.42 The Committee notes the view of Mr Garnaut that the problems experienced with the
BWP was within the context of the BSHS being in serious financial and management
difficulties:

This was all in the context - and I am not sure of the relevance of this
for you - of the school actually being in crisis and spiralling down
itself as a school. The quality assurance work that I did in the school
in 2005 was of much greater magnitude than any school I have ever
done before in my life. I have a significant range of reports that will
testify to that. The Balga Works program was one bit of a school that
was in crisis and spiralling downwards.163

3.43 Mr Garnaut advised the Committee that Mr Taylor did not assist in improving the
financial management of the BSHS due to Mr Hammond’s reluctance to pass on the
management of the BWP:

The CHAIRPERSON: I will just follow on from that. Mr Taylor
was being directed to deal with the financial matters as well. Did that
actually help in your view? Did the financial matters get better after
that?

Mr Garnaut: My observations were that in later 2005 Merv
Hammond wanted to keep the Balga Works program - all elements of
it - under his umbrella very tightly. My preference was for him to
delegate responsibility to a deputy principal to take the pressure off
him so that he could get on and lead other things in school that were
starting to erode in the quality of the school, as I have described
previously. But Merv Hammond had a very strong agenda to keep the
Balga Works program very close to his chest in terms of management
and operations. So Gary Taylor would not have had access to some
of the information that I would probably have expected him to have

162 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 11 July 2007,
pp3-4 and p14.

163 Ibid, pp17.
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access to to do his planning, for example, for that particular
program.164

Committee comment

3.44 The Committee notes that issues were identified with the BSHS and Mr Hammond,
including the ability of Mr Hammond to plan and manage programs by the District
Office in 2004, however, the District Office still allowed the implementation of an
additional program, the BWP, at the BSHS before these issues had been adequately
resolved.

3.45 The Committee notes that additional quality assurance processes were put into place
in 2005 to support the BSHS, namely the placement of a supplementary deputy
principal and additional financial management support to the Principal and Registrars.
However, these processes did not prove effective in this instance. The Committee
queries how the DET could not be aware that MITS, and then Hurson, were operating
as a private provider and that significant amounts of expenditure was being paid out
for the BWP to MITS and Hurson. The Committee questions the strength of the
accountability mechanisms of the DET. Alternatively, the Committee questions
whether full and frank disclosure of evidence has been made to the Committee.

3.46 The Committee is of the view that the audit process of schools and their programs by
the DET in this instance was inadequate in identifying issues with the BWP in a
timely manner, particularly the large expenditure being paid by the BSHS to MITS
and Hurson for service delivery.

3.47 The Committee notes that under the policy of devolution of authority to the principal
of a school there is a heavy reliance placed on the principal of a school by the DET to
ensure that the school is run in an appropriate manner. The Committee notes the
checks and balances in place by the DET to oversee the running of school programs
and queries whether they are adequate.

3.48 The Committee notes that the appointment for the position of supplementary deputy
principal was undertaken by a panel that was chaired and led by Mr Hammond and
comprised other senior staff.

3.49 The Committee is of the view that due to the unusual circumstances facing BSHS at
the time, that:

 once it was determined that the BSHS required assistance it was appropriate
for the District Director to take a leadership role in the appointment process
(of the supplementary Deputy Principal). Mr Hammond should not have been
the Chair of the selection panel; and

164 Ibid, pp19-20.
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 the DET should have ensured that the issues faced by the BSHS were being
addressed as a result of the additional resources being provided.

DET RESPONSE TO THE DISCOVERY OF THE MOU

3.50 Following the discovery of the MOU by the DET, on 7 November 2005 Mr Garnaut
met with Mr Hammond and Mr Michael Carton about the Liquidator’s claim. Mr
Hammond’s position was that the MOU had been signed in response to a request by
Mr John McQuay of MITS that it was needed to obtain further funds from their bank.
Mr Michael Carton also stated that Mr McQuay required the signed MOU for
presentation to MITS’ bank.165 Further, Mr Hammond disputed the legalities of the
MOU. Despite having signed and forwarded the MOU, Mr Hammond claimed he
verbally rescinded the agreement with MITS prior to the provision of any services.
He claimed that he struck out Attachment 1 and 2 of the MOU making the agreement
invalid166 and that he made it clear to the MITS directors at the time of signing that the
MOU was not a contract.167

3.51 Mr Hammond and Mr Michael Carton stated that they signed the MOU after the
meeting with Mr Di Pietro. The time imprint of the faxed version of the MOU states
9:23 am, however the date is not readable. When asked why he had signed the MOU,
Mr Hammond stated that:168

a) John McQuay (of MITS) was putting pressure on me to sign it so he could
negotiate with his bankers; and

b) I didn’t check it with anyone because it was only a memorandum of
understanding.

3.52 Following the meeting with Mr Hammond, it was determined that this matter should
be more fully investigated. The CCC were referred the matter, but upon
consideration, the CCC requested that the DET investigate in the first instance.169 The
matter was also reported to the WAPS Public Sector Investigation Unit170 who found
no issue of criminality.

165 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p7.
166 ‘Briefing Notes for the Minister for Education and Training regarding the Balga Senior High

School/Manufacturing Industry Training Services Pty Ltd Vocational Education and Training
Partnership’, from John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, 11 November 2005.

167 Briefing Note from John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, to Paul Albert,
Director General, DET and Keith Newton, Executive Director (Teaching and Learning) North, DET,
23 November 2005.

168 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p5.
169 Ibid, p7.
170 ‘Briefing Notes for the Minister for Education and Training regarding the Balga Senior High

School/Manufacturing Industry Training Services Pty Ltd Vocational Education and Training
Partnership’, from John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, 11 November 2005.
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3.53 The DET then undertook an investigation into the circumstances surrounding the
signing of the MOU.

3.54 Refer to paragraphs 3.67 to 3.79 for further information relating to the circumstances
surrounding the signing of the MOU.

Investigation and Review of the BWP

3.55 After the notice of the existence of the MOU, the Balga Works Investigation
Reference Group (Investigation Reference Group) was convened in November
2005, to consider the legal status of the MOU, the financial management of the BWP
and the conduct of Mr Hammond. The reference group comprised the following
directors and senior officers:171

 Keith Newton, Executive Director, (Teaching and Learning) North;

 Kevin Smith, Acting Chief Finance Officer;

 Peter McCaffrey, Chief Finance Officer;

 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District;

 Peter Denton, Manager, Complaints Management Unit;

 Annika Christou, Legal Officer; and

 Aaron Young, Manager Operations, Swan Education District.

3.56 The Investigation Reference Group coordinated and oversaw an investigation of the
facts relating to the signing of the MOU, and an audit of the BWP. As well as the
October 2005 audit referred to above at paragraph 3.41, audits of the BSHS were
conducted in November 2005, January 2006, June 2006 and December 2006.
Reviews were undertaken by the Swan District Office, the Internal Assurance
Directorate of the DET and Peter Burgess, an independent investigator.

3.57 The following reports were considered by the Investigation Reference Group:

 Initial report on the BWP by the Swan District Finance and Administration
Officer, 17 November 2005 (Borger Report).

 Internal Assurance Directorate of the DET audit of the BWP Preliminary
Report 13 December 2005.

 Peter Burgess investigation of the BWP December 2005.

171 Second Submission from the DET, August 2007, p2.
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 Internal Assurance Directorate special Audit Investigation report January
2006.

3.58 The audits and investigations brought to light many serious deficiencies in the
financial and contract management of the BWP. These are outlined below.

Discussion of audit findings and Borger Report findings

3.59 On or about 17 November 2005, Gerry Borger, the Swan District Finance and
Administration Officer, provided a report about the BWP to Mr Garnaut. This report
was commissioned in October 2005. The report indicated, amongst other things, that
there were deficiencies in the management of the BWP and primarily that, from a
financial perspective, there did not appear to be a clear understanding of the financial
responsibilities of the various parties involved.172

3.60 The report identified:

i) that expenditure of the BWP was greater than the income;

ii) most invoices had no information as to what the BSHS was being charged for,
which was a breach of internal control as it would be impossible to verify that
the invoice is correct and the goods and services have been performed;

iii) BWP expenditure included payment to Hurson for accommodation cost of
$40,000. The report noted that this raised questions, including, how many
houses were involved? What was the length of the lease, and whether the
lease was in the BSHS’s name or Hurson’s?;

iv) the invoice for accommodation expenses of $16,500 was not numbered and
while it said it was a tax invoice it did not meet the Australian Taxation
Office’s requirement as the Australian Business Number (ABN) was not
included on the invoice;

v) from the payments for accommodation and many others for food, groceries,
personal items, medications and clothes it seemed that accommodation related
to full board. It was unusual for a school to assume responsibility for these
expenses;

vi) payment of 22 Police Clearance applications for Hurson staff. Normal
procedure for DET staff was that they paid for their own police clearance;

vii) the BSHS’s overall financial position was grim – the BSHS’s unpaid accounts
were far greater than its bank balance. The BSHS would be contravening the
DET policy that creditors get paid within 30 days; and
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viii) the criteria required should the BWP continue in 2006 to maintain financial
control.

3.61 In response to this report the DET advised the Committee that the District Finance
Officer:

a) over the subsequent nine months, worked extensively with the Registrars of
the BSHS and Mr Hammond to address matters identified in the report and
subsequent audits;

b) regularly attended to the BSHS, to the exclusion of other schools, to meet with
Mr Hammond and Mr Taylor, Supplementary Deputy Principal; and

c) together with Mr Taylor, Supplementary Deputy Principal, endeavoured to
work with Mr Hammond for the specific purpose of regularising the finances
and management of the BWP.173

3.62 On 13 December 2005 the ‘audit/investigation report into alleged discrepancies in the
financial management of the Balga Works Project at Balga Senior High School’
prepared by Allan Jones, Manager, Corruption Prevention Risk Management, Internal
Assurance Directorate, DET, was presented to Mr Garnaut. This audit commenced in
late November 2005. The objective and scope of the audit/investigation was to
determine whether BSHS was compliant with DET policies and procedures in the
financial management of the allocated funds.

3.63 The audit was conducted to reveal:

 how the initial business contact between BSHS and MITS was enacted;

 what processes were taken to establish the bona fides of the applicants;

 how the tendering process was actioned;

 what processes were used when choosing the second company Hurson;

 how the second tendering process was actioned; and

 the business policies, processes and procedures utilised by the BSHS.

3.64 The audit/investigation reported that without further examination of financial
documents relating to the financial management of the BSHS and the ability to
interview staff it was unable to provide a definitive answer as to whether the financial
management of the BSHS was conducted in accordance with the Financial

172 Ibid, p2.
173 Ibid, p2
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Management in Schools Policy and Procedures Manual. However, the Internal
Assurance Directorate recommended that a number of questions be answered,
including:

 Did the BWP process go for tender in accordance with the required protocols?
If not, why not?

 Was a formal/legal contract signed between the DET and/or BSHS and MITS,
the original contractor? If so, who has that contract? If not, why not?

 Was the MOU between BSHS and MITS a legally binding document?

 Was the first contractor MITS a registered RTO?

 Who chose the second contractor (Hurson)? When and why?

 Did the use of the second contractor go to tender? If not, why not?

 MITS had gone into liquidation; was the second contractor (Hurson) chosen
before or after this event?

 Was there a contract between BSHS and Hurson? If so, who has it? If not,
why not?

 Who was the CEO/Owner of Hurson?

 Was the second contractor Hurson a registered RTO?

 Hurson had an ABN number 57 097 363 285 but had now ceased to operate as
a company; is the school aware of this? If not, why not?

 Invoices now submitted to the school under the name Hurson bear an ABN
number that does not refer to that company; was the school aware of this?

 The ABN currently used by Hurson (47 440 726 959) was in fact the ABN of
a Family Trust; was the school aware of this?

 Was the DET allowed to pay monies to a Family Trust?

3.65 The audit/investigation also reported that without examination of further relevant
documentation relating to the BWP tendering processes and the ability to interview
staff involved in the process it was unable to provide a definitive answer on the
question as to whether the actions of BSHS in relation to the BWP met the standards
of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 and the State Supply Commission
(SSC). However, the Internal Assurance Directorate recommended that the following
questions be answered:
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 An examination of Financial Reporting via Electronic Data Access system
(FREDA) indicates rather a high expenditure by BSHS on mobile telephones,
with $18,560.38 expended and only $1966.86 received for private calls. This
left a balance of $16,593.52 for business calls on mobile telephones. Who
authorised this expenditure and why?

 Why has BSHS been using account D6260 to pay a varied number of
suppliers, which is non-compliant with DET procurement processes? Who
authorised the use of this account?

 Why was the BSHS budget not correctly finalised on time? Why was no
action taken to rectify this problem?

 An examination of the FREDA indicates that the school reserve account has
insufficient funds to sustain a school of this size. Why was no action taken to
rectify this problem?

 BSHS ‘unallocated’ budget is in the negative. Why was no action taken to
rectify this problem?

3.66 The report stated that “the investigation into the complaint of possible discrepancies
in the financial management of the BWP indicates a number of unresolved issues
relating to the management of the BWP and other financial issues relating to school
management need to be resolved.”174 These issues were referred to an external
investigation for further action.

Burgess report

3.67 The Investigation Reference Group engaged an independent qualified investigator,
Mr Peter Burgess, in late November 2005 to undertake an investigation with the
following terms of reference:175

 verify the sequence of events and facts relating to the preparation and signing
of the MOU;

 verify the sequence of events and facts subsequent to the signing of the MOU;

 verify the issues raised in correspondence from Bird Cameron Partners
(28 October 2005);

174 Corruption Prevention Risk Management, Internal Assurance Directorate, DET, Audit/Investigation
Report into alleged discrepancies in the financial management of the Balga Works Project at Balga
Senior High School, 13 December 2005, p3.

175 Second Submission from the DET, August 2007, Attachment D.
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 verify the role of Mr Michael Carton in Balga Works, with reference to MITS
and any other relevant company or service provider; and

 identify whether the services the subject of the MOU have been provided
from an alternative source and at what cost.

3.68 Mr Peter Burgess presented his report on 21 December 2005 ‘Investigation Balga
Works Program Department of Education and Training’. This report included a
record of interviews with Mr Hammond, Mr Michael Carton and relevant DET staff
along with a consideration of the documents and context of the signing of the MOU.176

The report concluded that:177

 it appeared MITS approached Mr Hammond in May 2004 about the MITS
program;

 Mr Michael Carton travelled to BSHS between ten and 12 times in 2004. Mr
Michael Carton’s work appeared to have been a mixture of business
development work for MITS while preparing the facilities at the BSHS for
commencement of the MITS program at the BSHS;

 the liquidators statement ‘in 14 February 2005 MITS and BSHS entered into a
MOU which was stated to be binding on the parties’ was not able to be
substantiated by Mr Hammond and Mr Michael Carton. In addition it was
claimed Mr Hammond was coerced by Mr McQuay to sign the MOU;

 the copy of the MOU Mr McQuay received did not have Mr Hammond’s
comment ‘not agreed to waiting state tender instructions’ or his signature
under the comments. It was not possible to conclusively state when
Mr Hammond marked both attachments in the manner he did.

 the MOU was signed by Mr Hammond and Mr Michael Carton and a copy
sent by facsimile to Mr McQuay by Mr Michael Carton prior to Mr Hammond
and Mr Michael Carton meeting Mr di Pietro on 14 February 2005;

 there was insufficient supporting documentation for six MITS invoices
presented and paid on 14 February for a total of $59,400. Each of the invoices
had a purchase order form signed by either Mark or Michael Carton: the
former could be a conflict of interest while the later would be unauthorised;
and

176 Second Submission from the DET, August 2007, p4.
177 Peter Burgess, Investigation Balga Works Program DET, December 2005, pp1-2.
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 there were sufficient grounds to undertake an immediate audit of the BWP
with a specific emphasis on Hurson due to apparent irregular practices
concerning submission of their invoices to the BSHS.

3.69 The investigation also found that:178

 between May 2005 and 1 December 2005 Hurson had been paid a gross
amount of $946,441;

 Hurson had not had an ABN since 30 March 2005 and provided an ABN for
Carton & Day Family Trust on all invoices presented to the BSHS;

 there was minimal documentation provided to justify expenditure;

 there was no written contract or agreement between any party and the BSHS
with regard to the work Mr Michael Carton was doing for the BWP; and

 the BWP reflected expenditure of $1,136,068.66 from 1 January 2005 to 16
December 2005.

Findings of the Burgess report refuted

3.70 Mr John McQuay and Mr Thomas Sturt, former directors of MITS have submitted to
the Committee that they refute the findings of the investigation into the signing of the
MOU undertaken by Mr Burgess and the involvement of MITS in the BWP.179

3.71 The Committee notes that Mr Burgess did not interview Mr McQuay or Mr Sturt as
part of his investigation. The Burgess report notes that it had been intended to
interview Mr McQuay and Mr Sturt by telephone, however, this was not possible as
Mr McQuay did not return the message left for him:

When Mr McQuay’s mobile telephone number was dialled he did not
answer: a voice mail message was left explaining the reason for the
call, with a request for him to contact the Investigator. Mr McQuay
did not contact the Investigator so it was not possible to put a series
of questions to him.180

3.72 Mr McQuay and Mr Sturt have submitted to the Committee that they were not
contacted by the Investigator.

178 Peter Burgess, Investigation Balga Works Program DET, December 2005, pp117-118.
179 Submission No 20 from Thomas Sturt, 16 November 2007 and Submission No 21 from John McQuay, 14

November 2007.
180 Peter Burgess, Investigation Balga Works Program DET, December 2005, pp6-7.
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3.73 Mr McQuay and Mr Sturt submitted that from the end of May 2004 Mr Michael
Carton spent much time in Western Australia setting up the program and from October
2004 a MITS office was set up within the BSHS and that MITS was employing staff
to set up the program.181

3.74 In October 2004 it was agreed that a pilot program should be established, that the
Swan Works position paper that was being developed was to be based on the MITS
training program, and that an MOU should be established.182

3.75 Mr Sturt submitted that Mr Garnaut, as part of the work of the Swan Works Steering
Committee requested an MOU to be drawn up to clearly outline the responsibilities of
the parties, and for line management responsibility to rest with the principal of BSHS.
Mr Michael Carton drew up the MOU.183

3.76 Mr McQuay submitted that Mr Hammond advised him in December 2005 that the
project would begin in February 2005 and payments would be made to MITS.184 Mr
McQuay submitted that an agreement was discussed and that Mr Hammond had
advised him that he and Mr Michael Carton would arrange this.

3.77 Mr McQuay denied that he had any contact with Mr Hammond and in no way put any
pressure on Mr Hammond to sign the MOU:

Contrary to the report in the Burgess investigation, I had not had any
contact with Hammond and certainly had no to [sic] way to pressure
him, and the story about the Bank is nonsense as I was always the
Banker myself and if I recall we may have had an overdraft of
$25,000 which was covered by my guarantee.185

3.78 Mr Sturt submits that he was present at the BSHS on 14 February 2005 when the
MOU was signed. The schedules were not struck out.

3.79 Mr McQuay submitted that sometime later, maybe the following day Mr Michael
Carton advised him that Mr Hammond had written across the attachment on his copy
of the MOU that he did not agree with the payment terms and that it would have to go
to tender.186

181 Submission No 21 from John McQuay, 14 November 2007, p2.
182 Ibid.
183 Submission No 20 from Thomas Sturt, 16 November 2007, pp2-3.
184 Submission No 21 from John McQuay, 14 November 2007, pp.2-3.
185 Ibid, p3.
186 Ibid.
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Internal Assurance Directorate special audit

3.80 On 30 January 2006 the Internal Assurance Directorate of the DET presented a report
‘Special Audit Investigation Balga Senior High School Balga Works Program’.187

This was a financial audit of the BWP with a primary focus on payments made to
Hurson. The report found that:

 No formal contractual arrangement existed between the BSHS and Hurson for
the delivery of the BWP; therefore it was not clear on what basis payments
were made to Hurson.

 Most invoices from Hurson had minimal descriptions and/or details;
consequently monitoring of claims by Mr Hammond was ineffective.

 Payments were not made in accordance with internal control procedures as per
the Financial Management in Schools Policy and Procedures Manual.

 There were potential conflicts of interest by DET employees.

 DET employees involved in the BWP failed to comply with SSC and DET
policies and this may have resulted in misconduct or a breach of discipline as
per the DET’s Staff Conduct policy. Based on the limited documentation
provided and limited investigation conducted, it is not possible to determine
the guilt or innocence of staff on the ‘balance of probabilities’. However, the
audit indicates the possibility that one or more persons involved in the BWP
may be guilty of breach of discipline or misconduct.

3.81 The report recommended that:

 The BSHS should formally request the assistance of the DET’s contract
services branch to prepare appropriate SSC approval and commencement of a
formal contract for the supply of services to the program. No further
payments to Hurson should be made under existing arrangements until a
formal agreement had been entered into.

 Future payments resulting from the contractual arrangements recommended
above should strictly follow the policies and procedures of the Financial
Management in Schools Manual.

 Due to the risks associated with the program, performance management
processes should be established to ensure proper financial management.

187 Second Submission from the DET, August 2007, p5.
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 From the information obtained through the internal investigation and audit,
there was a possibility that persons involved in the BWP may be guilty of a
breach of discipline or misconduct. The matter should be referred to the
Manager, Complaints Management Unit for his consideration and further
action.

3.82 The overall conclusion of the report was that:

It is not possible to ascertain the veracity of payments to Hurson Pty
Ltd due to financial mismanagement of the Balga Works Program.
No formal contractual arrangement exists and the basis for payments
cannot be determined. This is compounded further by insufficient or
inadequate documentation for the payments made. As a consequence,
one or more persons involved in the Balga Works Program may be
guilty of a breach of discipline or misconduct.188

Committee comment

3.83 The Committee notes:

a) the numerous extensive investigations undertaken at the direction of
Mr Garnaut and the Investigation Reference Group into BSHS and the BWP;
and

b) that the findings of the audits and investigations undertaken showed
extraordinary misconduct and deficiencies in the financial and contract
management of the BWP that required immediate response.

Further considerations by the Investigation Reference Group

3.84 The Investigation Reference Group also considered a report prepared by BSHS ‘Balga
Works Program Progress Report (Dec 2005) and Forward Planning 2006, Draft’ and
addendums to this report provided by Mr Hammond, which outlined the achievements
of 2005 and proposed recommendations for the 2006 operation of the BWP, including
funding. This included:189

 enrolment based staffing for 2006, funded by the DET through FTE
conversion;

 the application of additional multipliers to cover the costs associated with
running the program for 50 weeks not 40 and with an extended day running at
2200 minutes not 1600 minutes per week;

188 Internal Assurance Directorate, Special Audit Investigation, BSHS Balga Works Program, January 2006,
p3.
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 Hurson and the P & C were sourcing funding and staffing support from
external agencies that were participating in the BWP;

 a MOU is being planned and drawn up with several external agencies, both
State and Commonwealth, for a pro rata basis of funding and staffing support
for the BWP, to be advanced in the first part of 2006;

 a proposal that a new position of Balga Works Registrar be created.

3.85 In addendum 2 to the report, Mr Hammond advised Mr Garnaut that the BSHS was
concerned about its capacity to maintain adequate processes for dealing with the
complex financial and accounting arrangements and accountability associated with the
BWP. Mr Hammond advised Mr Garnaut that:

the effect as Balga Works has progressed in 2005 and grows into
2006, is that Balga SHS finds it increasingly difficult to handle the
demands of managing the finances of the Program …. the bottom line
is that Balga SHS no longer feels able or appropriate to accept the
responsibility for the Program’s mounting financial accounting and
accountability demands.190

Therefore, DET was made aware of Mr Hammond’s financial accountability
concerns.

DET decision to keep the BWP running

3.86 The Investigation Reference Group identified key accountability and contract
management issues. The Investigation Reference Group also identified and noted the
following:191

 that there was strong advocacy for the BWP from agencies including the
Police, Juvenile Justice, DCD, Crime Prevention Council, Ministry of Justice,
local magistrates and the Smith Family;

 that the P & C was currently liaising with a range of government and non-
government agencies to attract financial support for the program for 2006;

189 Second Submission from the DET, August 2007, p3 and Attachment G.
190 Second Submission from the DET, August 2007, Attachment G, email from Mr Hammond, Principal,

BSHS, to Mr Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, dated 7 December 2005,
Addendum 2.

191 Briefing note from John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, to Paul Albert,
Director General, DET, 21 December 2005 and ‘Advice/Briefing notes for the Minister for Education and
Training Regarding Investigation into the Balga Works Program’, from Keith Newton, Executive
Director (Teaching and Learning) North, 21 December 2005.
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 the work of the supplementary deputy principal, Mr Taylor, was beginning to
impact in bringing about improved planning, management, and accountability
practices at BSHS;

 Mr Hammond’s vision for the program was to have outside agencies provide
all of the supplementary funding for the program, whilst DET would provide
enrolment driven resourcing only. Mr Hammond claimed that, through the
P & C he was close to getting formal agreement from a range of agencies for
the supplementary funding; and

 Mr Hammond’s reputation.

3.87 It was determined that given its obligations to existing students and dealings with
other government agencies, BSHS was committed to delivering the BWP in
Semester 1, 2006.192

3.88 Mr Keith Newton, the former Executive Director (Teaching and Learning) North
advised the Committee on the rational of the decision of the Investigation Reference
Group to keep the BWP running in 2006:

Mr Newton: At that point, there was a major concern for the students
who were already in the program that if the department stopped it
while it carried out all those investigations, and then found everything
to be okay, mainly the financial arrangements, we would have been
putting a large number of kids at risk. So, the judgement was to
continue with the program while we carried out a range of
investigations, and each time we went further in the investigations we
uncovered more and more difficulties, until we reached the point
where it was no longer tenable and we had to close it.

And:

Mr Newton: The reference group was of the view that the findings in
the audit report, if the school was brought into line, it could be made
to work, and we were conscious of the view that there was a large
group of students that would be significantly disadvantaged if we did
not. An educational decision about the welfare of some students was
of prime concern, with a view that with proper management, it could
be made to work.193

192 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p7.
193 Keith Newton, A/Deputy Director General, Schools, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 19 October 2007, p8

and p12.
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3.89 The Committee was advised that the Investigation Reference Group did not inquire
into the educational abilities of the service provider as no concerns had been raised at
that time:

Hon KEN TRAVERS: But surely establishing their educational
abilities would have been fundamental, because if it is about
protecting the children, surely making sure that they can actually
deliver the educational programs would have been fundamental to
that decision before you allowed it to continue. To allow it to
continue with a bad education provider could be even more
detrimental to the students than closing the program, could it not?

Mr Newton: The provision of education for those students was vested
in the school. The school had the responsibility for the educational
program. So, if the school is using anybody else to provide services
for educational purposes, the school needs to be overseeing that and
assured and accountable for the educational outcomes of the students.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: But in early 2006, at the time of the
investigation reference group, the school had shown itself to be
incapable of doing that, had it not?

Mr Newton: Well, the school had shown itself to be somewhat
deficient in arriving at financial arrangements, but it had not
demonstrated anything about its educational capacity.

Hon PETER COLLIER: How would you have determined that,
though? Were there any checks in terms of the outcomes in the
literacy and numeracy component of the program?

Mr Newton: The district director oversights the school through the
school review process and had not drawn any attention to me, to my
knowledge, about deficiencies in the educational program. That is
not to say all students were achieving at optimal levels - there would
be some students who were not - but it was not drawn to my attention,
or to that committee’s attention, that there were faults with the
educational program. There were certainly faults with the financial
management of the program.

And further:

Hon KEN TRAVERS: If you have got those problems in terms of the
financial arrangements, would not that potentially alert you to the
fact that you needed to make sure that the educational programs were
also being delivered? I would have thought that it would be difficult
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to separate the financial outcomes from the educational outcomes. If
there are serious problems with the financial outcomes, it would
certainly make me question whether there were not problems with the
educational outcomes as well. Because of the fact that they are
running ahead, they are trying [to] get too far advanced, they may be
cutting corners. If they are cutting corners on the finances, they may
be cutting on the educational side of it to try and achieve an overall
goal.

Mr Newton: Anecdotally, there was a lot of evidence to say that
these students were doing quite well within the program, but we did
not commission a particular review of the educational program, that
is true. That would have been done through the normal school review
process.194

3.90 The DET agreed to provide sufficient funding for the BWP to operate for Semester 1,
2006, as long as contractual requirements could be met. This would allow sufficient
time for the BSHS to negotiate supplementary resources through relevant agencies. If
the BSHS failed to attract the necessary resource support, the DET would consider
program closure for Semester 2, 2006.195

3.91 The DET advised the Committee that the Investigation Reference Group adopted the
position that they were supportive of the BWP continuing into the immediate future
but that this was dependant on:196

i) further restrictions on the resourcing of the BWP;

ii) obtaining written confirmation from other agencies involved about their
financial commitment to the BWP;

iii) commencing the winding back of the BWP;

iv) establishing contracts for arrangements already in place; and

v) payments to Hurson or any other private provider being approved in writing in
accordance with appropriate process and practices.

3.92 The Investigation Reference Group determined that:197

194 Ibid, p9 and p10.
195 ‘Advice/Briefing notes for the Minister for Education and Training Regarding Investigation into the

Balga Works Program’, from Keith Newton, Executive Director (Teaching and Learning) North, DET,
21 December 2005.

196 Second Submission from the DET, August 2007, p4.
197 Balga Works Investigation Reference Group, Minutes of Meeting, 6 February 2006.
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 a framework for operation needed to be established immediately and no
further payments were to be made until that was in place;

 enrolments and attendance must be checked regularly;

 BWP would continue to be monitored through Mr Hammond’s Performance
Management; and

 a breach of discipline or misconduct regarding the management of the
program was to be referred to the Complaints Management Unit.

3.93 On 7 February 2006, Mr Garnaut wrote to Mr Hammond and advised him that:198

a) a contract for the delivery of the BWP for semester one must be established
immediately, with aim to have the contract completed by the end of the week;

b) a plan for the BWP for semester one must be established immediately,
including a plan for income and expenditure, with aim to have the contract
completed by the end of the week;

c) there were to be no further payments to Hurson until the contract and plan
were ratified;

d) professional advice and support would continue to be provided from
Mr Borger to assist with financial management issues;

e) non-salary items are not to be paid from the BWP budget (a list of the items
not to be paid from BWP budget will be provided to Mr Hammond); and

f) Mr Hammond’s performance management agreement is to include a goal
relating to the effective management of the BWP, specifically appropriate
planning, budgeting, contractual processes, and financial management
consistent with the DET’s policies and guidelines.

3.94 It was determined that Mr Garnaut would provide written directives to Mr Hammond
regarding drafting of contracts and payment of invoices. Mr McCaffrey would
provide officers to assist the Registrars at BSHS if required to ascertain which
invoices should be paid. Mr Taylor, Mr Hammond and Mr Di Pietro were to liaise to
draw up a contract for BWP for Semester 1, 2006 which would clearly articulate the

198 Second Submission from the DET, August 2007, Attachment M.
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arrangements for the BWP and also to prepare a more formal contract for the future of
the program to meet SSC guidelines.199

3.95 Mr Garnaut summarised the decision of the investigation reference group as follows:

Hon KEN TRAVERS: I just want to go back to a comment you made
earlier in terms of when you said Merv Hammond was not involved in
the decision making to continue the program - right?

Mr Garnaut: Yes.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: That was correct, was it not, in 2006?

Mr Garnaut: No. He sought permission to continue into 2006, but
he was not involved as a decision maker in the continuation of the
program for ’06.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: That was made at a higher level.

Mr Garnaut: Yes.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: At the reference group, the investigation
reference group.

Mr Garnaut: Made at that level.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: Who then was charged with the responsibility
for implementing the program once the decision was taken to
continue the program?

Mr Garnaut: Well, as principal of the school, Merv Hammond had
responsibility for implementing all programs in his school, including
the Balga Works program.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: Right, so once it was ticked off by the
reference group, it went back to Merv Hammond.

Mr Garnaut: To implement.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: To implement.

199 Briefing Note from John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, to Paul Albert,
Director General, DET and Keith Newton, Executive Director, Teaching and Learning, (North), DET,
‘Briefing for the Director General regarding the Balga Works Investigation Reference Group’s Findings
as of 23 January 2006’, 25 January 2006.
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Mr Garnaut: With the supplementary support from Gary Taylor and
with significant additional support from the district finance and
administration officer.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: Was there any formal instructions given to
Mr Hammond at that time that his normal powers as a principal to be
in complete control of his school were constrained in any way in
regards to the implementation of this program?

Mr Garnaut: The directives given to Mr Hammond were to operate
within the budget as articulated in the program plan and to operate
within department policies and guidelines.200

3.96 Mr Newton advised the Committee that:

Hon KEN TRAVERS: I just want to go - in terms of when the
decisions would have been taken to - whether to continue the program
in 2006, was there any assessment or - made of what actual programs
Hurson was delivering?

Mr Newton: The programs that Hurson’s ultimately ended up
delivering in 2006 were part of the plan that Merv Hammond had as
to how he saw this going in 2006. So, it was not an audit as such of
the programs, but there was a check on the plan to see if that was a
viable plan. Does that not help?

Hon KEN TRAVERS: I am not sure I understand.

Mr Newton: Mr Hammond was asked to provide a plan for how this
program would work in 2006 and the financial obligations that went
alongside it. So, inside that was his plan - this would be what the
students would be doing and this would be the cost associated with it
and this is where he was intending to get the money to be able to fund
the program. Now, he was asked to provide that in January - well, he
was actually asked to provide it December 2005 in readiness for
2006. But we had further discussions with him in January 2006
because the plan he provided at the end of 2005 was not sufficiently
convincing that this could be achieved within the financial
arrangements he had put in place.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: Why was it not sufficiently convincing - that
he was trying to do too much for the amount of money that was there?

200 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
p27.
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Mr Newton: Yes. It was an overextension and overestimation of
what revenues or - sorry, I will start again. It was an overestimation
we believe on what revenues he thought he was going to get and an
overexpenditure of what he thought he would be able to achieve, and
so he was asked to go back and have another look at that plan to see
if it was actually viable given what he was trying to achieve.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: So the plan that he finally brought back that
was used to make the decision to go ahead, was that then sustainable?
Was that only relying on department resources, or did it still require
resources from elsewhere?

Mr Newton: Merv had two views. He had one plan that required and
could be achieved within department resources. But he always had
the view that if he could achieve access to other resources he could
expand that. And so the number of students he eventually planned for
was reduced to what he could do inside the department’s resources-
or when I say the department’s resources, those resources his school
would normally have access to.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: But the decision was made - it was the
investigation group that made the decision or the - it was not Merv
Hammond that was making the decision to continue the program at
that point, was it? It was the department that was making the
decision to continue that program.

Mr Newton: The department made the decision to allow
Mr Hammond to continue with the program on the basis that it was
going to be able to be done with - inside the normal resources of the
school.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: So, but that is what I am saying. So it was the
investigation group that was making the assessment about whether or
not the resources that were available and the program that was going
to be delivered with those resources was viable in terms of the
sustainability.

Mr Newton: Yes.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: And that was purely relying on departmental
resources.

Mr Newton: Yes.201

201 Keith Newton, A/Deputy Director General, Schools, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 19 October 2007, p20.
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Committee comment

3.97 The Committee notes that the Investigation Reference Group wanted the program to
continue and succeed and considered the program salvageable. Whilst they
recognised that the BWP had obvious management and financial issues, they also
considered that there were students with high needs in the BWP that they did not want
to abandon.

3.98 The Committee notes that the Investigation Reference Group focus was on the MOU
and the financial management of the BWP, not on the performance of the service
provider. The Investigation Reference Group did not inquire into the educational
abilities of the service provider or the performance of the service provider on the
ground.

3.99 In allowing the BWP to continue, the Investigation Reference Group recommended
restrictions be placed on the resourcing of the BWP and directed that the program be
wound back. Further performance management of Mr Hammond was to continue
with additional support to be provided by the Deputy Principal and from the District
Finance and Administration Officer.

3.100 The Committee notes that this decision was made despite the fact that Mr Hammond
had made it clear to the Investigation Reference Group that more funding was required
and that BSHS no longer felt able or appropriate to accept the responsibility for the
BWP mounting financial accounting and accountability demands.

3.101 The Committee is of the view that the Investigation Reference Group decided to keep
the BWP running without implementing any real change to address the problems
identified. Of most significance, both Mr Hammond and Hurson were allowed to
continue to run the BWP. The Committee is of the view that the additional support
provided by the Deputy Principal and from the District Finance and Administration
Officer was not an adequate response to address the severity of the problems
identified.

3.102 The Committee can find no evidence that shows that the issues identified in the audits
were addressed or resolved by the Investigation Reference Group or how it was
intended they be resolved. This includes the overexpenditure on the BWP versus its
income, the large payments made to Hurson, the negative bank balance of the BSHS,
and lack of adherence to the DET protocols.

3.103 The Committee is of the view that the response of the Investigation Reference Group
to allow the program to continue indicates that there was a failure to recognise the
seriousness of the problems being experienced with the BWP. The DET was aware of
extraordinary misconduct and deficiencies in management at BSHS at that time.
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THE BALGA WORKS PROGRAM IN 2006

DET funding of the BWP

3.104 As stated above at paragraph 2.99 the DET was funding the BWP education
component via the conversion of FTEs. BSHS had made salary FTE conversion
requests for Semester 1, 2005 (in September 2004). In Semester 2, 2005 the BSHS
requested further salary FTE conversion202 to cope with the rapid growth in the BWP,
with enrolment numbers in Semester 2, 2005 rising to 150 from 48 in Semester 1,
2005.203

3.105 During 2005 enrolment figures were forwarded to the Swan Education District Office
by Mr Hammond on a month by month basis. The Swan Education District Office
Manager Operations worked with the DET Manager of Staffing to facilitate an FTE
conversion to salary pool for the number of students involved. This conversion started
to flow to the school in June 2005 for Terms 1 and 2, 2005 and in July, August and
November 2005 for Terms 3 and 4, 2005.204

3.106 The FTE conversions are based on a complex formula (see information provided by
the DET attached at Appendix 7). For instance, the following information was
provided to the Committee:

The FTE conversions in 2005 were based on the following enrolment figures:205

 On 2 June 2005 the FTE conversion paid was based on student enrolments of
53 for Term 1, and 120 for Term 2, with an average for the full year of 43
students.

 On 11 August 2005 the FTE conversion paid was based on 94 FTE students
for Semester 2, 2005. (the total Year 11 VET students plus BWP students
was 178 for Semester 2.206 The enrolment figures for Term 1, 2005 was 53
full time Year 11 VET students; and Term 2, 2005 131.4 full time Year 11
VET students.)

 The Semester 1, 2005 average was 92.2 full time Year 11 VET students and
Semester 2, 2005 was 158 full time Year 11 VET students.

202 Eighth Submission from the DET, November 2007, p2.
203 Melissa Gillett, Deputy Principal, BSHS/Manager Operations, DET, Transcript of Evidence,

3 December 2007, p11.
204 Fifth Submission from the DET, September 2007, p4.
205 Letter from Melissa Gillett, DET, 18 December 2007, Appendix 13, Letter from Melissa Gillett, Manager

Operations, DET to Milan Trifunovic, Manager, School Resourcing, DET, 11 August 2005.
206 Ibid, Appendix 6c, Staffing Directorate, BSHS Staffing Allocation Chart - Year 2005, DET,

14 December 2005.
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3.107 The BSHS applied for additional funding from the conversion of the BSHS’s FTE on
the basis that the BWP was an intensive program over a 50 week year rather than the
normal 40 week school year.207 The application for use of the multiplier was made in
October 2005 (just prior to the Liquidators claim in relation to the MOU).

3.108 Two multipliers were applied for:

i) The annual program multiplier was based on attendance at the BSHS for 50
weeks of the year versus 40 weeks. The multiplier applied was 1.25.208

ii) The weekly program multiplier was based on attendance for 2250 minutes per
week as apposed to 1600 minutes per week. This time is based on the actual
length of each day for five days per week. The multiplier applied was 1.4.209

3.109 The multipliers were applied to the conversion payments in Semester 2, 2005. The
BSHS was made aware, however, that the use of the multiplier would be reviewed for
2006.210 As stated by Melissa Gillett, DET:

Ms Gillett: Most of the documentation, like the approval on the final
amount that had an agreement in principle back from staffing, from
Geraldine Farr, said that there would be a review for how things
would be the following year, so there was nothing fixed one way or
the other.211

3.110 The Committee notes that there was a delay in receiving the FTE conversions in
Semester 2, 2005 - the hold up being from the Schools Resourcing Branch.212 The
Committee was advised that the reluctance of the Staffing Directorate to provide
additional funding in November 2005 was based on concerns around the
accountability practices at the BSHS for the FTE conversions and the employment of
an external provider.213

207 Letter from Peter McCaffrey, Deputy Director General, Finance and Administration, DET,
2 November 2007, p2.

208 Eighth Submission from the DET, November 2007, Attachment C.
209 Ibid.
210 Letter from Melissa Gillett, Manager Operations, DET, 18 December 2007, Appendix 20, Email from

John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET to Mervyn Hammond, Principal, BSHS,
31 August 2005.

211 Melissa Gillett, Deputy Principal, BSHS/Manager Operations, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 3 December
2007, p11.

212 Letter from Melissa Gillett, Manager Operations, DET, 18 December 2007, p1 and Appendix 3, Email
from Melissa Gillett, Project Manager, Education Policy and Planning, DET to John Garnaut, District
Director, Swan Education District, 21 October 2005.

213 Letter from Peter McCaffrey, Deputy Director General, Finance and Administration, DET, 2 November
2007, p2.
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3.111 The use of the annual and weekly program multiplier was discontinued in 2006 and
the BWP was funded on a flat student population rate of 100 FTE students.214 The
Staffing Directorate had adopted the position that one FTE was worth one FTE
regardless of whether it was for a 40 or 50 week year.215 Table 1 outlines the FTE
salary conversion payments received by the BSHS for the BWP. (The FTE
conversions are based on a complex formula. See information provided by the DET
attached at Appendix 7).

Table 1

FTE Salary Conversion Payments216

Date FTE Amount Multiplier applied

8 June 2005 3.54 $185 120.00 weekly

12 August 2005 6.34 $331 240.00 weekly and annual

2 November 2005 4.0 $209 040.00 weekly and annual

21 November 2005 2.93 $153 140.00 weekly and annual

3 March 2006 8.7 $248 875.00 none

23 June 2006 8.7 $248 875.00 none

3.112 The Committee notes that the ‘BWP Progress Report (Dec 2005) and Forward
Planning 2006 DRAFT’ prepared by the BSHS that was considered by the
Investigation Reference Group on 16 December 2005, recommended, amongst other
things, that in order for the BWP to continue to meet the outcomes sought for 2006,
the funding multipliers of 50/40 and 2200/1600, which recognised the full-time wrap-
around nature of the program, needed to be applied to the FTE component and hence
be continued at current levels in the 2006 budget. In the budget attached to the report
it was evident that shortfalls would occur if the multiplier was not applied:

During the trial period the additional multipliers applied to cover the
costs associated with running this program for 50 weeks, not 40, and
with an extended day running at 2200 minutes, not 1600 minutes, per
week, were found to be essential for the Program’s operation. The
application of the multipliers is not a one-off. This is a factual
requirement of the Program and reflect real and ongoing costs.

214 Eighth Submission from the DET, November 2007, p4.
215 Letter from Peter McCaffrey, Deputy Director General, Finance and Administration, DET,

2 November 2007, p2.
216 Eighth Submission from the DET, November 2007.
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The two relevant multipliers – 50/40 and 2200/1600 – have been
granted in 2005. We seek the current reapplication of these
multipliers beyond this school year and day, to guarantee the viability
of Balga Works and to allow the Program’s development to continue.

…

The service provider and Balga P&C are well advanced in sourcing
funding and staffing support from several external agencies that are
participating in the Program. When and as such funding is realised,
it is anticipated that the multipliers will no longer be essential to the
program (refer to Memoranda of Understanding, below). As this
occurs, DET will be advised and multipliers can be removed.217

Shortfall of funds for the BSHS and the BWP

3.113 The Swan District Education Office became aware that the BWP was experiencing
financial problems from mid 2005. The Registrar of BSHS advised Melissa Gillett at
the Swan District Education Office in May and June 2005 that the cost centre was in
arrears and currently running in deficit.218 This was raised with Mr Hammond:

Ms Gillett: … That said, even once the amount was known, aside
from the delay, I had communicated to the school what amount they
could expect based on that total of 16.81 FTE. At that point, I
remember in an email to Merv saying, “This number’s not as big as
the number that you’ve got on your budget, so is there a problem?”
He had identified that there was a shortfall around that time anyway.
I am not sure what impact that had directly on 2006, but certainly
that is when it became clear, probably for the first time at the district
level, that there was a concern about whether the funding was
appropriate or not. That is when John Garnaut made contact with his
senior officers centrally. That may well have had a big impact on
2006 figures as well.219

3.114 Mr Garnaut also raised this issue with Mr Hammond and instructed him to work with
DET staff to ‘get on top of the issue quickly’.220

217 Second Submission from the DET, August 2007, Attachment E.
218 Letter from Melissa Gillett, DET, 18 December 2007, Appendix 24, Emails from Michelle Green,

Registrar, BSHS, to Melissa Gillett, Swan District Education Office, 18 May 2005 and 22 June 2005.
See also letter from Melissa Gillett, Manager, Operations, DET to Neil Wilson, Manager, Staffing, DET,
1 June 2005, which refers to financial position of the school.

219 Melissa Gillett, Deputy Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 3 December 2007, p11.
220 Letter from Melissa Gillett, DET, 18 December 2007, Appendix 16, Email from John Garnaut, District

Director, Swan Education Officer, DET to Mervyn Hammond, Principal, BSHS, 19 August 2005.
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3.115 The Committee notes that the financial and contractual management concerns with the
BSHS were raised in the October 2005 audit, in particular that the expenditure of the
BWP was greater than the income and also that the overall financial position of the
BSHS was grim (see paragraph 3.60). The subsequent audits and investigations
undertaken at the direction of the Investigation Reference Group also brought to light
serious deficiencies in the financial management of the BWP.

3.116 The Committee notes that the DET were aware of the impact on the budget of the
BWP of the multiplier not being applied to the FTE conversion (refer to paragraph
3.112).

3.117 Mr Taylor submitted that the financial problems being experienced by the BWP were
exacerbated by the DET not applying the multiplier: On the issue of funding Mr
Taylor advised:

The CHAIRPERSON: Do you have an explanation for why the staff
were not being paid regularly? Did you have an understanding of
why that was?

Mr Taylor: Yes - the school simply ran out of money.

The CHAIRPERSON: Because it was not coming through from
somewhere else, or because it was badly managed or misspent?

Mr Taylor: Sometimes both, but mostly badly managed - overspent.

Hon PETER COLLIER: In what area would it have been
overspent though? The conversion of the FTEs to the salary pool
would have gone to the salaried staff employed through Hurson. How
would the school then overspend?

Mr Taylor: Because, what happened was they were relying on the
department applying what they call a multiplier, because of the
difficulty of the kids, which they actually received for a period of time.
When you do a budget based on those figures - and I did a number of
budgets for the program based on those figures - it was okay. The
money out equalled the money in. But those multipliers changed a
number of times and were withdrawn in the end, so we only actually
ended up receiving the full multiplier effect for a very short period of
time, and for the remainder of the time it was just like a normal
staffing conversion, which was impossible to manage, because you
needed extra staff to manage those sorts of kids. I mean, any special
program for at-risk kids has - I mean the behaviour centres that are
being set up now have a staffing ratio to kids of 1:2 or 1:3.
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…

Mr Taylor: With a staffing ratio like that, Balga works would have
flourished. They would have had plenty of money and it would have
been fine, and at one stage we were getting that, and we thought it
was going to be fine. The problem was that DET kept changing its
mind in terms of how much they were going to pay, so at each
gateway we were expecting a certain amount of money. That
becomes very rubbery, and in fact in the end we ended up getting
about a third of what we were expecting to get and so the school
simply ran out of money. It is simple maths.221

3.118 In late April 2006 further financial concerns relating in particular to cash reserves,
invoicing, GST compliance and cash payments were raised with the DET. These
indicated that the school was operating outside the budget of the 2006 program plan
and financial management guidelines.222

3.119 On 12 May 2006 Mr Garnaut took financial management responsibility for the BSHS
away from Mr Hammond and gave it to the deputy principal, Steven Rushforth.223

This was subsequently transferred to Mr Taylor on 7 June 2006, when Steve
Rushforth accepted a position at another District.224

3.120 The DET discovered that Hurson from April 2005 to June 2006 had a gross salary
liability of $1,056,683, of which it had paid $615,355.78 to its employees, with an
outstanding liability of $441,327.53. In addition Hurson had a liability of $95,101.50
to meet its employees superannuation guarantee obligations. Hurson had used the
unpaid money for program set-up and operating costs.225

3.121 Hurson had insufficient immediate financial resources to meet its financial obligations
to its employees.226

221 Gary Taylor, Deputy Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 1 November 2007, p13.
222 Briefing note from Keith Newton, Executive Director, Teacher and Learning North, DET, to Paul Albert

Director General, DET, ‘Financial Management Issues with Balga Works Program Education Component
Update’, 20 June 2006.

223 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
p22.

224 Supplementary Information from Keith Newton, A/Deputy Director General, Schools, DET, (undated)
and attached email from John Garnaut, District Director, Swan District Education Office, DET, to
Eric Fleming, Internal Assurance, DET, 3 July 2006.

225 Briefing note from Keith Newton, Executive Director, Teacher and Learning North, DET, to Paul Albert
Director General, DET, ‘Financial Management Issues with Balga Works Program Education Component
Update’, 20 June 2006.

226 Ibid.
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3.122 Further, BSHS had insufficient immediate financial resources to meet its obligations
to Hurson for the in-school component of the BWP for April, May and June 2006227

and had insufficient financial resources to fund normal school operations. In June
2006 the shortfall was in the vicinity of $266,000.228

3.123 From the DET point of view, Mr Hammond had failed to ensure that all relevant DET
financial and procurement policies and practices were strictly adhered to despite
ongoing advice, support and direction.229

3.124 To address the financial situation of the BSHS in mid 2006 the second semester
school grant payment was brought forward to enable BSHS to meet its normal
operating costs.230 This payment was $146,000 on 23 June 2006. The second
semester 2006 FTE salary conversion of $248,875 was also forwarded to BSHS on the
same date231 to enable the school to meet its obligation to Hurson for April, May, June
2006. The documented obligation to Hurson for this period was $256,037.82.232

3.125 Mr McCaffrey advised the Committee that he met with Mr Hammond, Mr Michael
Carton and Mr Taylor in June 2006 and gave a commitment to investigate the schools
financial position:

Mr McCaffrey: … I gave them a commitment that we would then look
at the school and have a look at how that impacted on the operations
of the school - not just the program but the school - and that if
additional funding was required to make sure that those operations
continued effectively, then that would be a decision taken when it was
investigated, and that is when I think it was around about September
that that was determined, and that was when I referred to, last time I
was here, about the $400 000, I think it was, that went out to the
school in September, but there was no money given to say, “I am
giving it to you to pay those salaries.” I was not aware of that, but it
was certainly my opinion, and I gave that advice, that if it was due to
be paid and these people had lives and commitments, they were
entitled to be paid.233

227 Ibid.
228 Ibid.
229 Ibid.
230 Ibid.
231 Letter from Peter McCaffrey, Deputy Director General, Finance and Administration, DET, 2 November

2007.
232 Briefing note from Keith Newton, Executive Director, Teacher and Learning North, DET, to Paul Albert

Director General, DET, ‘Financial Management Issues with Balga Works Program Education Component
Update’, 20 June 2006.

233 Peter McCaffrey, Deputy Director General, Finance and Administration, DET, Transcript of Evidence,
15 October 2007, pp13-14.
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3.126 Mr Hammond and Hurson reported to the DET that over expenditure had occurred as
they were confident interagency resources, state and commonwealth could be
forthcoming and sufficient to meet the shortfall. The BSHS, Hurson and P & C had
been negotiating with a range of agencies to secure outside financial support for the
BWP for an extended period.234

3.127 The DET provided direct program funding to the BWP of $150,000 on 1 September
2006 and $220,957 on 1 November 2006.235

3.128 Mr McCaffrey advised that the additional funding that was provided to the Balga
Works program was to allow it to continue so it could be phased down until
placements could be found for the students that were there.236

3.129 Mr McCaffrey advised the Committee that additional support of $250,000 was
provided to the school on 13 September 2006, not for the BWP but for the school:

Mr McCaffrey: I point out that some additional support was
provided to the school late 2006 after an analysis of how the school
had managed its finances for the whole of that year. It was found
that, in order to meet commitments that had been engaged through
the educational program, they had used other funds in the school that
perhaps were there for reserves and replacement of equipment. Mr
Garnaut arranged for Mr Borger to go out and do an analysis. I
wanted to know the implications for the school, in a financial sense,
to ensure that the kids who were in the school but not part of the
special program, had sufficient resources left to make sure the school
was still viable. I gained approval from our department to send an
additional $250 000 to the school mainly to reinstate the reserves that
the school needed for future replacement of equipment items, assets
and that type of thing. That was omitted from the original response
that we gave, mainly because we had been talking about the Balga
Works program. At the time I saw it more as a school in crisis that
needed extra support, so those additional funds were sent out late in
2006 to restore those balances.

Hon PETER COLLIER: Was it late 2006?

234 Briefing note from Keith Newton, Executive Director, Teacher and Learning North, DET, to Paul Albert
Director General, DET, ‘Financial Management Issues with Balga Works Program Education Component
Update’, 20 June 2006.

235 Western Australia, Legislative Council, Parliamentary Debates (Hansard), Wednesday, 9 May 2007,
p1911.

236 Peter McCaffrey, Deputy Director General, Finance and Administration, DET, Transcript of Evidence,
15 October 2007, p18.
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Mr McCaffrey: I have a date if you bear with me for a second. I
would have put it out on 13 September. We have a gateway through
which the money goes to schools. That would have been in
September-October. I cannot remember the exact date.

Hon PETER COLLIER: That was not directly for the Balga Works
program?

Mr McCaffrey: No; it specifically went to the school, specifically to
reinstate those reserves.237

And further:

between September and November when the decision had been made
to close the program and that there was still some accounts that were
outstanding that had to be paid and it was necessary to support the
school to make sure they had sufficient funds to continue for the rest
of the year for the other students, because it was getting perilously
close because they had used their bank account funds to pay these
other accounts.238

Committee comment

3.130 The Committee notes that:

a) the BWP was incurring expenditure for which there was insufficient funding
and this resulted in the BSHS utilising funds for the BWP that were allocated
to other programs at the school;

b) the BWP had ongoing financial problems;

c) the delay in payments to the BWP and the loss of the multiplier contributed to
the cash flow problems for BWP; and

d) the DET were aware of the implications of their decision to limit funding to
the BWP.

3.131 The Committee understands that the DET had justifiable reasons for not providing
additional funding to the BWP. However, the restriction of funding to the program
impacted negatively on the operation of the program.

237 Peter McCaffrey, Deputy Director General, Finance and Administration, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 11
July 2007, p13.

238 Peter McCaffrey, Deputy Director General, Finance and Administration, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 15
October 2007, p19.
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3.132 The Committee notes that:

a) the BSHS financial position for the remainder of the year would have been
disadvantaged by bringing forward the school grant and FTE conversion for
Semester 2, 2006 to enable the BSHS to meet its outstanding obligations;

b) additional payments were made in September and November 2006 to the
BWP so that the program could be wound down in an orderly fashion;

c) additional payments were made in September and November 2006 to the
BSHS to ensure that the school remained viable;

d) the DET adopted the position that unless long term outside supplementary
funding was secured by the end of Semester 1, 2006, the BWP be wound
down and discontinued as soon as practicable;239 and

e) there is no evidence to suggest that the DET provided any assistance to the
BSHS to secure external long term supplementary funding.

DET OVERSIGHT OF THE BWP IN 2006

3.133 The Committee examined the actions of the DET in 2006 in ensuring compliance with
the conditions placed on the BWP by the Investigation Reference Group and its
monitoring of the operations of the BWP in 2006.

3.134 The DET in their submission advised the Committee that an operational plan for the
BWP was developed. At this stage Mr Hammond was still involved in the
development of the plan and the management of the BSHS. Additional administrative
support was provided to the BSHS to support the BWP and work was undertaken to
regularise the financial and contractual management of the BSHS. On 3 March 2006 a
request was made to the SSC to allow the BSHS to continue to contract with Hurson,
pending the development of tender documentation. The objective of the DET was to
regularise the operations of BWP by the end of Semester 1, 2006 or wind it up.240

3.135 During Semester 1, 2006 given the operations and nature of the BWP it became
apparent to the DET that further funding and resources were required to sustain it. A
tender process for the delivery of the BWP was undertaken, however all responses
were rejected on the basis of price. The BWP was wound down and finalised on
13 October 2006.241

239 Briefing note from Keith Newton, Executive Director, Teacher and Learning North, DET, to Paul Albert
Director General, DET, ‘Financial Management Issues with Balga Works Program Education Component
Update’, 20 June 2006.

240 Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p7.
241 Ibid, p7.



Estimates and Financial Operations Committee TWELFTH REPORT

92 G:\DATA\EF\efrp\ef.bwp.080529.rpf.012.xx.a.doc

June 2006 Audit

3.136 An audit of the BSHS undertaken in June/July 2006 rated the school as performing
poorly in the five system control areas, namely: receipting and banking systems;
purchasing and payment system; financial planning and management system; asset
management system; human resources and management information system.

December 2006 Audit

3.137 In December 2006 the Internal Assurance Directorate undertook an audit/investigation
with the objective to:242

i) review BWP financial operations from its inception in September 2004 until
its conclusion on 13 October 2006 to ascertain whether there was any indebt-
ness or other financial implications to the DET in relation to the BWP; and

ii) review the key financial systems at BSHS post last school audit (June 2006),
to provide the new principal with confidence about the financial position of
the school.

3.138 The audit found that:243

 In the Internal Assurance Directorate’s opinion the DET does not owe Hurson
any further funds in relation to salaries for BWP staff. But due to the poor
invoices provided by Hurson which lacked detail on the salaries being paid it
was impossible for Audit to say conclusively that no further funds for salaries
are due to Hurson. Added to this no contract/agreement in relation to the
BWP existed between the DET/BSHS and Hurson which covered the staffing
of the BWP.

 A number of payments made by the BSHS to Hurson specifically related to
the BWP Joondalup accommodation business which the BSHS was not liable
for. Hurson and Mr Michael Carton potentially owed the DET $245,631 for
these transactions.

 Of the 21 major and significant control issues raised in the BSHS Audit
Report dated 7 July 2006 only five issues had been adequately dealt
with/rectified by the BSHS as at 24 November 2006.

242 Internal Assurance Directorate, Special Audit Investigation Balga Senior High School Balga Works
Program, December 2006.

243 Ibid.
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 Of the 18 moderate and minor control issues raised in the School Audit Report
dated 7 July 2006 only seven issues had been adequately dealt with/rectified
by the BSHS as at 24 November 2006.

3.139 The overall conclusion of the report was:244

 It was not possible to conclusively ascertain the DET’s indebt-ness to Hurson
for the BWP due to financial mismanagement of the BWP by the BSHS.

 There were a number of matters in relation to BSHS administration of the
BWP that may constitute either serious misconduct or corruption.

 The BSHS had a number of internal control issues that required resolution in
the medium term (within 12 months).

Committee comment

3.140 The Committee notes that the issues identified by the Investigation Reference Group
audits and investigations were not resolved by mid 2006.

3.141 The findings of the June and December 2006 audits show that the response of the
DET to manage the continuation of the BWP was ineffective. The DET failed to
resolve the financial management issues being experienced at the BSHS. The
provision of additional support to the BSHS and the performance management of
Mr Hammond was also ineffective.

State Supply Commission exemption condition - no contract entered into

3.142 The Committee notes that the Special Audit Investigation of Balga Senior High
School Balga Works Program report by the Internal Assurance Directorate of the DET
dated December 2006 (IAD report) reported that no formal contractual or legal
arrangement appeared to exist between BSHS and any contractor with respect to the
delivery of BWP that detailed roles and responsibilities of parties and terms for
payment.245

3.143 The IAD report noted that as a result of their investigation of the BWP in December
2005 the DET’s Chief Financial Officer, Mr Peter McCaffery sought an exemption
from the public tender process for the BWP from the SSC on 28 February 2006. The
exemption from the requirement to tender from the SCC was requested to allow the
BWP to continue for six months and to conduct a public tender process.246

244 Ibid.
245 Ibid, p5.
246 Fifth Submission from the DET, September 2007, p2.
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3.144 The SSC approved this exemption on 3 March 2006 with a proviso that the DET
negotiate a short-term service agreement with Hurson for the BWP to the end of 2006.
The parties negotiated a draft agreement in April 2006, but this was never executed.247

3.145 The Committee noted that the SSC condition was not met. In response to questions
asked by the Committee in this regard the DET replied:

The responsibility for ensuring that the Condition was met rests with
the Director General of the Department as the head of the Public
Authority. The Director General exercises the authority provided to
the Department by the State Supply Exemption, in accordance with
DTF Procurement Arrangement, on the advice of DTF Procurement
Staff. The Condition was not met.248

3.146 The DET advised that the process of developing the tender and formal contract was
undertaken by the Department of Treasury and Finance procurement staff along with a
Deputy Principal of BSHS from March 2006 to August 2006. The formal contract
was not progressed or finalised during the course of the tender evaluation and once the
decision was made to end the BWP. The DET advised that they had been unable to
locate any record regarding a decision not to progress or finalise the formal
contract.249

3.147 The Committee was advised that on 24 February 2006 a second MOU was signed
between Mr Hammond as Principal of BSHS and Mr Michael Carton on behalf of
Hurson. This was in contradiction to Mr Garnaut’s directive to Mr Hammond not to
sign such agreements until his approval had been obtained. The second MOU had
been drafted by Mr Hammond and Mr Michael Carton and had not been sighted by the
Investigation Reference Group or the DET legal officer Ms Annika Christou, who at
the time expressed concern that the MOU did not contain the required legal
statements.250

3.148 The Committee was advised that work was being undertaken on developing a formal
contract. On why it took so long to develop Mr Newton advised that:

Mr Newton: There was disagreement between the parties involved as
to what exactly ought to be in the MOU and the commitments each
would be making within that. The department was trying very much
to limit the exposure, and I think, from memory, it was Mr Carton and

247 Internal Assurance Directorate, Special Audit Investigation Balga Senior High School Balga Works
Program, December 2006, p5.

248 Seventh Submission from the DET, October 2007, p4.
249 Ibid.
250 Sixth Submission from the DET, September 2007, and Attachment D, Balga Works Investigation

Reference Group, Minutes of Meeting, 7 March 2006.
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company, which we were dealing with in that side of it, were looking
for a far more expansive model that [sic] what we were willing to
commit to.251

3.149 Mr Taylor advised the Committee that:

Mr Taylor: I do not think that was because of their reluctance to sign
it off in a timely manner. I think it simply took so long to develop up.
My recollection is that it was probably July before it was even
presented as a finished document for signing. The wheels turn slowly
in DET when it comes to legal services. If you are going to have
anything like that that is quite a complicated document, that has to
have very strong links to legislation and has to have strong links back
to a tender process that is in place. It just spent so much time in the
hands of lawyers and in the hands of department officials, and
backwards and forwards, it was a bit of a nightmare, to be perfectly
honest. Again, something I had never had any experience with before
- and was required to draw up a legal document between two parties.
I think it was presented in July for signing.252

DET management of complaints from staff about unpaid wages

3.150 The Committee notes the role of the former workers of the BWP in raising community
awareness of the issues surrounding the operation of the BWP, by taking their
concerns to Members of Parliament. In particular, their concerns about the non-
payment of wages, tax and superannuation, and also their concerns about
inappropriate practices within the program.

3.151 The DET began to receive complaints related to unpaid wages of staff and contractors
of the BWP in 2005. Complaints were received by Mr Hammond, the District Office,
Central Office and the Minister for Education and Training’s Office. In 2006 the
number of complaints received rose significantly.253

3.152 The complaints received related to Hurson not meeting its salary and wages
obligations to a significant number of persons who had carried out work as part of the
on-site in-school hours program conducted by Hurson on behalf of the BSHS.254 Also
Hurson owed money to a number of persons and or contractors for non-school related

251 Keith Newton, A/Deputy Director General, Schools, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 19 October 2007, p15.
252 Gary Taylor, Deputy Principal, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 1 November 2007, pp18-19.
253 Third Submission from the DET, August 2007.
254 Briefing note from Keith Newton, Executive Director, Teacher and Learning North, DET, to Paul Albert

Director General, DET, ‘Financial Management Issues with Balga Works Program Education Component
Update’, 20 June 2006.
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aspects of BWP such as after-hours programs, submissions writing and residential
supervision.255

3.153 Mr Garnaut advised the Committee that complaints received by the Swan District
Education Office were referred back to Mr Hammond for his management and
handling, as it was his responsibility to ensure that all programs within his school ran
appropriately and people who were to be paid were paid appropriately.256

Complainants were advised that if they were not happy with the resolution, they were
to then redirect their complaints back to the district office. The Committee was
advised that in nearly all cases that did not happen. Complainants were also advised
that they could go to the Industrial Relations Commission.257

3.154 The Committee notes that the Minister for Education and Training’s Office was
querying non payment of wages in March 2006 and was advised by Mr Keith Newton,
Executive Director, Teaching and Learning North that:258

 Funding to the program was frozen for a period this year while a new contract
was developed, resulting in some staff members not receiving regular salaries.
This funding has now been released and staff payments are now occurring.

 The employee in question is on contract by the private provider and is now
receiving regular payments.

 The management of the BWP is now closely monitored by Mr Garnaut,
Mr Newton and Mr Hammond.

3.155 Legal advice received by the DET was that all employees’ claims should be referred
to Hurson which has the legal liability, not the DET.259

3.156 The Committee notes that the Investigation Reference Group did not consider the
issue of unpaid wages when it was deciding whether the BWP should continue or not.
However, the Committee notes that Mr Garnaut received an email in December 2005

255 Ibid.
256 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,

pp23-24 and p25.
257 Ibid, p24.
258 ‘Advice/Briefing Note for the Minister for Education and Training regarding the payment of ‘employee’

with the Balga Works Program’, from Keith Newton, Executive Director, Teaching and Learning (North),
DET, 22 March 2006.

259 Briefing note from Keith Newton, Executive Director, Teacher and Learning North, DET, to Paul Albert
Director General, DET, ‘Financial Management Issues with Balga Works Program Education Component
Update’, 20 June 2006.
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from Gerry Borger, noting that Mr Michael Carton did not have enough money to pay
his staff.260

3.157 In mid 2006 the DET began to work with the Office of the Minister for Education and
Training to find a solution to the funding issues:

In May 2006 the minister’s office was made aware that a number of
employees of the Balga Works program had not received pay for some
time. The minister’s office took immediate action, which resulted in
some 22 employees and former employees receiving outstanding
payments.261

3.158 Mr McCaffrey advised the Committee that this issue was discussed at his meeting
with Mr Hammond, Mr Michael Carton and Mr Taylor in June 2006 (see paragraph
3.125) and at that time the BSHS had sufficient funds in the bank to pay outstanding
wages and that this should be paid if they were entitled to be:

Mr McCaffrey: The money would have gone straight into the school
funds. I mentioned earlier, part of the advice that I gave Mr
Hammond and Mr Carton - and I think Gary Taylor was there, which
would have been about that time - was that they had sufficient funds
in their bank, and if these people were legitimately employed by
persons in the name of the school and they are entitled to be paid,
they should pay them. I gave them a commitment that we would then
look at the school and have a look at how that impacted on the
operations of the school - not just the program but the school - and
that if additional funding was required to make sure that those
operations continued effectively, then that would be a decision taken
when it was investigated, and that is when I think it was around about
September that that was determined, and that was when I referred to,
last time I was here, about the $400 000, I think it was, that went out
to the school in September, but there was no money given to say, “I
am giving it to you to pay those salaries.” I was not aware of that,
but it was certainly my opinion, and I gave that advice, that if it was
due to be paid and these people had lives and commitments, they were
entitled to be paid.

….

260 Letter from Gerry Borger, District Finance and Administration Officer, Swan Education District, DET,
8 April 2008, Attachment, Email from Gerry Borger, District Finance and Administration Officer, Swan
Education District, DET to John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, 9 December 2005.

261 Briefing note from Keith Newton, Executive Director, Teacher and Learning North, DET, to Paul Albert
Director General, DET, ‘Financial Management Issues with Balga Works Program Education Component
Update’, 20 June 2006 and Western Australia, Legislative Assembly, Parliamentary Debates (Hansard),
Tuesday, 28 November 2006, p8852.
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Mr McCaffrey: Well, I was at that discussion with Mr Hammond and
Mr Hurson [sic], and when we were talking about the outstanding
invoices - because the issue from Hurson’s, as I understood it, was
that they had provided the service, they had provided the invoices to
the school, the school was saying, “We don’t have enough money to
pay you”, because the money that they were expecting from other
sources had not materialised. My comment was, “You have got
money in the bank. You really should pay them”, but I asked
Hurson’s specifically to ensure that when those invoices were paid,
priority would be given to the people to get a salary payment because
they had commitments. When I left that meeting, I understood that
that was what he was going to do.262

3.159 Mr Garnaut advised the Committee that advice was sought through the Investigation
Reference Group and the DET legal division regarding the DET obligation to pay the
unpaid wages as Hurson was a contractor to the BSHS:

As a contractor, Hurson’s had responsibility for its salary
responsibilities, so we sought advice on whether the department had
responsibility or the school had responsibility for any shortfalls in
salary payments to those particular people. The advice we had was
that there was a moral obligation to pay the salaries of those people -
the 22 that you refer to - and so, as a result of that, a process was put
in place through the district finance and administration officer, the
principal of the school, Gary Taylor and Hurson’s to verify the claims
of those people. Moneys were then forwarded to the school for the
school to make those salary payments.263

3.160 Claims were only considered from the school-based component of the program, for
which the DET had responsibility. The DET concluded that they had no obligation to
meet the salary shortfalls of people involved in the accommodation component of the
program, for which Hurson’s had full responsibility.264

3.161 In August and September 2006 the BSHS negotiated with individual Hurson
employees who claimed they were owed salary payments from Hurson, and when
agreement was reached, payments were made from the BSHS funds to Hurson who
then paid the individuals concerned.265

262 Peter McCaffrey, Deputy Director General, Finance and Administration, DET, Transcript of Evidence,
15 October 2007, pp13-14.

263 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
p35.

264 Ibid, p37.
265 Letter from John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, 25 October 2007, p3.
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3.162 Mr Garnaut advised the Committee that Mr Taylor was asked to implement immediate
sample checks of staff to ensure that salary payments were made and that Mr Taylor
reported to him that this had occurred, and all salaries had been paid as required.266

3.163 The payment of the wages of Hurson employees in this manner has been referred to by
many witnesses before the Committee as the DET ‘rescue package’. The Committee
notes that these payments provided to BSHS in June (see paragraph 3.124) enabled
BSHS to meet its financial obligations which included the payment of Hurson
invoices for employee salaries.

3.164 The DET advised however, that a rescue package in a funding sense was never made.
No additional funding was provided, just payment of invoices to meet the schools
obligations. The DET verified the invoices provided by Hurson which involved
consultation with unpaid staff. Once verified the DET ensured that funding was
available to the school to meet its commitments to Hurson. Mr McCaffery advised the
Committee:

Mr McCaffrey: Again, the only payments that went out to the school
- what I call as an operational adjustment, which encompasses
everything - were on 13 September ’06 and 9 November ’06. I know
that there were discussions about helping these people get paid, but a
rescue package as such in a funding sense, from my understanding
and our records, no extra money was given out.267

3.165 Mr Newton advised that:

Mr Newton: The minister’s office certainly received some complaints
from people about not being paid. They then referred that to us
saying that there is a Balga Works program and that these people are
saying that they have worked for it but have not been paid. They
certainly asked us to resolve that, but not in terms of making
payments directly to the people other than to pass it on because it was
an operational matter which we dealt with in terms of that we had an
obligation to pay Hurson’s for services provided and we then
reminded Hurson’s that they had an obligation to pay their
employees. Now whether Hurson’s did or not was always going to be
problematic, but I believe they did pay.268

266 Supplementary Information provided by John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET,
25 October 2007, p3.

267 Peter McCaffrey, Deputy Director General, Finance and Administration, DET, Transcript of Evidence,
15 October 2007, p14.

268 Keith Newton, A/Deputy Director Schools, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 19 October 2007, p27.
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Committee comment

3.166 The Committee notes that the DET whilst aware of the problems were referring all
complaints to Mr Hammond to resolve. The Committee is of the opinion that the DET
was avoiding taking responsibility for this problem and did nothing to assist the
complainants prior to June 2006.

3.167 The DET did not follow up on complaints to ensure that they had been resolved.

3.168 The Committee is of the opinion that the DET position that the bringing forward of
funding for the BSHS was not a rescue package is misleading. This funding was
provided to enable financial obligations to be met, which included those to cover the
wages of Hurson employees.

3.169 The Committee queries why the DET were not questioning the suitability of
Mr Michael Carton to run the program throughout this period.

3.170 The advice provided to the Minister at paragraph 3.154 was not a correct portrayal of
the situation.

Enrolment numbers vs student attendance

3.171 The Committee received evidence from a number of witnesses that the number of
students attending the BWP each day was well below enrolment numbers in both 2005
and 2006. As stated by Mr Taylor:

The CHAIRPERSON: How many students were enrolled in the
Balga Works program?

Mr Taylor: That is a - okay. There were 150 kids, or thereabouts,
enrolled in the program. We spent a great deal of time trying to
classify or categorise those kids in any commonsense way for funding
purposes from the department, and essentially we got down to which
were the full-time kids - those that attended 80 per cent or more,
which you would expect a full-time kid to be attending; which were
the kids that were attending sort of 50 per cent or less; and which
were the kids that were really very occasional attenders. Then there
were some who were simply receiving some home contact - a phone
call or a visit from one of the assistants within the program. So out of
150 kids, there were probably about 40 kids who were deemed to be
full-time attenders, and the rest were broken down between part-time
and half-time attenders, seldom attenders and never attenders, even
though they were on the books.
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Hon PETER COLLIER: On an average day, how many students
would attend?

Mr Taylor: Towards the end of 2005, in its heyday, there would have
been up to 40 on any given day, for a significant amount of time. For
most of that term, there would have been between 30 and 40 kids a
day, sometimes more than 40, sometimes less, but sort of between 30
and 40.

Hon PETER COLLIER: What about 2006?

Mr Taylor: It dropped. It started fairly well and then it dropped off,
probably to about 30, 25 towards the end of semester 1, down to
probably 25 or so.269

And:

Hon PETER COLLIER: How many students would be with you
during the day? How many were engaged in the program?

Witness G: I am not actually sure. Probably about 20.

Witness H: Were you all together?

Witness G: No, I suppose we were all spread out. Usually there
would be, like, five, six or seven people to a class, I suppose.

Hon PETER COLLIER: And how many classes would there have
been?

Witness G: Probably about three or four.

Hon PETER COLLIER: That is about 20 in total.

Witness G: Yes.270

And:

Hon PETER COLLIER: How many students would be there? We
were led to believe that there were 200 enrolments.

269 Gary Taylor, Deputy Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 1 November 2007, p9.
270 Private Transcript of Evidence, 11 September 2007, pp2-3.
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Witness D: The most we ever had that I could ever remember at one
time in one day - it would never have been the whole day - would have
been 20; 25 to 30 max.271

3.172 On why there was such a small number attending the BWP Mr Michael Carton
advised the Committee that:

Mr Carton: There were a number of young people that were
transient with their families, that were incarcerated, and while
incarcerated they were not in attendance; or they had breached their
bail conditions and were not attending the program. They were
having difficulty with personal issues. There were young people
attending counselling courses, doing external attendance activities;
young people that were just not accounted for because of the nature
of the young people being dealt with.272

3.173 Mr Garnaut advised that he did not doubt the enrolment or attendance numbers:

Hon SHEILA MILLS: Mr Garnaut, just to follow on from Mr
Collier’s question, you said that one of the reasons you could not do it
was that there were 150 students enrolled in the program. All the
evidence that has come before this committee so far is that there were
never any more than between 20 and 40 students in that program.

Mr Garnaut: We did very thorough audits of enrolment in 2006. I
recall that one of the early audits in 2006 concluded that there was
the equivalent of 100 full-time equivalent students engaged in the
program - I think it was 90 something; not quite 100 - which made up
150, 160, approximately, students, some of whom were part-time,
some of whom were full-time, but equating to almost 100 full-time
students in the Balga Works program. So, that evidence that I have
there is in conflict with the evidence that you have been informed of -
that there may have been 30 or 40 students in the program. In fact, I
can provide the audit report on that attendance for you, if you would
like to see a copy of that.

…

Hon KEN TRAVERS: …. Did you ever have any doubts about the
number of students that were claimed to be enrolled in the program
and were actually enrolled in the program?

271 Private Transcript of Evidence, 11 September 2007, pp10-11.
272 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, p26.
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Mr Garnaut: No. I had no doubts about the number of students who
were enrolled in the program. One of the processes was that the
school would submit its enrolments to my manager operations. My
manager operations then would work with the human resources
people on the conversion of the FTE to the salary pool, and I trusted
that the information coming from the principal of the school was
accurate information. That is highly unusual. I have never, ever
come across a situation in my time as a director where incorrect
enrolment information has come through from a principal of a school.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: Do you think there was on this occasion,
though, or do you think the enrolment figures were accurate?

Mr Garnaut: When I called for that audit report in early 2006, or the
review report of the enrolment and attendance processes, I was very
disappointed with the controls that were obviously not in place at the
school - what you would assume to be normal controls for monitoring
attendance at the school. Normal controls at Balga Senior High
School were that one deputy principal had responsibility for
attendance across the whole school. Another control would be a
second deputy principal who oversees the Balga Works program. My
expectation would be that both of those two would have a clear
picture of any enrolment or attendance concerns that would be
apparent at the school at the time. Our review report in early 2006
indicated that those controls were not in place - that the principal had
not ensured that attendance controls were sufficiently established.
So, the deputy, who for all-of-school purposes has responsibility for
attendance, was not playing a role in monitoring attendance at the
Balga Works program. My understanding was that the deputy
principal with responsibility for the Balga Works program was not
playing a role in monitoring attendance either.273

3.174 Mr Garnaut further advised the Committee that a December 2005 progress report by
the school stated “there are currently 35 participants attending 100 per cent, a further
60 whose attendance is at between 90 per cent and 60 per cent, 25 students show an
attendance rate of 50 per cent, whilst the remainder are currently attending at less
than 50 per cent”.274

273 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
p6 and pp8-9 .

274 Supplementary Information provided by John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET,
25 October 2007, p4.
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DET audit on attendance

3.175 The Committee was advised that special concessions were granted in relation to the
attendance at the BWP due to the nature of the students participating. An attendance
rate per student of 70 percent was considered full time participation for the education
component of the program.

3.176 The DET did not conduct any audits on attendance in 2005, however, it did so in
2006. In Terms 1, 2 and 3, 2006 the Swan Education District Office conducted audits
of attendance in the BWP. Site visits were made during Term 1 by the Swan
Education District Office, Manager of Corporate Services and the Manager Operations
to verify the authenticity of the attendance rolls. The rolls were then sent through the
school administration to the District Office. Summaries were made of this attendance
information and sent to the DET Director of Staffing.275 These audits showed that the
attendance rate for students in the BWP during this period ranged from 19 percent to
46 percent.276

3.177 Mr Garnaut advised:

In 2006 a process of sample spot checks on attendance was
implemented by district Manager Corporate Services and Manager
Operations. The (random) attendance audit for term one indicated
that over a three-week period average attendance was 96. Average
attendance rates declined as the year progressed.277

3.178 The recommendation resulting from the audit undertaken in Term 1, 2006 was that the
program continue to be staffed at the current rate.278

3.179 An investigation into the attendance and enrolment record of students at the BSHS
was conducted in early 2007. This investigation identified concerns about the
enrolment and attendance process at the BSHS for the BWP, including:279

 Enrolment processes for the programs at BSHS other than the BWP complied
with DET policy.

 Mr Hammond did not assure a process to oversee the enrolment procedure,
which was conducted by an employee of Hurson.

275 Fifth Submission from the DET, September 2007, p4.
276 Investigation into the enrolment and attendance processes of the former Balga Works Program at Balga

Senior High School, 11 May 2007, p5.
277 Supplementary Information provided by John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET

25 October 2007, p5.
278 Fifth Submission from the DET, September 2007, Attachment G, Appendix 2A.
279 Ibid, p3.
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 Enrolment records of students in the BWP were correct on input however, exit
processes were less regular as some students were very irregular attendees,
often gaining enrolment, but then attending for only a few days.

 Many of these seemingly remained on the enrolment record of the BSHS as
no further information was provided about attendance at other schools.

 The recording of attendance of students enrolled in the BWP was not
performed in accordance with the DET Attendance Policy.

 The policy directs secondary schools to record attendance period by period,
This was not done.

 Students enrolled in the BWP registered 100 percent attendance in the School
Information System (SIS) database, the electronic information system at the
school.

 The 100 percent attendance for the BWP students resulted because SIS
registers a student as present by default and it is only by manually entering an
absence for a student that the default is changed.

3.180 Whilst BWP students were enrolled as students of BSHS, the recording of attendance
of students in the BWP was the responsibility of Hurson. Attendance of students in
the BWP was recorded for the morning and afternoon sessions and entered into a
database held by Hurson that was not part of the BSHS SIS database.280 The SIS
database was not being updated by Hurson.

3.181 The Audit report noted that students enrolled in the BWP registered 100 percent
attendance in the SIS database, as this is the default of the system (it is only by
manually entering an absence for a student that the default is changed). Mr Taylor did
not consider it part of his responsibility to ensure attendance records were entered into
SIS, as he considered the official attendance record was being kept by Hurson. The
rolls that were provided to the Swan District Office by the school for audit were
considered as such.281

3.182 The audit report noted that during Terms 1-3, 2006 while the Swan District Office was
monitoring attendance, the rolls provided by Hurson, through the administration of
BSHS were an accurate reflection of the attendance of students in the BWP.282

280 Ibid, p3.
281 Investigation into the enrolment and attendance processes of the former Balga Works Program at Balga

Senior High School, 11 May 2007, p6.
282 Ibid, p6.
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3.183 The concerns identified by the investigation in relation to enrolment and attendance
processes at the BSHS and in particular with the BWP have been addressed by the
BSHS which is now compliant with DET policies.283

Committee comment

3.184 The Committee notes that:

a) there was discrepancy between enrolment numbers and attendance records;

b) Hurson was controlling the attendance records, not the BSHS;

c) in 2005 there was no verification undertaken of student attendance in the
BWP. SIS records were showing 100 percent attendance due to a default
position in the computer program (refer to paragraph 3.179, dot points seven
and eight and paragraph 3.181);

d) the funding to the BWP was based on enrolment numbers and attendance by
the students; and

e) In 2006 the DET failed to ensure adequate verification of the enrolment and
attendance records for the program. The DET continued to rely on the
enrolment and attendance records provided by BSHS despite the number of
previous concerns about the management and finances at the school.

3.185 Due to the discrepancies in the enrolment and attendance figures, the Committee does
not have confidence in the accuracy of the enrolment numbers on which funding was
based.

FINDING

Finding 1: The Committee finds that that the DET failed to ensure adequate
verification of the enrolment and attendance records and this was a failure in their
financial management practices.

DET VIEW THAT THE PRINCIPAL WAS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE FAILURE OF THE BWP

3.186 The DET’s view is that the responsibility for the program lay with the Principal, Mr
Hammond as it was a school-based program. It was Mr Hammond’s responsibility to
ensure that that educational delivery was sound and was appropriately delivered
within the school.284

283 Fifth Submission from the DET, September 2007, Attachment G, Note from John Garnaut, District
Director to Margaret Collins, Executive Director, Teacher and Learning (North), undated.

284 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
p16.
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3.187 The DET believe the failure of the program lay with Mr Hammond:

The CHAIRPERSON: Given that that sounds like quite a sound
system, what went wrong in this case?

Mr Garnaut: My belief is that the principal of the school did a
significant amount of work in 2004 with a range of other people to
plan and implement a very exciting program for high-need children in
Western Australia. I believe that he expended significant amounts of
money in 2004 to set up that program. I understand this in hindsight.
I did not understand that until November 2005. I believe that he was
very highly motivated to implement that program irrespective of any
advice provided.285

3.188 A principal retains a duty of care for all enrolled students, whether they are attending
the regular school program on site, or an off-site alternative program. A principal
cannot delegate the duty of care to another organisation for a student enrolled at
school. Although staff of alternative education programs have a duty of care under
common law, this does not abrogate the duty of care owed by the school at which the
student is enrolled.286

Adequate checks and balances in place?

3.189 The Committee inquired with the DET what mechanisms exist to address principals’
poor performance. The DET advised that there is “a substandard performance
process” in place. The performance management process identifies a principal who is
performing in a substandard way and then processes are put in place to address that,
including a support plan, a time period for the principal to improve their performance,
and then, if there is no improvement, a report to the director general recommending
that the procedure for substandard performance be implemented.

3.190 Mr Garnaut advised the Committee that he had discussions with his executive director
on the substandard performance process, about moving to performance assessment or
substandard performance processes in late 2004 in relation to Mr Hammond:

The decision that was taken as a result of that discussion was that we
would seek the resources to put additional support into Merv
Hammond rather than go down the substandard performance line.
One of the reasons for that was that Merv had indicated that he was
about to retire, and, also being principal of the year and having a
very high profile, the decision was taken that rather than go down the
line of substandard performance that the school would be shored up

285 Ibid, pp15-16.
286 DET, Alternative Education Program, 1 January 2003,
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with additional resource - the Gary Taylor resource - to support
Merv’s move to retirement. The most important agenda for me as
director was school sustainability. Merv Hammond had led Balga
Senior High School to be a very important school - as I have stated
previously - in the government school system. One of his strengths
certainly was not building middle-level leadership and management
across the school; it was quite weak. Thus I put Gary Taylor in there
and my intention was to have Gary Taylor - not necessarily him;
whoever had won that position - to shore up middle-level
management and leadership and accountability processes to ensure
that when Merv retired, which he flagged would be fairly soon, the
school would be in strong shape for another principal to come in and
take over. Merv managed in a way where he was very central to the
leadership and management of the school, and his delegation skills
were not a strength either. As a result, the major agenda for Balga
Senior High School for me as director was to build school
sustainability so that it did not fall over when Merv Hammond retired.
…287

3.191 The DET chose to provide Mr Hammond with additional support rather than pursue
the substandard performance process. However, this strategy did not work and the
issues with Mr Hammond’s performance continued and compounded. In late 2006
implementing a substandard performance was considered but was overtaken by a
recommendation to the Director General that Mr Hammond be removed from the
school.288

287 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
pp20-22.

288 Ibid.
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FINDINGS

Finding 2:

The Committee finds that the responsibility for the failures with the program and the
administration of the school lay primarily with Mr Hammond.

The Committee is of the view that the DET is also responsible for the failures for the
following reasons:

i) its complicity in providing funding for the BWP in an ad-hoc manner and
without proper planning, accountability mechanisms or due diligence;

ii) its ineffectiveness in responding in an appropriate and timely manner despite
overwhelming evidence of the issues being faced by the BSHS and the BWP
throughout the life of the program. In particular, the response of the
Investigation Reference Group at the end of 2005 was inadequate (see
paragraphs 3.55 to 3.103); and

iii) its ineffectiveness in managing Mr Hammond.

The Committee has concerns with the process for the appointment of a supplementary
deputy principal to provide additional support for the BSHS. The Committee believes
that the DET should have taken greater responsibility for this appointment rather than
leaving Mr Hammond to Chair the selection process.

The Committee finds that the DET responses to the BWP issues were inadequate and the
additional support provided did not resolve the problems. The DET should have
ensured that the issues faced by the BSHS were being addressed as a result of the
additional resources being provided.

Further, the Committee finds that the Minister for Education and Training was not fully
informed through the briefing notes provided in relation to the BWP (see paragraph
3.154).

DUTY OF CARE OF THE DET

3.192 The Committee considered the question: as the DET was contributing to the funding
of the education component of the BWP, did the DET have a duty of care in relation
to ensuring the education component was being delivered in a satisfactory manner?

3.193 The Committee notes that at law the DET owes a duty of care to all of the students
enrolled, and staff working, at a Government School.
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3.194 The use of a private provider at a school does not alter this situation. Such a duty is
described at law as being “non-delegable” in that, while the service delivery may be
“contracted-out”, the fundamental duty cannot be passed along to another entity.289

3.195 As noted above, and stated in the DET publication entitled Alternative Education
Programs:

The principal retains duty of care for all enrolled students, whether
they are attending the regular school program on site, or an off-site
alternative program. A principal cannot delegate duty of care to
another organisation for a student enrolled at school. Although staff
of alternative education programs have a duty of care under common
law, this does not abrogate the duty of care owed by the school at
which the student is enrolled.290

3.196 With respect to the duty of care towards staff in terms of occupational health and
safety, there is an established body of law which demonstrates that a principle
contracting party has a similar non-delegable duty towards sub-contractors and their
staff.291 This is especially so where the service delivery takes place on the principle
contractor’s premises.292

3.197 DET’s duty of care is of significant relevance when considered in the light of the
following facts that have been established by the Committee over the course of this
inquiry:

a) The failure of the DET to adequately supervise the activities of Mr Hammond;

b) The failure of the DET to independently verify the background and credentials
of either MITS, Hurson or Mr Michael Carton;293

c) The failure of the DET to act in a timely manner on the questions raised in
repeated audits of the BSHS and the BWP commissioned by the DET;

d) The failure of the DET to act on the issues raised in investigation and audit
reports of the BWP and the BSHS, including for example, the failure of the

289 New South Wales v Lepore; Samin v Queensland; Rich v Queensland (2003) 195 ALR 412.
290 Government of Western Australia, DET, Alternative Education Program, Effective 1 January 2003, p4.
291 Commonwealth v Introvigne (1982) 150 CLR 258; Kondis v State Transport Authority (1984)

154 CLR 672 at 685
292 Note that the provision of a workplace was a key factor in the decision in 2.5 McFarlane v Western

Australia [2004] WADC 245 and provides an important distinguishing feature when compared with the
BWP.

293 For example, Carton’s bankruptcy details were entered on the National Personal Insolvency Index on
30 September 2003. He also pleaded guilty in a Victorian Court to defrauding the Commonwealth of
$140,000 in 1999.
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DET to address the improper use by Mr Michael Carton of Australian
Company Numbers or ABNs on invoices and company documents (see
paragraphs 3.64 and 3.69);

e) The failure to address occupational health and safety issues and concerns at
BSHS resulting from the behaviour of the students attending the BWP; and

f) The evidence of Mr Garnaut to the Committee that DET had been advised that
it had a moral obligation to pay the salaries of people who had worked for the
BWP.294

3.198 Given the above facts, the Committee has concerns as to whether the DET has
satisfied its general duty of care obligations with respect to persons adversely affected
by the BWP.

Recommendation 4: The Committee recommends that the Minister for Education and
Training advise the Legislative Council as to whether he is satisfied that the
Department of Education and Training has met its duty of care obligations towards
those persons adversely affected by the Balga Works Program.

294 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
p35 and p37.
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CHAPTER 4
THE ACCOMMODATION COMPONENT OF THE BALGA WORKS

PROGRAM

4.1 The second component of the BWP was the provision of accommodation for some of
the students enrolled in the BWP. The aim of the accommodation component of the
program was to:295

 provide a caring, safe and supportive environment where students can learn to
live in an adult world;

 develop within the students, the concept of family and community; and

 encourage the students to become independent and productive community
members.

4.2 The accommodation component included 24 hour care and supervision by carers, who
lived on site and provided care outside of school hours. Transport to and from school
was also provided.

4.3 All young people staying at the accommodation, if not working, were required to be
enrolled in and actively participate in the education program based at BSHS.296

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE ACCOMMODATION COMPONENT

4.4 The accommodation part of the BWP was established by Mr Michael Carton297,
independent of MITS or Hurson.298 The accommodation component was not included
in the original MITS/BSHS proposal.

4.5 It is unclear exactly when the accommodation component of the program commenced.
Mr Michael Carton advised the Committee that the “residential component started in
October 2004 or November at the very latest”.299 He then later advised that the
“formalised residential [sic] commenced in or about the January of 2005”.300 When
asked a third time Mr Michael Carton stated:

295 Balga Works Accommodation Services - Carer’s Guide.
296 Ibid.
297 Mervyn Hammond, Former Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 7 November 2007, pp13.
298 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, p15.
299 Ibid, p2.
300 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, p3.
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The CHAIRPERSON: Could you please indicate when the
accommodation component of the program began? You might have
mentioned it, but I just wanted to get that clear.

Mr Carton: In its infancy it commenced in the January of 2005. The
first time a house with all rooms rented occurred would have been the
April of 2005. That is when the first staff member was employed to
work in the houses as a residential carer. Until then, individual
rooms were rented for the youth to stay in rather than stay on the
streets.

The CHAIRPERSON: Could you indicate to the committee who was
looking after those students at the beginning, then?

Mr Carton: In the initial stages they were renting rooms under their
- I cannot recall the term - they were getting rent assistance and they
were just renting a room in the resident student complexes run by
Brooke Stone accommodation services. They just rented a room.301

4.6 Mrs Flaherty, Director, Brooke Stone Holdings Pty Ltd, submitted:

August 2004 - Michael Carton & I spoke about the possibility of
housing young juveniles who were under the age of 18 - who had been
involved in petty and more serious crimes but who were willing to try
and make a go for themselves under a pilot project to help get these
children into jobs and give them a chance to join normal society by
improving their self esteem and training. It was acknowledged that
these children generally have very little respect for anyone or anyone
else’s property. The majority just do not care.

In December 2004 we did an initial test run in the house next door to
our office. This gave us an insight into what we could expect. …302

4.7 It appears that students from the BWP were staying in unsupervised accommodation
from as early as December 2004.303

4.8 The first official residence of the BWP accommodation with supervision was started
in approximately February/March 2005, at 8 Alberta Pocket, Joondalup.304 The

301 Ibid, p4.
302 Syndicated Development Pty Ltd, Michael Carton - Advice to REBA, 31 January 2006, (document tabled

by Lesley Flaherty 4 October 2007).
303 Ibid, p1.
304 No lease was signed on this property.
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residence was then relocated to a number of units at Nottinghill Street, Joondalup on 1
July 2005.

4.9 When Hurson took over the program in April 2005, they assumed responsibility for
the accommodation component. Mr Michael Carton advised the Committee that
Hurson involvement in the accommodation was initiated by Mr Hammond.305

4.10 The DET advised that they had no involvement in the establishment of the
accommodation component. The accommodation component of the program was set
up and run independently of the DET. Mr Garnaut advised the Committee that he
became aware that Mr Michael Carton was supporting a small number of students in
accommodation in Joondalup early in 2005, and these students were attendees of the
BWP. Mr Hammond advised Mr Garnaut that Mr Michael Carton was resourcing and
supporting the accommodation element of the program.306

4.11 Mr Michael Carton advised that there was no forethought or planning for the program:

Mr Carton: There were certainly many complaints. Without a doubt,
it was a program that - there was no forethought or planning in it and
it resulted in a lot of the issues that prevailed with the residents, and
many of them rightly so.307

Committee comment

4.12 The Committee was only able to obtain minimal information regarding the events
surrounding the establishment of the accommodation component of the BWP.

4.13 The Committee notes that the accommodation component was not included in the
original MITS/BSHS proposal.

4.14 It appears to the Committee that the accommodation component was established by
Mr Michael Carton, in an ad-hoc fashion and that it evolved with no formal plan to
guide its establishment and operation. The Committee has not received any evidence
to suggest that the accommodation component was a planned part of the BWP.

PLACEMENT OF YOUNG PEOPLE BY THE DCD AND THE DOJ

4.15 Both the DCD and the Department of Corrective Services formerly the Department of
Justice (DOJ) placed young people under their care in the accommodation of BWP.

305 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, p15.
306 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,

pp10-11.
307 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, p5.
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4.16 The DCD placed 19 young persons in the BWP from May 2005 to October 2006.308

4.17 The Supervised Bail unit of the DOJ placed 33 individuals in the BWP between
14 April 2005 and 9 June 2006.309 Placements were also made by the Supervisory
Release Board.310

Perception of the BWP

4.18 The DCD saw the ‘wrap-around’ service being offered by the BWP, that is the
education program during the day and the provision of accommodation, plus the
recreational activities, offered a very comprehensive program for a group of young
people that had high needs and were previously quite difficult to place.311 The BWP
was seen as a program that was very suitable and that met the needs of the young
people.312

4.19 The DOJ advised that they were of the view that the program was a wonderful
initiative:

Mr Logan: In all honesty, our drive was to actually release young
people from custody who, in our view and according to the
legislation, should have been in the community addressing whatever
issues they had in their life. The agency was prepared to take them
and they were prepared to negotiate how they would finance it.
Certainly, at the time, we were quite happy in the sense that we had
what we saw and truly believed was a very positive and dynamic
opportunity to place not only young people in accommodation, but
also in an environment where they would get access to education and
support.313

308 Submission No 18 from Hon Sue Ellery MLC, Minister for Child Protection, 13 August 2007, p2.
309 Letter from Margaret Quirk MLA, Minister for Corrective Services, 5 November 2007, p5.
310 Peter Logan, Manager, Supervised Bail and Diversion, Rangeview Remand Centre, Transcript of

Evidence, 19 October 2007, p5.
311 Cheryl Barnett, A/Executive Director, Metropolitan Services, Department for Child Protection,

Transcript of Evidence, 12 November 2007, p10.
312 Ibid, pp28-29.
313 Peter Logan, Manager, Supervised Bail and Diversion, Rangeview Remand Centre, Transcript of

Evidence, 19 October 2007, p19.
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BWP perceived as a DET initiative

4.20 The DCD advised the Committee that as the BWP was being run out of the BSHS
when they began to place young people into the BWP, they were of the understanding
that it was a DET-run program.314

4.21 Ms Cheryl Barnett, A/Executive Director, Metropolitan Services, Department for
Child Protection advised the Committee:

Ms Barnett: Our understanding was that it was a program being run
out of Balga Senior High School in partnership with other providers.
Essentially it was a program from Balga Senior High School.

Hon HELEN MORTON: Can you say was there any other part of
the Department of Education and Training, either at district level or
central office level or whatever, that assisted you to believe that or
made anything happen that made you believe that?

Ms Barnett: … the discussions started happening in 2004; that there
was going to be a new program that was being developed at Balga
Senior High School and it would commence in 2005. We then had a
presentation by Mike Carton, who came to a staff meeting. I have met
with the principal, Merv Hammond, and Mike Carton down at the
school premises, and we had no reason - oh, and also there was the
steering committee that was established, and I attended one meeting
of that steering committee. The director from central office attended -
I do not know how many previous ones there were because we never
got any minutes, and the meeting I attended was in March 2005, and
there were not any other meetings beyond that of that steering
committee. But that was held down at the Balga Senior High School;
it was a breakfast meeting held down there. We had other personnel
from the high school. There was Mark Carton, who is actually the
principal of the Balga Youth program. Yes, it was - we had no reason
to believe other than it was another program developed at Balga
Senior High School.315

And further:

Hon PETER COLLIER: Just with regard to the delivery of the
accommodation component, if I can just pick up on something Ken
was saying. I know you have covered this - I think, Ms Barnett, you

314 Cheryl Barnett, A/Executive Director, Metropolitan Services, Department for Child Protection,
Transcript of Evidence, 12 November 2007, p2.

315 Ibid, p3.
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gave us a coverage of this. With regard to who was actually
providing the accommodation, you were always of the impression that
it was the Balga Parents & Citizens Association; is that correct?

Ms Barnett: No, we were always of the - that it was linked in with the
Balga high school.

Hon PETER COLLIER: Yes, but -

Ms Barnett: Because we were told initially that all of the employees
of the accommodation were employees of the education department.

Hon PETER COLLIER: You were told that, were you?

Ms Barnett: We were.

Hon PETER COLLIER: So as far as the department was concerned,
due diligence on all the employees -

Ms Barnett: That is right.

Hon PETER COLLIER: - was done by the department?

Ms Barnett: That is right.

Hon PETER COLLIER: It was not done by a private provider?

Ms Barnett: That is right.316

4.22 Similarly, the Committee was advised that it was understood by the DOJ that the
BWP was initiated by the Principal of BSHS and provision of the BWP was a
component of the overall education program.317

4.23 Meetings held with the DOJ representatives, Mr Michael Carton, Mr Hammond and
DET representatives led to the inference that the BWP was a project of the BSHS.318

For example, Mr Logan, Manager, Supervised Bail and Diversion, Rangeview
Remand Centre, advised the Committee:

Mr Logan: Certainly I had been privy to meetings with Merv
Hammond, Michael Carton and other Balga Works staff at the Balga
high school. I had also attended a meeting with the then Director of

316 Ibid, pp23-24.
317 Letter from Margaret Quirk MLA, Minister for Corrective Services, undated, Ref: 07019(2).
318 Peter Logan, Manager, Supervised Bail and Diversion, Rangeview Remand Centre, Transcript of

Evidence, 19 October 2007, p2.
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Juvenile Custodial Services, Jane Sampson and at that meeting was
Merv Hammond, Michael Carton and a number of representatives
from the local district office of the education department, who were
introducing and discussing the project and where it was going, and
actually seeking or requesting or exploring whether Juvenile
Custodial Services would possibly want to put some finances into the
program, which was declined.319

4.24 The Committee understands that the meeting Mr Logan was referring to was the Swan
Works Project Summit meeting held on 23 May 2005 in which representatives of
DOJ, Centrelink, Gundi Corporation, Swan Tafe, BSHS and the Swan District
Education Office attended. At this meeting Mr Garnaut spoke of the Swan Works
Program and it was noted that BWP “was moving towards a comprehensive and
sustainable ‘whole of life’ model termed Swan Works”. Mr Hammond and
Mr Michael Carton spoke on the BWP.320

4.25 With regards to Mr Michael Carton’s involvement in the BWP, the DCD advised that
they understood that the whole program was being run out of BSHS in partnership
with other providers and the accommodation aspect was being provided by MITS
represented by Mr Michael Carton.321

4.26 Mr Logan advised the Committee that the understanding of Banksia Hill Detention
Centre and Rangeview Remand Centre with regard to Mr Michael Carton was that he
was part of BSHS, and Balga Works was a project of BSHS, utilising the
incorporation of the P & C.322 Mr Logan advised:

Mr Logan: I would suggest that there would be reference to that in
the policy and procedures document. Certainly, the other evidence is
that for us to actually place a young person in a Balga Works
program we had to actually write a referral for the Balga Senior High
School, and that was part of that process. That is outlined in those
documents. That would be the evidence that we would have. There
was a degree, possibly, of inference there as well, and assumptions
may have been made based on the fact that Merv Hammond was
involved. I mean, personally I had had many dealings with that
particular individual over a number of years in my various roles that
I have taken working both for corrective services and as a
community-based manager of various youth services. We had worked

319 Ibid, p2.
320 Swan Education District Swan Works Project - Summit, Minutes of Meeting, Monday, 23 May 2005.
321 Cheryl Barnett, A/Executive Director, Metropolitan Services, Department for Child Protection,

Transcript of Evidence, 12 November 2007, p3 and p19.
322 Peter Logan, Manager, Supervised Bail and Diversion, Rangeview Remand Centre, Transcript of

Evidence, 19 October 2007, p2.
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on various activities and various programs previous to that, and
certainly my understanding was that he was a representative of the
education department, and certainly that was in his capacity as
principal of Balga Senior High School, and certainly there were other
deputy principals and what have you that were also on board and that
I had discussed this program with at that high school that were
clearly employees of the education department.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: Is it fair to say that if someone of Merv
Hammond’s stature rang up and said, “We are running this program
out of the school, and I want to send someone over from the program
called Michael Carton to talk to you guys about how we can deal with
some of your clients”, that would be taken at face value, and then
when that person turned up, someone would say, “Show me your ID”,
and you would accept that person as representing the department?

Mr Logan: Yes, that would be fair, and that is not an uncommon
scenario, not just in terms of this case, but quite regularly we will
have juvenile justice officers or child protection officers contact us
and say they are sending this individual to do an assessment or to
develop a care plan with regard to a young person who is currently in
our care. That would be a weekly, if not a daily, occurrence.

Hon HELEN MORTON: Other than Merv Hammond giving some
credibility to the status of Michael Carton, were there any other
Department of Education and Training people at a regional office or
any other place that in some way indicated to you that this was bona
fide, that it was okay to go along with it, or whatever?

Mr Logan: Certainly, the impression given at the luncheon that was
held in 2005, there were a number of people from the Department of
Education and Training and the education department and the
inference was that this was an education program and there was a
degree of - a commitment to work with disadvantaged young people
and that the Balga Works program was one of several programs
running through the Balga high school that identified and worked
with at-risk young people.

Hon HELEN MORTON: This luncheon, just remind me again: have
you already mentioned their lunch?

Mr Logan: I have, yes.

Hon HELEN MORTON: And that was at the Belmont -
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Mr Logan: At the Belmont Hotel. And further to that, certainly on
the number of occasions when I attended the Balga Works program at
Balga high school, the process of actually gaining access to the
program was to go in through the front office of Balga high school,
and, for all intents and purposes, it was one of the two or three
programs that were running from that school at that time.323

4.27 The Committee wrote to the Minister for Corrective Services and asked what
background checks were undertaken on Mr Michael Carton and was advised as
follows:

Mr Carton represented Balga Senior High School and an Education
Department Initiative.

Like any new employee within the Public Service, police checks had
to be completed by the Department employing that person prior to
them commencing within their position. In light of the fact that the
Education Department in the form of Balga Senior High School,
indicated to the Department of Corrective Services that Mr Michael
Carton was a staff member, it was taken that he had already been
subjected to the appropriate checks by that Department.

As such all that was required from Mr Carton when he attended the
Centre was to provide appropriate photo ID as per the normal
entry/exit processes.324

Committee comment

4.28 The Committee believes that the BWP and Mr Michael Carton were given credibility
through its association with BSHS. Both the DCD and the DOJ were under the
impression that the accommodation component of the BWP was an education
department initiative. This perception was based on, amongst other things, the fact
that Mr Hammond was accompanying Mr Michael Carton to meetings, that meetings
were held at BSHS, and that meetings were attended by Swan Education District
Office and other agency staff.

4.29 The Committee notes that no independent background checks were undertaken on Mr
Michael Carton or Hurson as the accommodation service providers by either the DOJ
or the DCD. Further that the DCD and the DOJ did not establish the bona fides of the
BWP. The Committee understands that these checks were not undertaken as both the

323 Ibid, pp6-7.
324 Letter from Simon Ward, Chief of Staff, Office of the Minister for Corrective Services, 3 October 2007,

p2.
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DOJ and the DCD were of the view that the accommodation component was
established by DET.

DCD Service Agreements

4.30 The DCD advised in their submission that each placement in the Balga Works
accommodation required an individual contract for service (Service Agreement). The
Service Agreement included:325

 the services required to meet the young person’s case plan;

 the standards expected by the DCD regarding, for example, police checks,
suitable environment, meals;

 the amount to be paid; and

 the way in which payment would be made.

4.31 The Committee noted that there were 19 young persons placed in the BWP by the
DCD. The Committee was advised by the Minister for Child Protection, however,
that the DCD has records of only six Service Agreements on file, four of which are
signed.326

4.32 The Committee was advised by Ms Cheryl Barnett that Service Agreements were only
entered into for four of the young people due to a breakdown in departmental process.
The DCD perception was that the BWP was a DET run program and thus contracts
were not required. Contracts are not required by the DCD if young people are placed
in an educational facility, and BSHS was considered an educational facility.327 Ms
Barnett explained the process to the Committee:

Hon KEN TRAVERS: Are you saying that there should have been a
service agreement for every student that was placed in Balga Works?

Ms Barnett: Yes; at the end of the day, there should have been.
However - well, yes, the reality is that at the end of the day there
should have been.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: So the failure that you are saying there was, a
failure in the system, was that there was not a service agreement
signed for every student - is that what you are saying? I am not clear

325 Submission No 18 from Hon Sue Ellery MLC, Minister for Child Protection, 13 August 2007, p3.
326 Letter from Hon Sue Ellery MLC, Minister for Child Protection, 24 October 2007, p1.
327 Cheryl Barnett, A/Executive Director, Metropolitan Services, Department for Child Protection,

Transcript of Evidence, 12 November 2007, pp1-2.
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about what you are saying. You said there was a breakdown. I am
just trying to work out what exactly was that breakdown.

Ms Barnett: Okay. Perhaps I will just walk you through what the
process was. The process first of all is that there has to be - an
application has to go up to the executive director for approval for a
particular student, a young person going into a program. We call
that “special purpose subsidy”. Now, 19 of those - for 19 of those
students - for 18 of them they were signed off by the executive
director, and for one they were signed off by the director. Okay, so,
where the miscommunication - a lot of our staff felt that was all they
had to do. Now, the second part of the process is that the service
agreements are established and signed off. Now, there definitely was
a misunderstanding and it went on - it was - initially, I thought, as a
district director, initially that is all we had to do, was to get approval
for what we call the “special purpose subsidy”. We were then
informed from central office, no, we had to establish - contracts had
to be established, and so there was someone from central office
assisting in the establishment of those contracts because a lot of our
field staff would never have established a contract as such before, and
may not ever again.328

4.33 The Committee noted that the parties to the Service Agreements were the Minister for
Family and Children’s Services and the BWP of BSHS. However, the completed
agreements were signed by the President of the P & C for the BWP.

4.34 The DCD advised the Committee that the Service Agreements were signed by the
President of the P & C on behalf of the BWP of BSHS and that the common seal of
BWP of BSHS was not affixed to three of the Service Agreements. The DCD was not
able to advise the Committee why Service Agreements were established with the P &
C.329 When asked why the common seal of the BWP of BSHS was not affixed to the
Service Agreements the DCD responded that questions relating to the use of the
common seal of the BWP of BSHS can only be answered by that organisation.330

DCD contractual processes

4.35 The Committee raised their concerns in relation to the DCD’s contractual processes
with the Department:

328 Ibid, p5.
329 Letter from Cheryl Barnett, A/Executive Director, Metropolitan Services, Department for Child

Protection, 28 November 2007, Attachment.
330 Letter from Hon Sue Ellery MLC, Minister for Child Protection, 24 October 2007, pp1-2.
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Hon KEN TRAVERS: Good process was not followed. What, I
guess, I am more concerned about now is making sure that the
processes into the future are such that this will not happen again. So,
I am not asking with the benefit of hindsight - I am trying to make
sure that when we go into the future, it will not happen again and that
is why I am asking whether or not there are very clear procedures;
that is , if this were to occur again, there would be a thorough process
to ensure that the documents are signed by the correct people. I have
got to say that when I get an answer when we asked the question
about who affixed the common seal and why it was not there, “Well,
that’s a problem for Balga Works and not for the department”, that
gives me great cause for concern that the department still does not
actually realise that if you are entering into a contract, you need to
make sure that the other party is formally entered into that contract
as well.

Mr Glew: Look -

Hon KEN TRAVERS: I guess that is why I want to know what the
procedures are -

Mr Glew: - I perfectly understand what you are saying.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: - for that to occur.

Mr Glew: Yes. Look, I have just signed off on 180 contracts with the
non-government sector. The seal has been on every one of them. We
are very familiar with the process. This is one of those things that, as
I said, in hindsight that should not have occurred, and we have
actually gone and identified a recent management plan, and I am
quite optimistic that we will not ever see this in the future.331

4.36 The DCD advised the Committee that mechanisms were currently being put into place
to ensure that such errors do not happen again. Strategies were in place to ensure that
for every child who was engaged in any fee-for-service arrangement that the proper
contractual arrangements were in place.332 Further, a project officer has been
appointed to ensure the following actions are implemented:333

331 Stephen Glew, A/Executive Director, Resource Allocation, Department for Child Protection, Transcript
of Evidence, 12 November 2007, p8.

332 Cheryl Barnett, A/Executive Director, Metropolitan Services, Department for Child Protection,
Transcript of Evidence, 12 November 2007, pp6-8.

333 Letter from Cheryl Barnett, A/Executive Director, Metropolitan Services, Department for Child
Protection, 28 November 2007, Attachment, p1.
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i) Examination and amendment of existing procedures for engaging and
contracting with ‘fee for service’ placement service providers. The
examination to include referral processes; levels of delegation; capturing of all
costs; monitoring of standards; and supporting contracting process.

ii) Development of a general panel contract, which may encompass mentoring;
placement; camps and respite. Other areas may also be examined as part of
the development of the general panel contract of approved service providers.

iii) As an interim risk management strategy, continuing ‘fee for service’
arrangements to only involve agencies which have undergone a due
diligence/QA process.

Ensuring the conditions of the Service Agreements were met

4.37 It is arguable whether the conditions of the Service Agreements were fully met. A
statement of work performed by the BWP as required by the terms of the Service
Agreements was not provided by the BWP to the Minister for Child Protection. The
Minister for Child Protection did advise, however, that the DCD Case Managers
received progress reports and attended meetings in regard to the services provided and
outcomes for the children and young people in the service.334

4.38 The DCD did not formally ensure that the requirements listed in the Schedule to the
Service Agreements were met, including police clearances for all staff, that relevant
policies and procedures were in place and files maintained for each young person.
However, the Minister for Child Protection advised the Committee that files were
maintained by the Case Managers and that records show intensive support by Case
Managers for young people in the BWP, many times recording daily contact. Further,
Case Managers worked closely with BWP staff to support the young people and there
were frequent visits by the DCD staff to the accommodation.335

4.39 The Minister for Child Protection also advised that the understanding of the DCD,
given verbally by Mr Hammond was that all staff working in BWP were employees of
the DET and were thus subject to normal police screening.336

Committee comment

4.40 It is of concern to the Committee that the DCD did not ensure that Service
Agreements were signed for all 19 young people placed in the BWP by the DCD.
Further, it is unclear whether the conditions of the Service Agreements were complied
with. However, the Committee notes that the DCD is currently reviewing its

334 Letter from Hon Sue Ellery MLC, Minister for Child Protection, 24 October 2007, p2.
335 Ibid.
336 Ibid, pp2-3.
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processes to ensure that the correct contractual procedures are established and
followed in the future.

FUNDING FOR THE ACCOMMODATION COMPONENT

4.41 The Committee was advised that initially the accommodation was funded by the
students rent assistance received through Centrelink. From May 2005, the
accommodation component was supported by funding from the DCD together with
any Centrelink benefits the students were entitled to.

4.42 The DCD submitted that they were advised by Mr Hammond and Mr Michael Carton,
at the time of the DCD’s placement of the first young person in May 2005, that the
training component was funded by the DET and that Centrelink benefits (Abstudy or
Youth Allowance) would meet the board and lodging costs for eligible young
people.337

4.43 The DCD paid board and lodging costs for those not eligible for Centrelink benefits.
This payment, equal to the basic subsidy payment338, was met from the service
delivery subsidy budget. In May 2005 when the DCD first placed a young person in
the accommodation, the basic subsidy was $300 per fortnight for a young person aged
between 13 years and 18 years. A clothing allowance of $400 every four months and
pocket money of $20 per fortnight were also paid through the subsidy system.339

4.44 The DOJ did not provide any funding to the BWP for any purpose at any time.340

4.45 The funding arrangement between the DCD and the BWP changed half way through
2006. The DCD submitted that from early 2006 they began to receive complaints
from accommodation workers that they were not receiving salaries. As a result, the
DCD worked with Mr Michael Carton to determine the actual costs of maintaining a
young person in the accommodation.341

4.46 From July 2006 the DCD agreed to pay the full cost of the accommodation of $1,448
per week per young person it placed, in recognition of its parental responsibility to
ensure stable placement for its young people. For those young people in receipt of
Centrelink benefits the weekly rate paid by the DCD was reduced in accordance with
the amount received from Centrelink. The DCD advised:

337 Submission No 18 from Hon Sue Ellery MLC, Minister for Child Protection, 13 August 2007, p3.
338 Basic Subsidy is the payment made to DCD approved carers as a contribution towards a child’s day to

day care costs.
339 Submission No 18 from Hon Sue Ellery MLC, Minister for Child Protection, 13 August 2007, p3.
340 Letter from Margaret Quirk, Minister for Corrective Services, 5 November 2007, p6.
341 Submission No 18 from Hon Sue Ellery MLC, Minister for Child Protection, 13 August 2007, pp3-4.
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At $1,448 per week the Balga Works accommodation, with its
support, supervisions and recreational services, compared favourably
with the cost of similar programs offered by other non-Government
agencies. (These costs did not include a component for the education
and training day component of the Program which were paid by the
Department of Education and Training.)342

4.47 Mr Michael Carton advised the Committee how the accommodation component was
funded and noted that in late 2005 the accommodation component was in deficit:

The CHAIRPERSON: How was the accommodation component of
the program funded?

Mr Carton: In the beginning, or the end, or do you want the whole
story?

The CHAIRPERSON: Perhaps you could start at the beginning and
explain how it changed.

Mr Carton: Okay. Initially, it was funded - the young people would
get rent assistance through Centrelink and they were staying in the
accommodation provided by Brooke Stone. The issues were manyfold
and certainly the younger ones were particularly at risk and it was -
there was a decision made through the school, through the principal,
that it should be a staffed house. That took place in 2004. At that
stage, we understood that the funding for the housing was coming
from the department of education. I think it was later in that year - it
certainly was later in 2005 that we understood there was a deficit.
DCD had approached the program with the intent of establishing how
they could provide residential funding. Additionally, the young
people were paid an ABSTUDY payment and that boarding allowance
was paid to Steve Rushforth [Deputy Principal343] so that we could
employ staff and have houses and do all those thing things that had to
be done. DCD, during the latter part of 2005 from memory - no, 2006
- in 2006, I think it was March or April, started to pay, I think it was
more than $180 a fortnight, from memory, and they started looking at
benchmarking payments comparative to other residential providers
and they started putting in place individual contracts for each of the
young people they were placing in the housing. At no time did the
Department of Corrective Services pay for any of the young people
they sent to the program, or in the cases where there was conditional

342 Ibid.
343 Stephen Rushforth was the Deputy Principal at BSHS.
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releases, they indicated there would be a tender and that there would
be bills, as I understood it, issued to those schools from those
departments, but it never eventuated.344

DET involvement in the accommodation component

4.48 Mr Michael Carton advised that when the decision was made through Mr Hammond
in 2004 that the housing should be staffed, it was understood that the funding would
be coming from the DET.345

4.49 Mr Garnaut advised that there was some expenditure on accommodation by BSHS,
and that was recorded in the school’s financial records.346

4.50 Whilst Mr Hammond was instructed not to be involved in the funding of the
accommodation component by Mr Garnaut,347 BSHS were nonetheless contributing
to the funding of the accommodation component. Mr Hammond, when asked why he
paid for the accommodation, stated:

We were promised all these funds. A lot of it was for accommodation.
The funds did not come; students were being turfed out in the street.
The moral side of me said that I probably needed to pay for the gas,
otherwise we would get cut off; that I needed to pay for the
accommodation, otherwise they would get turfed out in the street.
Morally, I was - you know, I was not on the moral high ground; I felt
it was just something I had to do, given that these funds were going to
come.348

4.51 The Committee received evidence that BSHS purchase order forms, signed by Mr
Michael Carton were being used for the accommodation. Mr Michael Carton advised
that they were used on instruction from Mr Hammond.349 Mr McCaffrey advised the
Committee that there was no record of the school paying these accounts.350

4.52 All payments for accommodation workers are alleged to have gone through BSHS:

344 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, pp4-5.
345 Ibid.
346 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,

pp10-11.
347 Public Sector Investigation Unit, Western Australia Police, Balga Works Program Timeline, p2 (private

evidence) and Submission No 15 from the DET, August 2007, p6.
348 Mervyn Hammond, former Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 7 November 2007, p14.
349 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, p5.
350 Letter from Peter McCaffrey, Deputy Director General, Finance and Administration, DET, 2 November

2007.
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Mr Carton: Okay. The accommodation side - the employment
contracts were drawn up and signed by myself, my wife or David
Cunningham the HR man that was putting the contracts together.
And again all the salaries though were contained in back-to-back
schedules for the school. They were all supposed to be paid through
the school and then when we found out that the school was not paying
it, that is when DCD stepped in and said they would pay it.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: Sorry - the accommodation program was
supposed to be paid for through the school?

Mr Carton: The first 12 months or whatever, the schedules were all
paid through the school - all the accommodation. All elements of it
were paid for by the school, including the rental on the houses and
those things were all paid for by the school. Mr Hammond had
assured my wife that in signing the lease agreements that he could not
do it because the school could not have a lease, but that we should
sign them and that was what was done.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: And that did never concern you that you were
taking on all these obligations without any contract with the school?

Mr Carton: Mr Travers, we did not sleep nights over that. But
again, we were faced with the fact that we believed in the chap that
was doing it, we were meeting with so many people that were telling
us that everything was right and we should keep going. And we also
believed that the service we were trying to provide for young people
was a service that was needed for these young people.351

Committee comment

4.53 The Committee was hindered in its inquiry by the limited evidence it was able to
obtain in relation to the funding of the accommodation component, including the lack
of detail on income and expenditure of the accommodation program. However, it
appears from the oral evidence received by the Committee that the expenditure for the
accommodation component exceeded its income.

4.54 The Committee notes that Mr Hammond was advised by Mr Garnaut that the BSHS
was to have no involvement in the funding of the accommodation component of the
BWP. However, despite this instruction the BSHS was providing funding to, and
issuing purchase orders for, the accommodation component without DET
authorisation.

351 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, pp20-21.
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4.55 Whilst possibly understandable in the circumstances, the Committee notes that neither
the DOJ nor the DCD undertook any due diligence checks on the service provider to
ensure that it was financially viable and capable of operating the accommodation
component.

ISSUES RAISED REGARDING THE ACCOMMODATION COMPONENT

4.56 A number of issues and concerns in relation to the accommodation component were
raised with the Committee by former employees and staff of the BWP, and the
property managers and owners of the accommodation. These included allegations of:

i) out of control behaviour of the young people including drug taking, violence,
accusations of sexual abuse and intimidation;

ii) Mr Michael Carton bestowing gifts and giving special treatment to favourite
students;

iii) unqualified staff employed as carers;

iv) lack of discipline;

v) poor quality of food provided;

vi) damage to property by students;

vii) complaints from residents of Joondalup;

viii) unpaid staff wages; and

ix) unpaid rent.

4.57 It is alleged that Mr Michael Carton did not allow any of the carers, teachers or
behaviour management team to discipline the students when their behaviour warranted
it and that all disciplinary actions were to go through him. A former employee of the
BWP submitted that:

It was from this time on that my hands were tied and that it became
very difficult for me to do the job that I was employed for. Young
people were allowed to run riot with under aged drinking, street
drinking, vandalism, drug taking, hurling abuse at staff and
neighbours. This was all reported to Mr Carton and his main reply
was leave them alone they have had horrible pasts and they are
damaged goods and need to see and know that people care about
them. I replied that we can do this by showing them that this type of
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behaviour is wrong and is not acceptable he replied by telling me to
keep my mouth shut and that I am to have nothing to do with them.352

4.58 On this issue Mr Michael Carton disagreed and advised:

Mr Carton: No, I would not agree with that. I would say that there
were particular personality differences with some of the young people
that would bring that about. These were highly adrift young people
and some of the staff would have their own views on how to deal with
that. I made many mistakes in dealing with them myself. None of us
had the appropriate training to deal with those young people at that
level.

The CHAIRPERSON: The other thing -

Mr Carton: What we would do in the event that they were on
supervised bail or on full conditions, in a number of instances, there
was process or a procedure that was worked out through Corrective
Services - and a charter was put in place where we would have to go
back through them. We were not able to do those things that many of
the staff expected to be done, in the way it would be done in a
residential setting, because of the issues prevailing with the young
people. I could not disclose some of those, such as the young people
who were on the sex offenders’ register and the issues that prevail
there. I was not able - or at liberty - to discuss or disclose some of
those issues. I would have to go back to the agency that was
managing those young people first. I could not do it on the spur of
the moment and then it would not be me, but it would be the agency
involved that would undertake the actions required.353

4.59 It was alleged that Mr Michael Carton did nothing to control the behaviour of the
young people, including drug and alcohol taking, vandalism, abusing staff and
neighbours. Mr Michael Carton refuted this and advised:

Mr Carton: I would strongly rebut that statement. I was actively
involved in that on a daily basis. I can see why people would have
that perception. There were certainly staff that were disgruntled for
pays - and they had every reason to be - that would have that view,
and I certainly understand their issues.

352 Submission No 6, p3.
353 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, pp25-26.
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The CHAIRPERSON: An allegation that you gave difficult and
dangerous students roles of responsibility, including staffing at the
Joondalup accommodation?

Mr Carton: Flatly, no. There was young people who were at extreme
risk and we tried to work with them to build self-esteem and we would
give them the opportunity to, hopefully, work with staff to buddy up,
but at no time were they given -

Quite honestly, there were times when we did not have staff and we
had to work with the best of what we had because we had nowhere to
send those young people on that night. I am sure there were times
when it was not what we wanted it to be but we had no option.

The CHAIRPERSON: There was an allegation that you advised
staff not to report incidents of assault by students to the police?

Mr Carton: Not at any time; not at any time. In fact, the police got
very sick of me wanting to have the young people charged for things
like that.

The CHAIRPERSON: How about issues to do with breaches of bail
conditions or such matters?

Mr Carton: I am not following you there.

The CHAIRPERSON: Reporting of breaches?

Mr Carton: We reported the breaches in accordance with their bail
conditions.354

4.60 The Committee received evidence that there were unqualified staff trying to manage
very difficult young people:

Mr Lennox: I was concerned that the staff that were looking after
them were not properly qualified or trained to do the job and that they
were not employed specifically for that. Because of the type of
children that were being housed there, they needed some pretty well-
trained staff to be able to deal with that. Even DCD staff would have
trouble dealing with what we had,…355

4.61 On this issue Mr Michael Carton advised:

354 Ibid.
355 Stephen Lennox, Supervised Bail Coordinator, Perth Children’s Court, Transcript of Evidence,

24 September 2004, p17.
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Mr Carton: I would certainly agree with that to a large extent. The
ability to pay restricted immensely the calibre of person that was
employed - and their qualifications. I could not disagree with that
one.356

4.62 A number of complaints were made to Mr Michael Carton in relation to the
accommodation in Joondalup from local residents. In relation to this issue Mr
Michael Carton advised the following:

Mr Carton: There were certainly many complaints. Without a doubt,
it was a program that - there was no forethought or planning in it and
it resulted in a lot of the issues that prevailed with the residents, and
many of them rightly so. It is fair to say that the complaints were
dealt with initially through the school. They were to be directed
through to the school and then the school would respond. I recall
attending some residents’ meetings where it was agreed that the
principal would be contacted and there was a separate time where I
would be contacted in the event of the complaints. When there were
complaints, we would work with the residents to the best of our
ability. I might say that in many instances the ability on my part fell
well short in dealing with the residents’ complaints that were coming
through.357

4.63 The Committee was told that the food provided to the students was inadequate and not
very nutritional, provided from the Foodbank, with much of the food out of date and
there was no fresh fruit and vegetables.358

4.64 On this issue Mr Michael Carton advised:

Mr Carton: I would say that I believe the food was adequate. I think
it was better than adequate. Out of date - yes. The Foodbank - which
is where we drew a lot of the food from when we were struggling with
money like all agencies - food is out of date but it has been deemed
usable and most NGOs and care providers do draw from the
Foodbank. So, it was out of date but it had been cleared for
consumption through the Foodbank. We drew it from the Foodbank
of Western Australia.359

356 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, p24.
357 Ibid, p5.
358 Session 8, Transcript of Evidence, 11 September 2007, pp8-9, (private evidence).
359 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, p24.
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4.65 The Committee received evidence that wages of staff employed at the accommodation
were paid irregularly, with many staff not receiving wages for weeks and months at a
time. Many former employees have still not been paid wages owed to them.
Superannuation and taxation were not paid at all.

4.66 The Committee was advised that the rents were largely unpaid from the beginning and
were always in arrears and cheques often bounced.

4.67 The managing agent of the accommodation, Brooke Stone Holdings Pty Ltd,
withdrew in February 2006 as they were not being paid, with rent outstanding totalling
$35,000. From then on the owners of the property dealt directly with Mr Michael
Carton.

4.68 Mrs Flaherty, Director, Brook Stone Holdings Pty Ltd submitted:

When it was obvious funds were not coming from the Education
department - Balga Senior High School, or wherever Michael Carton
was receiving them, we could not afford to do all we had agreed to do
- because we were not being paid we did not amend the accounts
again - just sent the same ones in with a total each week/month or
when ever he asked for one. He was so far behind in his payments -
we didn’t even have enough to cover the rents to the owners each
month.

…

To date we had nine (9) bounded cheques from Michael Carton which
have cost us $450 in bank fees.

The trouble was, when Mr Carton did pay (usually 4 weeks later than
promised) the next month’s rent was due to be paid again. Even after
many warning and eviction notices sent by us he only gave us part of
the money - always leaving outstanding balances.360

4.69 Mr Padmanabham, an owner of one of the Nottinghill Street units advised:

Mr B. Padmanabham: Rent was overdue; rates, water bills, taxes
were not paid and we had to pay them after receiving final notices
and demand letters from the appropriate authorities; and these are
outstanding.361

360 Syndicated Development Pty Ltd, Michael Carton: Advice to REBA, 31 January 2006, pp3-4.
361 Bhupathy Padmanabham, Transcript of Evidence, 4 October 2007, p2.
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And further:

Mr B. Padmanabham: … Up to November 2006, we had a lot of
problems getting the rent. We had to more or less bug him every day,
ring him up and chase him. He even once came to my office to give
me the money and he said it was his own money because the
government had not paid him.362

4.70 The owners advised the Committee of a meeting they had in late February 2006 at
BSHS with Mr Michael Carton, Mr Hammond, and a man from the P & C. At this
meeting Mr Hammond assured them that the government, through the DCD were
behind the whole program and provided the funding.

It was agreed that all outgoings including building and contents
insurance would be the government’s responsibility. The units were
to be modified by Balga Works but the properties would be handed
back ‘new’ at the end of the lease (i.e. the properties restored to
original condition).363

4.71 The units were vacated in approximately mid 2007, however, rent remains outstanding
from November 2006.

4.72 Mrs Flaherty and Mr Padmanabham advised the Committee that they contacted the
DET and the DCD for assistance but did not receive any:

Hon HELEN MORTON: You make comments about your pleas for
assistance to the DCD, the Department of Education and Balga
Senior High, which fell on deaf ears. Who did you speak to at DCD
and when?

Mr B. Padmanabham: I spoke to Colin Simpson. I sent emails to
him in April.

Hon HELEN MORTON: April of what year?

Mr B. Padmanabham: 2007. That is when all the problems started.

Hon HELEN MORTON: And in the Department of Education?

Mr B. Padmanabham: There was a lady. Sorry, I moved all my
documents over. I wrote it down on the front page. Swan education
centre, Anna Coffey at the education centre.

362 Bhupathy Padmanabham, Transcript of Evidence, 4 October 2007, p6.
363 Tabled Paper No 4 from Bhupathy Padmanabham, p4, tabled 4 October 2007.
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Hon HELEN MORTON: When was that?

Mr B. Padmanabham: I do not have a date on that one. It was all
around the same time. Then there was Jon Cook from DCD, Gary
Taylor of Balga Works, October 2006. Then there was Jeff Harris of
the P&C of the Balga high, October 2006; Cherryl Barnett and Anne
McKay of DCD Mirrabooka.

Hon PETER COLLIER: You contacted all of those people, is that
what you are saying?

Mr B. Padmanabham: Yes, because I was passed on from one
person to the other saying, “Talk to these people.” So I contacted all
of them to find out what was happening and where the money is; how
do I get the money, and things like that.

Hon PETER COLLIER: This was all around the same time, which
would have been when?

Mr B. Padmanabham: October.

Hon PETER COLLIER: October last year - 2006?

Mr B. Padmanabham: 2006.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: October 2006?

Mr B. Padmanabham: Yes.

Hon PETER COLLIER: What was the response from those people?

Mr B. Padmanabham: Most of them said, “We’ll look into it and get
back to you.” Then I kept on calling them and then they would pass
me onto another department saying that they could not do anything
because it was not their area, or something like that. So, we just went
from one to the other until, in the end, I ended up with Colin Simpson.
Then we wrote to the Premier and a few other people this year.364

And:

Mrs Flaherty: …

Another thing is that he gave me four LPOs for August 2005 and each
one was $7 800. The name of the school was Balga Senior High

364 Bhupathy Padmanabham, Transcript of Evidence, 4 October 2007, p9.
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School and he signed it. I thought, “Gee whiz, I have LPOs here.”
Every time I thought that something was wrong he would come up
with another idea and Merv Hammond seemed to back him. I tried to
ring the education department to ask if we could get payment on this.
The education department said. “That is a different section; it has
nothing to do with us.”

Hon PETER COLLIER: You rang the department, not the school?

Mrs Flaherty: I rang the school but I actually rang the education
department and when I tried to get through I was told that Balga
Works is a different operation to them. I said, “How far can I go?” I
do not know a lot of people.

Hon PETER COLLIER: Can you recall who you phoned or which
department you spoke to?

Mrs Flaherty: It was the department itself because somebody knew
somebody in teaching. I cannot remember.

…

The CHAIRPERSON: You said you made a phone call - it does not
matter if you cannot remember who it was to - to the department.

Mrs Flaherty: Yes and I asked for the section, supply - that is what it
was.

The CHAIRPERSON: It was one phone call?

Mrs Flaherty: I tried twice and they said they could not do it. After I
had finished with them, they gave me a few names of people but I did
not process it. I just wanted to my wipe hands of it.

The CHAIRPERSON: Do you remember roughly when that was?

Mrs Flaherty: Around end of 2005-06.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: When you spoke to the education department,
did you mention that you had a purchase order?

Mrs Flaherty: Yes.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: What was their response to that?
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Mrs Flaherty: The person I spoke to in supply - that is where I was
told to go - said, “Just a moment”, and went through to someone else
and said, “It is not our section; we don’t have anything to do with
that.” They basically said, “Look, you will have to go back to Balga
Senior High School. They’re the ones that answer that.” They
referred me back to Balga.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: Did you go back?

Mrs Flaherty: It was like flogging a dead horse. When I went to
Balga I got Michael Carton. Michael did not like me very much at
that stage. It must have been about January-February of 2006. He
was trying to get me in other ways. He knew I was on to him by that
stage, if you can call it that. I was awake up to him and was not
going to take anymore. By then he was not answering my phone calls
or anything. Merv Hammond was not any better. He said, “If
Michael says it’s going to come, it will come.” They both led me, my
husband and my accountant to believe that they had two $250 000
grants and then another $500 000 grant and all this was coming
through from the education department. I just had to hope because
we were behind in rent. That is it.365

Committee comment

4.73 The Committee notes that the program lacked sufficient funding to hire and retain
suitably qualified staff, to pay rent and to ensure that the young people were provided
with suitable food. The Committee was unable to establish whether this was due to
inadequate funding, misappropriation of funding, mismanagement of resources or a
combination of these factors.

365 Lesley Flaherty, Director, Brooke Stone Holdings Syndicated Development, Transcript of Evidence,
4 October 2007, pp3-4.
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FINDINGS

Finding 3: The Committee finds that:

a) Mr Michael Carton did not have the necessary skills and expertise to establish
the accommodation component of the program;

b) planning and staff training was inadequate to deal with the young people placed
in the program; and

c) that Mr Michael Carton mismanaged the supervision of the young people in the
accommodation program. This included lack of suitable supervision and the
lack of effective discipline and behaviour management.

MONITORING THE WELLBEING OF THE YOUNG PEOPLE BY THE DCD AND THE DOJ

The DCD

4.74 The Committee was advised by the DCD that the progress of the young people placed
by the Department at BWP was monitored by their DCD Case Manager. It was a
requirement of the BWP that Case Managers attend regular meetings with residents
and staff. Indications from BWP and case managers was that this occurred in the
majority of cases. The DCD Aboriginal Support Worker based at Mirrabooka District
also visited the young people at the school on most days.366

4.75 The Committee was advised that the DCD Case Managers received progress reports
and attended meetings in regard to the services provided and outcomes for the children
and young people in the service, however, as previously stated at paragraph 4.37, the
Minister for Child Protection was not provided with a statement of work performed by
the BWP as required by the terms of the Service Agreements.367

4.76 As Service Agreements were not entered into for the majority of young people placed
at BWP by the DCD, the Committee queried how it was possible for the DCD to
gauge whether they were getting the service that they were expecting? Ms Barnett
responded as follows:

Ms Barnett: Well, there were certainly very regular meetings, as you
would have gathered from the -

The CHAIRPERSON: With caseworkers?

366 Submission No 18 from Hon Sue Ellery MLC, Minister for Child Protection, 13 August 2007, p5.
367 Letter from Hon Sue Ellery MLC, Minister for Child Protection, 24 October 2007, p2.
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Ms Barnett: Yes, with the caseworkers, as you would have gathered
from the file information that we sent through. Also, we had a
worker at Mirrabooka, the Aboriginal support worker, who was down
at that program daily. So, we had very good feedback and we felt that
we knew we had good information about what was happening. The
case manager - there was a process, certainly, I mean, it was easier
for the Mirrabooka case managers because we were close - certainly
met with the Balga Works people on, generally, a weekly basis to
actually review the students’, the young persons’, progress.368

4.77 The minimum frequency a case manager is required to visit someone under his or her
charge is on a quarterly basis. Ms Barnett advised the Committee that staff at
Mirrabooka were undertaking weekly reviews of young people in BWP but the
reviews were done at BSHS not at the accommodation.369

4.78 In relation to the anti-social behaviour around the accommodation, the DCD advised
that they were aware of these and that such issues were not uncommon:

Ms Barnett: It depends what you see as issues at the accommodation
service. At various times issues were coming to me about the
accommodation that we were taking up with Mike Carton. I was
called up to the member for Joondalup -

Hon PETER COLLIER: Tony O’Gorman.

Ms Barnett: Yes. Myself and another district manager met with Tony
O’Gorman. A lot of it was around the anti-social behaviour around
the units in Nottinghill. There were various issues coming from the
accommodation. I do not think I have ever stated here that the
accommodation was without issues. None of our accommodation for
any facilities where this cohort of young people are residing is
without issue with the local community, where they are located.
Those concerns that were coming to us, many of them were not any
different from what we get as a department for any of our
accommodation services where there is a concentration of this cohort
of young people.

And:

Hon HELEN MORTON: You also said that the problems around
the accommodation were no different to any concentration of young

368 Cheryl Barnett, A/Executive Director, Metropolitan Services, Department for Child Protection,
Transcript of Evidence, 12 November 2007, p9.

369 Ibid, pp30-31.
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folk of the type that were being accommodated there. In your view,
how many people constitute a concentration of young folk?

Ms Barnett: That was one of the issues up at the accommodation.
Because they had those four houses all in a group, there were
certainly far more young people in one area than what we as a
department would have in one of our facilities. In any of our
facilities, I think eight is about the maximum number that we would
have in one facility, whereas in the end Balga Works had four houses
- they were all back to back, all in one area. That in itself led to
problems because of the numbers of young people who were actually
concentrated in one area.370

The DOJ

4.79 The DOJ advised the Committee that at no time were any issues raised with them that
raised concern about the wellbeing of the young people or of the capacity for the BWP
to operate. At no point did they believe or feel that the BWP through the BSHS was
not an environment that could provide a positive influence on young people:

Hon PETER COLLIER: … As I understand it, you were very happy
with the comprehensive reporting mechanisms that were in place for
the referrals program.

Mr Logan: Yes.

Hon PETER COLLIER: They indicated no problems. Is that right?

Mr Logan: There were always issues with young people we placed at
Balga Works; there were always issues with young people we placed
in most hostels.

Hon PETER COLLIER: In terms of duty of care were any instances
of concern raised with any of the reporting mechanisms between
justice and Balga Works up to 16 June?

Mr Logan: There were no instances, to my knowledge, that were
raised with me that would preclude us from placing young people
there. There were incidents raised. There were issues in terms of
young people who had been at Balga Works and we had to breach
because of behaviour. There were young people who had been at

370 Ibid, pp25-26 and p27.
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Balga Works who we had to breach because they had offended whilst
in Balga Works or whilst part of that program.371

4.80 The DOJ were aware of the issues related to unpaid wages and the financial viability
of the program prior to it making a decision to stop sending young people to the
BWP.372

4.81 The DOJ advised that there are constantly concerns in terms of every young person
that they have placed, whether with a family or hostel:

Quite regularly there are issues and concerns that we need to
address, but there were no concerns at the point that young people
were at risk or that young people were not in a conducive
environment.373

4.82 The Committee was advised by the DOJ that the monitoring of bail through the
Supervised Bail Unit is coordinated with Community Justice Officers, the Department
of Community Development and family members. Monitoring included:374

 contact by the Supervised Bail Unit with the BSHS and the BWP on most
days by phone or through contact at the Perth Children’s Court;

 supervised Bail staff and/or Community Justice Officers attended Balga
Works weekly;

 regular meetings between the supervised bail coordinator and the senior
liaison officer at Rangeview Remand Centre on each young person in a
placement; and

 case work supervisors from Community Justice Services met with
representatives of supervised bail every four weeks to discuss, amongst other
issues, Balga Works and raise any concerns or issues. These were then taken
to Balga Works by representatives either from the Joondalup or the
Mirrabooka Community Justice Services so they could be addressed.

4.83 The Committee noted the advice of the DOJ that the supervision in terms of reviewing
the placement by the DOJ is quite thorough, however, that may not be physically
seeing a young person, but instead having phone contact with a young person; so, for
example, for most of the young people that are placed on supervised bail, a condition

371 Peter Logan, Manager, Supervised Bail and Diversion, Rangeview Remand Centre, Transcript of
Evidence, 19 October 2007, p14 and p21.

372 Ibid, pp10-11.
373 Ibid, p14
374 Ibid, p9.
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of their bail would be a component where they need to report either to the supervised
bail coordinator or to the juvenile justice officer regularly, up to three or four times a
week, by phone, ringing in.375

The DOJ withdraws from the BWP

4.84 Supervised Bail concluded business with BWP on 20 July 2006.376 The Committee
was advised that this decision was reached based on the conclusion that BWP was not
in a position to positively influence the conduct of the young people on placement and
was unable to provide adequate support and direction. It was also apparent that the
program was having issues with staffing and with its structure.377

4.85 Mr Logan advised the Committee of the issues that factored in the decision to stop
placing young people in the BWP:

Mr Logan: No, the concern was - the reason that we stopped was
that - and I think I did say this before - is that we found that young
people we had had in the program had committed self-harm whilst in
the program and that information had not been passed on to us and
that coupled with the financial situation and industrial issues that
were raising -

Hon KEN TRAVERS: But you did have -

Mr Logan: Very much so.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: - concerns about around the care and
protection and the environment in which the children were living and
being cared for?

Mr Logan: Absolutely. Now, for example, if a young person was in
another setting and that was the issue that was presenting was that
information had not been passed on, we would more than likely
approach that agency and say, you know, we need to know what are
the circumstances around this particular incident and whether in fact
we need to address some issues with a particular staff member,
because we do not want to lose the option of placing young people in
the community, but we also do not want to be in the situation where
information is not being passed on. Because of this circumstance and

375 Ibid, p9.
376 Letter from Peter Logan, Manager, Supervised Bail and Diversion, Rangeview Remand Centre,

Department of Corrective Services, 29 October 2007.
377 Letter from Simon Ward, Chief of Staff on behalf of Margaret Quirk MLA, Minister for Corrective

Services, 3 October 2007.
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the other issues that were occurring, there was a culmination and a
sense of like, this is actually - we are far better just to pull away from
this agency. Certainly that has happened before - there are other
agencies that we have had concerns with and we have just said we
will not use that agency again.378

Committee review of the monitoring processes of the DCD and the DOJ

4.86 Concern with the processes of the DOJ was raised by Mr Lennox. He advised the
Committee that there was no check undertaken by the court of someone claiming to be
the ‘responsible person’ for a child:

Hon SHEILA MILLS: Police clearances?

Mr Lennox: Anybody can walk in off the street and say, “I am the
responsible person of this child”, and the court takes it at face value
and no check is ever done.

Hon PETER COLLIER: But we are not talking about one child; we
are talking about dozens and dozens.

Mr Lennox: We are talking about lots and lots of children.

Hon PETER COLLIER: So do these saints have to have any
qualifications at all? Can anyone just walk off the street and access
these vulnerable youth?

Mr Lennox: And people like me who work in the industry have a
horrible feeling in the pit of our stomachs and say, “Can we please
check on these people?”

Hon PETER COLLIER: That seems absolutely extraordinary.

Mr Lennox: It does. It does.

The CHAIRPERSON: Is that still possible now?

Mr Lennox: Yes.379

4.87 The Committee wrote to the Minister for Corrective Services and asked what checks
are undertaken by the Department of Corrective Services when a person attends a

378 Peter Logan, Manager, Supervised Bail and Diversion, Rangeview Remand Centre, Transcript of
Evidence, 19 October 2007, pp16-17.

379 Stephen Lennox, Supervised Bail Coordinator, Perth Children’s Court, Transcript of Evidence,
24 September 2007, p18.
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juvenile detention centre or the children’s court claiming to be the responsible adult of
a young person and requesting access to that person. The Minister advised that:

A person attending a juvenile detention/remand centre with the intent
of accessing a young person is required to provide photo
identification. This includes Official visitors such as Police, Dept of
Child Protection, and Community Justice Staff.

Standing Order 12 of the Rangeview Remand Centre outlines the
process for family, community and official visitors; this order states
that visits from persons other than siblings (with parents) can be
made with approval of the Superintendent but the parents of the
detainee must give written agreement and in the case of under 18’s
their parents must given written approval (and they can only visit with
an approved adult). The Standing Order also outlines the process for
official visitors and police visits/interviews.

A person attending the centre with the intent of signing a Responsible
Person Undertaking is required to fulfil the following criteria;

1) the person is in a position to influence the conduct of the
child.

2) the person is able to provide the child with support and
direction.

In all cases the Authorising Officer [sic] must satisfy themselves that
the criteria has been met.

If and when persons other than a parent/caregiver attends the centre
to undertake a Responsible Person Undertaking the Family Liaison
Unit liaise with a parent regarding the suitability of the individual to
take responsibility for their child. Under circumstances where the
parent is unwilling or unable to have input into the assessment, the
Family Liaison Unit will seek advice from the Dept of Child
Protection with regard to the suitability of an individual.

On those occasions where the Supervised Bail Unit are undertaking
the role of responsible person and placing the young person in a
hostel or community setting the agency or government department
need to comply with the relevant standards and legislation including
Police clearance and Working with Children clearances.

With regard to the Children’s Court the process and approval of
Responsible Persons Undertakings is done through the Clerk of the
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Courts, which is under the auspice of the Department of the Attorney
General.380

The DOJ processes post the BWP

4.88 The Committee asked whether the DOJ had reviewed its processes to ensure that it
does not again refer young people to a program experiencing problems like the BWP.
In response the Minister for Corrective Services advised that:

Supervised Bail have a responsibility to place young people in a
positive environment with people conducive to their well being. There
are clear and written agreements outlining expectations and
protocols with the services currently utilised by Supervised Bail. With
one exception all services are funded through government and have
meet [sic] the criteria of the respective funding agreement.381

4.89 Mr Logan advised the Committee that they have tightened their process as a result of
the DOJ experience with the BWP:

Mr Logan: One of the unfortunate aftermaths of the BWP is that we
are a lot more cautious and careful about where we place young
people, and we ensure that we have very clear written protocols with
agencies and hostels that we are actually placing young people with,
above and beyond just the general document that has come out of our
database. And in terms of those protocols, which we review generally
every 12 months or so, they very clearly outline our requirements and
certainly there are some agencies that find that they cannot actually
fulfil our particular needs in terms of reporting, and we choose not to
use those agencies, and that is no reflection on their capacity; they
just see that it is a conflict with their particular role and the term
“soft cop” comes in, and certainly -

Hon KEN TRAVERS: Do you have an audit process, though, to
make sure that there - is there some sort of auditing process to make
sure that they are fulfilling their obligations?

Mr Logan: Aside from contact and discussion?

Hon KEN TRAVERS: Hmm.

Mr Logan: No.

380 Letter from Margaret Quirk MLA, Minister for Corrective Services, undated, (ref: 07019(2)).
381 Letter from Margaret Quirk MLA, Minister for Corrective Services, 5 November 2007.
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Mr Robins: No, it is very difficult. I mean, most of it is going to be
through supervision or contact, I mean, and I guess the only way that
people know whether there has been a breach is whether the young
person is either caught out or does something wrong and gets caught.
So, the difficulty is in terms of how do you actually audit, and it does
rely to a large extent on trust with the organisation and the
arrangements and agreements that we have got. If they do not report
it or the kid does not get caught, there may well be a breach and no-
one will ever be aware of it, and there is no way of actually knowing
whether there has been a breach until such time as, yes, something is
found out.382

DCD processes post the BWP

4.90 Refer to paragraph 4.36.

Committee comment

4.91 The Committee notes:

a) that both the DCD and the DOJ initially felt that the BWP was a suitable
placement for young people;

b) the view of the DCD and the DOJ that the issues and concerns raised in
relation to the anti-social behaviour of the young people were not uncommon
for such an accommodation service;

c) the monitoring processes of both the DCD and the DOJ, and that these
processes did not identify the failures in the administration of the program.
However, these processes seem consistent with the established procedures of
these Departments; and

d) the evidence from the DCD and the DOJ that they have improved their
placement processes.

4.92 The Committee cannot come to a conclusion on the adequacy of these monitoring
processes.

Recommendation 5: The Committee recommends that a review of the monitoring
processes for placements by the Department of Corrective Services and the
Department Child Protection be undertaken.

382 Peter Logan, Manager, Supervised Bail and Diversion, Rangeview Remand Centre, Transcript of
Evidence, 19 October 2007, p13.
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CHAPTER 5
ISSUES WITH THE BALGA WORKS PROGRAM

ISSUES WITH BSHS MANAGEMENT

5.1 Overarching the issues that were being experienced by the BWP were the issues being
faced by the whole of the BSHS resulting from poor management (see paragraphs
3.34 to 3.43).

5.2 These issues had been identified by the Mr Garnaut in 2004 and were primarily about
school planning, accountability and management practices and outcomes in the
school. These management issues were seen to be related in part to the range and
complex structure of the programs and in part to the lack of capability of the
management team at BSHS.383

5.3 These issues were noted in a report by Mr Jonathon Cook of Meta Ink, 17 January
2005, that was commissioned by Mr Garnaut (Cook report). The Cook report
examined the financial, leadership, management and personnel structures and
operations of BSHS, with the purpose of determining either the capacity of the school
to fund an additional Level 4 Deputy Principal position, or/and the need for an
application to DET Corporate Executive to provide such a position additional to the
school’s resources.

5.4 The Cook report commented on the organisational complexity of a school offering
numerous programs but operating on a mainstream school based structure, and the
management problems which arose from this:

However, management problems which accrue are demonstrable in
the performance of the school:

 The school essentially is provided for on a mainstream basis,
but must then redeploy positions to fit special programs.

 The school regularly and successfully goes outside of the
system to seek funding for special programs it mounts, in
effect resulting [in] a culture incorporating factors such as
standard versus special; mainstream leadership versus
special program leadership; and divided or complex
responsibilities for the school’s overall leadership.

383 Jonathon Cook, Meta Ink, Report: Balga SHS, commissioned by John Garnaut, Director of Schools,
Swan District Education Office, DET, 17 January 2005.
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 Sustainability is always a problem for special programs
which rely upon extra-ordinary funding for survival.

 Decision-making (including planning, curriculum,
accountability and reporting) becomes inconsistent across
school years (because separate Year DP’s are responsible)
and across the mainstream and the set of special programs
(because each special program tends to ‘go it alone’, with its
own leadership and the mainstream leadership tends to
ignore the special programs for the same reasons).

 The overall school leadership of principal and two L4 DP’s
finds itself running a normal school (even if very small)
together with a set of complex sub-schools.

 The school is always at loggerheads with the conservative
nature of WA mainstream schooling and culture …

5.5 The Cook report also noted that the existing funding basis for the BSHS was stretched
mainly due to the school’s focus on pastoral care and personalised support for students
in need. Further, there was no sense of financial management at the BSHS.

I further find that, while the school is ‘imaginative’ in its approaches
to utilising its available funds to meet its programmatic needs (its
budget transference achievements are illuminating, and - given the
school’s demonstrable financial probity - provide a model for a self-
managing school committed to utilising its resources to the fullest
capacity on behalf of the real needs of its students and staff!), there is
no sense of financial management. It [sic] just that the school
currently does not have capacity in terms of this report’s purpose.384

5.6 However, it was noted in the Cook report that the BSHS had been audited and was
shown to be financially accountable:

The appended set of financial documents supports my findings that
the school is financially accountable and has been audited as such.385

5.7 The Cook report stated that the Principal was not a standard management-model
principal and that he required a particularly defined and strong support leadership
team, in order to remain in management control:

384 Ibid, pp4-5.
385 Ibid.
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It is my view that the principal of Balga SHS is remarkable for his
innovatory and risk-taking endeavour on behalf of a problematic and
needy group of students. But he is not a standard management-model
principal - and perhaps could not be if he were to engage in the
endeavours he has attempted. He requires a particularly defined and
strong support leadership team, in order to remain in management
control. He has not had and does not have this team …

5.8 Mr Taylor was appointed as the supplementary deputy principal in Semester 2, 2005
to help address the issues with the school (see paragraphs 3.35 to 3.40). Mr Taylor
advised the Committee that poor management was the major issue confronting the
school:

Hon KEN TRAVERS: From your experience now having been in the
school, what would you say was the most important thing the school
needed at the time that you were appointed?

Mr Taylor: Good management across the board, which includes
financial management, of course. Twelve out of the 13 programs had
good managers who had not been taught or trained in how to
manage. A big part of my job was to upskill them in much of that and
part of that was financial management. It was absolutely through no
fault of the 12 of the 13 programs that they were strapped for cash
and there was no money in the school. It was the thirteenth program,
that lucky number, that drained the school of all its resources.386

5.9 Mr Taylor advised the Committee that budgeting and financial management were also
major issues that the BSHS was facing, and that by the end of 2005 and in 2006 the
BSHS had run out of money:

Mr Taylor: … One of the things I determined to do, and it was partly
by default and partly by design, was to try to work into the school
plan each program plan with a budget. Budgeting and financial
management was clearly an issue for the school. I tried to work into
program plans - each program had a manager, a coordinator, and I
worked with them through financial management processes and
getting a budget happening. Budgeting is easy when you have money.
When you do not have any money, you cannot budget. It became
nearly an impossibility in many cases. We had these projected
budgets - these airy-fairy “what would you do if” sort of budgets.
Towards the end of 2005 and for pretty much all of 2006 the school
literally had no money. It was the only reason that the staff from

386 Gary Taylor, Deputy Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 1 November 2007, p23.
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Hurson were not being paid. They were paid until the school ran out
of money.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: When you were appointed to the position,
financial management was not one of the high areas?

Mr Taylor: Definitely not.387

INADEQUATE FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT OF THE BWP

5.10 The BWP had no operational budget established to guide expenditure on the program:

Hon KEN TRAVERS: … Was there ever a budget and a proposal
put together at the commencement of the program?

Mr Carton: No, Mr Travers, no. It was like topsy. The amount of
times that we sat down with Mr Hammond and said we have got to get
this in order, it cannot keep going and there was always the promise -
we were told to even go out and employ a risk assessment person to
do the risk assessment, but there was no money for it. You know,
there was always somebody else to employ or to talk to that never
amounted to anything. It grew like topsy. There was absolutely no or
very little planning at any time. The only time I think there was any
measure of structure was when Mr - Gary Taylor the deputy that was
sent from the school started to put things into order and Steve - Steven
- the deputy before Gary, who in three weeks worked out that the
school was insolvent, that the program should shut and - or be
funded. He told everybody within the department of education and
then he was moved within weeks of that. It was unbelievable how
quickly - he told people exactly how it was. He and I sat down - Steve
- I cannot think of his surname - but we sat down and worked it out.
He agreed - we both said it just could not continue. He told
everybody and then they moved him.388

5.11 Mr Taylor advised the Committee of the ad-hoc nature of the financial management of
the BWP:

Mr Taylor: To the best of my knowledge, until I actually drew up the
budget, there was never a budget drawn up, so it was just basically,
well, you know, we have enrolled 150 kids; we will get FTE for 150
kids; we will employ the staff that are going to be required for that

387 Ibid.
388 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, p20.
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number of kids. This is - I do not know this for a fact. This is my
guesstimate of how it panned out.389

Committee comment

5.12 The Committee notes that the BSHS was experiencing management and financial
problems and did not have a strong organisational structure in place to support the
programs being offered at the school.

5.13 The Committee notes that Mr Hammond commenced the BWP in 2004. The
Committee further notes that the BWP was formally sanctioned in 2005 as a school
based program by Mr Garnaut and with the concurrence of other senior officers of the
DET, even though they were aware of the problems facing the BSHS at that time.

5.14 The Committee notes that the financial management of the BWP was inadequate.

NO DUE DILIGENCE UNDERTAKEN ON MR MICHAEL CARTON, MITS OR HURSON

5.15 The Committee in its inquiry discovered that no background checks or due diligence
were undertaken by the DET on Mr Michael Carton, MITS or Hurson at any time.

5.16 The Committee understands that when Mr Michael Carton first presented himself to
Mr Hammond and the DET, it was as an employee of what appeared to be a credible
and successful program being run by MITS, which had personally been viewed by
Mr Somerville, Mr Hammond and Mr Hodge in May 2004.

5.17 The Committee has not received any evidence to show that background checks were
undertaken on either MITS or Hurson at the time they were engaged by BSHS to
operate the BWP. The Committee notes that MITS went into liquidation in April
2005.

5.18 The Committee notes that Mr Michael Carton was an undischarged bankrupt.
Mr Michael Carton’s bankruptcy details were entered on the National Personal
Insolvency Index on 30 September 2003.390 He also pleaded guilty in a Victorian
Court to defrauding the Commonwealth of $140,000 in 1999.

5.19 Mr Hammond advised the Committee that he did not undertake any background check
on Mr Michael Carton:

The CHAIR: Did you undertake any checks on Michael Carton’s
background?

389 Gary Taylor, Deputy Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 1 November 2007, p33.
390 Australian Government Insolvency and Trustee Service Australia, National Personal Insolvency Index,

extracted on 27 September 2007.
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Mr Hammond: No. I had his brother on the staff. I sort of spoke to
Michael fairly - fairly - long about his own background, being an ex-
Balga high school student in the seventies and those sorts of things,
but, no, I did not check.391

5.20 Mr Hammond advised the Committee that he did not know Mr Michael Carton was a
bankrupt in the early stages. When asked by the Committee when he became aware of
Mr Michael Carton’s bankruptcy Mr Hammond was in the Committee’s view evasive
as to if, and when:

The CHAIR: Were you aware of Mr Carton’s bankruptcy, and if so,
when and how did you become aware?

Mr Hammond: I certainly read things in the paper much later in the
piece, but nothing in the early stages.

The CHAIR: So, can I clarify: are you saying you became aware of
Mr Carton’s bankruptcy via the media?

Mr Hammond: He changed - he came to me once and said that the
MITS was going to change its name to Hurson because of an issue
and then I stumbled on the fact that there was possibly some
bankruptcy-type things evolving at that point in time. Now, I cannot
remember what month or what year or whatever.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: So, bankruptcy for MITS or for Mr Carton?

Mr Hammond: Well, I am not quite sure, to be honest. It certainly
was something that was around the place. I do not think it was
bankruptcy for Carton that was - it must have been bankruptcy for
MITS, I think.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: So, Mr Carton has never spoken to you to
advise you that he is a - he was in - bankrupt?

Mr Hammond: I do not, I cannot remember any discussion like that.
No, I do not remember that, no.392

5.21 Mr Hammond further advised the Committee that if he knew Mr Michael Carton was
a bankrupt he would have obtained clearance:

391 Mervyn Hammond, former Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 7 November 2007, p11.
392 Ibid.



TWELFTH REPORT CHAPTER 5: Issues with the Balga Works Program

G:\DATA\EF\efrp\ef.bwp.080529.rpf.012.xx.a.doc 155

Hon KEN TRAVERS: If he had advised you that he was a bankrupt,
would that have changed the way in which you dealt with him, do you
think?

Mr Hammond: I would have got some clearance from someone.393

5.22 Mr Michael Carton, however, advised the Committee that he had told Mr Hammond
that he was an undischarged bankrupt prior to the program commencing and that Mr
Hammond had assured him that it was not an issue for him:

The CHAIRPERSON: Did you inform Mr Merv Hammond at any
stage that you were an undisclosed [sic] bankrupt; and, if so, when?

Mr Carton: I was an undischarged bankrupt. Mr Hammond was
made aware of that prior to commencing the program. Mr Hammond
explained to me that that will not make any difference. He had a staff
member, [name deleted by Committee], who had been or was
bankrupt and it did not make any difference in what I was doing. I
did go through that with him and I made that very clear at the time.
He related a staff member who was in that position.

The CHAIRPERSON: Can you remember when you made that
disclosure to Mr Hammond?

Mr Carton: When I was sitting in his four-wheel drive on a very hot
day. That would have been in 2004 in the first or second visit to
Perth.

The CHAIRPERSON: Was there anybody else present when you
told Mr Hammond?

Mr Carton: No, I do not believe so. Mr Hammond readily spoke
about it in the company of others throughout the program.

The CHAIRPERSON: Did you ever disclose your status as an
undischarged bankrupt to any of the individuals or agencies of
government from which funding or other approvals were sought in
connection with the Balga Works program?

Mr Carton: No, I do not believe I did. In each of those activities, for
school or other agencies, I always attended with one of the staff of the
school or one of the other Department of Education and Training

393 Ibid.
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staff. Mr Hammond was well aware of the position at all times. That
is why Mr Hammond insisted on being involved.394

5.23 Mr Garnaut advised the Committee that the Investigation Reference Group had not
undertaken any checks on Mr Michael Carton or Hurson at the time that it was making
the decision to continue the program in early 2006. Mr Garnaut further advised that:

Mr Garnaut: At that time, there was no information available to the
department that I am aware of that indicated that Michael Carton had
problems in other parts of his business life, and so it was not
perceived as a need to interrogate Michael Carton for his role in the
program early in 2006.395

5.24 Due diligence checks are intended to identify whether an organisation is responsible,
reliable and legitimate and has the financial capacity to deliver the services for which
they are being contracted.

5.25 Mr Garnaut advised the Committee that he was not aware of any policies, procedures
or guidelines where due diligence checks should occur before the DET enters into
contracts or allows a non-government provider onto a school site. The principal is
however, required to confirm that the provider is appropriate to work on site:

Hon KEN TRAVERS: I just want to go back to the question about
what checks were done about Michael Carton or Hurson at the time
of making the decision to extend the program. Your comment was
that no-one was aware of any concerns about Mr Carton at the time.
I guess my question is, though: before the department enters into
contracts or allows a non-government provider onto a school site, are
there any policies, procedures or guidelines on what should occur
before those contracts are entered into or people are allowed onto the
site?

Mr Garnaut: Well, the principal needs to confirm that they are
appropriate people to work on site, that they have a police clearance,
and we talked previously about their right to accept duty of care.
They are the general, run-of-the-mill checks that are done.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: Are you aware of any policies or procedures,
because from the way you have explained it today, principals have a
degree of autonomy in terms of what they can do in terms of the
operations of their school and how they can use their budget? So if

394 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, p8.
395 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,

p33.
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they decide to use some of that budget to engage outside
organisations, are there any guidelines at all for them in terms of due
diligence checks that they should do to make sure that the company
that they are dealing with is a responsible, reliable and legitimate
organisation that has the financial capacity to deliver the services
that they are being contracted to etc, that you are aware of in the
department?

Mr Garnaut: I am not aware of any such particular policies.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: But is it common for schools to enter into
contracts with outside providers of services?

Mr Garnaut: It is not common. Most schools do not.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: But every school does have the capacity to do
it if they chose to.

Mr Garnaut: They do have the capacity to as long as they operate
within department policies and guidelines, and the key one, of course,
is the financial management in schools policy and the contract
management policy, which requires calling for tenders with any
expenditure, for example, with a provider that is going to be over
$100 000.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: But I still would have thought that some sort
of requirement to do some sort of due diligence on the company and
the senior executives of it. There is no policy there?

Mr Garnaut: I am not aware of any policy in that area, but I can
certainly follow up on that one if you wish me to.

Hon KEN TRAVERS: If it was there, is it likely as a director you
would know that, because obviously I would assume that principals
come to you for advice and say, “I want to do this. What do I have to
do?” So, if you are not aware of it, is it likely that most principals
would not be aware of it as well.

Mr Garnaut: I would say most principals are not aware of such a
policy because very, very few principals engage in that type of
operation.396

396 Ibid, pp33-34.
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5.26 When asked how Mr Hammond would have been aware of his obligations if there
were no written policies and guidelines, Mr Garnaut responded that he had instructed
Mr Hammond to meet with the manager of contract services to ensure that Mr
Hammond was fully cognisant of all contract management policy. This meeting
occurred on 14 February 2005.

The CHAIRPERSON: Can I just follow up on that one a little bit,
too? So, as I understand what you are saying, is it that there are not
any guidelines, to your knowledge, that are written down or
documented anywhere to deal with these checks. How would it have
been, then, that Mr Hammond would have been aware of his
obligations if there was nothing in writing?

Mr Garnaut: When we were planning the Swan Works program, and
Merv Hammond was intimately involved in that, and that commenced
late 2004, because there was involved the contract of a private
provider in the Swan Works program, I ensured and directed Merv
Hammond to link and speak and meet with our manager of contract
services, so that he could be fully briefed with full details of contract
management processes.397

Committee comment

5.27 The Committee notes that no background checks or due diligence were undertaken by
the DET on Mr Michael Carton, MITS or Hurson at any time. The Committee further
notes that Mr Michael Carton was an undischarged bankrupt and that he had pleaded
guilty to defrauding the Commonwealth in 1999.

5.28 The Committee notes the evidence of Mr Garnaut that there are no written policies or
guidelines for the contracting of a private service provider by a school.

5.29 The Committee is of the view that the DET should have specific written policies for
the due diligence checks that should be undertaken when engaging a private service
provider in a school. Further that the DET should ensure that principals implement
these policies.

Hurson not a registered training organisation

5.30 The Committee noted that Hurson was not a registered RTO.398

397 Ibid, p34.
398 Supplementary Information provided by John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET,

25 October 2007, p2.
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5.31 The Committee noted that the RTO status of Hurson was raised in the December 2005
audit and investigation report (see paragraph 3.64). As advised by Mr Garnaut:

Hon PETER COLLIER: Just with regard to that, then, in the
investigative report that came out in December of 2005, one of the
areas needed to be investigated was whether Hurson was a registered
RTO. Was that determined?

Mr Garnaut: I cannot recall the detail of the follow-up to that
particular issue.

Hon PETER COLLIER: It would be extraordinary if Hurson
were not a registered RTO. Would you agree with that?

Mr Garnaut: It would be extraordinary - what - I am sorry?

Hon PETER COLLIER: If Hurson were not a registered RTO,
and delivering service delivery that had options in a secondary
school.

Mr Garnaut: Yes.

Hon PETER COLLIER: So, this was just in the investigative
report that was prepared for you in December 2005. One of the
findings said - was the second contractor, Hurson Pty Ltd, a
registered RTO? I think that is a logical question, and if the money is
being directed into Hurson, you would assume that it is being directed
into a legitimate company. Is there any way we can find out, or you
can find out, whether or not Hurson was a registered RTO, and
whether or not that question was actually determined through the
investigative report?

Mr Garnaut: Through the investigation reference group, different
people took different responsibility for different parts of the
investigation and operations that followed. I just cannot recall at this
time who took responsibility for following up on that particular item.

Hon PETER COLLIER: But as I said, certainly in light of the
audits that were done, you would have to assume that would have to
be a pivotal question to be asked. Is the company that is delivering
the services a registered RTO?

Mr Garnaut: Would you like some follow-up on that particular
issue?
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Hon PETER COLLIER: Yes, just on whether or not it was
discovered whether or not Hurson was a registered RTO.399

5.32 The Committee notes that the Burgess Report included an interview with Mr Michael
Carton in which he states that Hurson has never been an RTO:

Question

Was Hurson Pty Ltd an RTO?

Response

It has never been an RTO.400

5.33 The Committee notes that the Burgess Report also included an interview with
Mr Hammond in which he states that Hurson was an RTO:

Question

Is Hurson Pty Ltd an RTO?

Response

Yes.401

5.34 Mr Garnaut advised that the RTO status of Hurson was not considered or checked by
the Investigation Reference Group when deciding whether to continue with the BWP
in 2006.402 He also advised the Committee that Mr Hammond did not raise this issue
with him or the Investigation Reference Group. Further, that both Mr Hammond and
Mr Taylor indicated that Hurson was operating as an RTO.

There is no reference to the statement by Carton about Hurson’s RTO
status in the summary or any other party of [sic] Burgess Report. The
RTO status of Hurson was not dealt with at the Follow Up Meeting on
3 January 2006 … or by the Special Audit Investigation Report …

Inquiries have indicated that there is no record of Hurson being
registered as an RTO at the Western Australian Training
Accreditation Council, or its Victorian counterpart.

399 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
p33.

400 Peter Burgess, Investigation Balga Works Program DET, December 2005, p58.
401 Ibid, p18.
402 Supplementary Information provided by John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET,

25 October 2007, p2.
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MH sought continuation of Hursons [sic] as a provider from 2005 to
2006. To my knowledge he did not raise any issues relating to
Hursons [sic] and RTO status with line management or with members
of the Investigation Reference Group, despite numerous meetings.403

Committee comment

5.35 The Committee notes Mr Newton’s advice that it was not essential that the service
provider be a RTO given the educational background of the students and the nature of
the program.404

5.36 However, the Committee believes that it was essential for DET to establish that the
provider had the demonstrated ability and expertise to deliver the educational and
training programs.

5.37 The granting of RTO status to a private provider indicates their ability and expertise to
deliver the educational and training programs.

5.38 The Committee notes that neither the Principal nor the Investigation Reference Group
sought to establish the ability or expertise of Hurson.

5.39 The Committee is of the view that the Investigation Reference Group should have
followed up on this matter when it was raised in the Burgess Report of December
2005 and before recommending the continuation of the program in 2006.

Recommendation 6: The Committee recommends that the Department of Education
and Training develop written policies and guidelines for due diligence checks that are
to be undertaken by a school when engaging a private service provider. This includes
ensuring the private provider has processes in place to ensure that the staff hired by
the private provider are appropriately qualified.

CONCERNS RAISED WITH THE OPERATION OF THE BWP

5.40 Evidence received by the Committee showed that there were many concerns raised in
relation to the operation of the BWP throughout the life of the program. These
concerns related to:

i) the inadequate behaviour management of the students attending the program;

ii) health and safety issues for staff and students attending BSHS;

403 Ibid, pp2-3.
404 Supplementary information provided by Keith Newton, A/Deputy Director General, Schools, DET,

undated, p1.
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iii) the failure of the program to deliver the educational outcomes it was
promising;

iv) the accommodation component of the BWP (refer to chapter 4 paragraphs
4.56 to Finding 3); and

v) unpaid wages of BWP staff (refer to paragraphs 3.150 to 3.152 and paragraph
4.65)

5.41 It was submitted to the Committee that the behaviour of the BWP students was very
threatening and out of control. Mr Taylor advised that he spent much of his time
setting up a process to manage the behaviour of the BWP students:

… Certainly with Balga Works, the initial issues that I was presented
with were mostly behaviour management. What was really in my face
most of the time were issues with Balga Works kids going into the
school grounds and presenting many significant behavioural issues.
These were the very pointy end kids - the very, very worst of the
worst, I suppose, in terms of their behaviour, attitudes and
backgrounds. Many of them were coming to school drug affected.
Many of them had had no schooling or very little schooling
previously. Many of them were simply not capable of surviving in any
sort of other schooling program - not even special programs, let
alone mainstream programs. They really were the worst of the worst
sorts of kids. At any given time there could have been 30 or 40 of
them on site. They presented quite significant problems - they really
did. The majority of my time - and I remember relaying this to John
Garnaut a number of times - in that first semester was simply working
with the staff at Balga Works to get the behaviour management
systems right. I guess that took the focus away from everything else
at that point in time.

The CHAIRPERSON: In your view, how were those behavioural
issues being managed at that time?

Mr Taylor: They were not particularly being managed initially. I
have a background in behaviour management. …. I have worked at
some pretty tough schools dealing with the top-end kids and
behaviour management systems across the schools for those kids. I
believed I could get in there and fix it up, and I believed I did. I
worked with the staff to implement a number of strategies that made
those kids and their behaviours tenable; in other words, confining
them, having safety procedures like two-way radios, having staff
clearly visible with loud coloured vests and so on, and making sure
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the kids were clear on what the expectations were - a whole range of
strategies that actually confined them to a particular area. We found
some other areas for them to go to that were not impinging on the
actual school itself, which was further out at the back of the school.
We opened up an area there for them.405

5.42 The misbehaviour of the students at the BWP was negatively impacting on the staff of
the BSHS who were untrained to deal with the BWP students. Mr Taylor advised:

We made sure that the mainstream Balga Senior High School staff
were clear on their roles and responsibilities, because they were
unsure about what to do if a kid from Balga Works came into the
school grounds - they were not sure what was their responsibility.
The kid would just tell them to, “Fuck off. I’m not doing anything.”
If they dared to try to challenge that, they would pick something up
and hurl it at them. So it was making sure that the Balga Senior High
School staff were clear on their roles and responsibilities, making
sure the kids from Balga Works and the kids from Balga high school
and all the staff knew what they were supposed to be doing at any
given time and, if things did go pear-shaped, as they often did,
applying sanctions for the Balga Works kids, which had them off site,
because that was not previously available to us. It was really
important that the Balga high school staff, as any school staff, when
they saw kids doing the wrong thing, were seen to be taking some
action. So they felt safer and better. At one stage in 2005, I think,
basically, the Balga high school staff were ready to walk out and say,
“We’ve had enough”, but we fixed it, and from late October,
November, through to mid December 2005 would be, as I would
describe, very much the best period for Balga Works. There would
have been 40-odd kids on site every day, they had a reasonable
educational program, they were not misbehaving particularly, other
than odd pockets towards the end, and things were looking pretty
good.406

5.43 Mr Lennox similarly advised the Committee that a major problem he encountered at
the BWP was management of the students and the impact the behaviour of the
students had on staff of the BWP:

Hon PETER COLLIER: Why was that? What were the main
problems in terms of the management of the day-to-day operations of
the program, as you saw it?

405 Gary Taylor, Deputy Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 1 November 2007, pp2-3.
406 Ibid, p3.



Estimates and Financial Operations Committee TWELFTH REPORT

164 G:\DATA\EF\efrp\ef.bwp.080529.rpf.012.xx.a.doc

Mr Lennox: Trying to stop them from killing each other; killing
themselves; people with drugs around the school trying to entice the
children out; just the management of children that had not been
managed.

Hon PETER COLLIER: If there were 20 or 30 staff on hand, what
was the problem in terms of behavioural management? Was there a
problem in terms of ascertaining who was responsible for certain
students or was it just a lack of determination about responsibilities
for each of the staff?

Mr Lennox: Staff morale was obviously low across the board. Some
staff just got to the stage where they were not turning up - so we were
relying on some staff who were not turning up. The teachers could
only teach if they had someone to assist them in the management of
the children during the day. So, it was a matter of making sure that
there was somebody there to manage them if there was a crisis - that
somebody was capable of dealing with that crisis - [and] to get these
children focused and stop these children from literally killing each
other. If you had to do something off-site, it would take a
considerable number of the staff. The staff that were supposed to
work at the hostels on duty at night time, were not supposed to be on
duty during the day time; but sometimes they would have to just
because of the sheer numbers.407

5.44 Mr Adrian Brand, Acting Deputy Principal at BSHS and the BWP Coordinator from
April 2006 to August 2006,408 raised many concerns with the BWP, which were noted
in a letter to the Balga Works Management Committee as follows:

The situation as it exists in BWP is increasingly untenable.

Issue 1:

Students who are sick, coming “down”, severely agitated or whose
behaviour is unacceptable are being permitted on the school site.
This causes considerable problems for the staff and program. Our
ability to risk manage the problem is compromised, as they are often
abusive, violent, destructive and noncompliant. The prevailing
atmosphere becomes confrontational as the perception exists that
there are no consequences for antisocial behaviour.

407 Stephen Lennox, Supervised Bail Coordinator, Perth Children’s Court, Transcript of Evidence,
24 September 2007, p5.

408 Fifth Submission from the DET, September 2007, Attachment G, p3.
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Issue 2:

Certain students refuse to engage in class; wander around, swear,
threaten, imbibe in substances, and actively encourage others to
truant or misbehave. These students are a threat to other BSHS
students and staff and compromise the efficacy of the program. Our
ability to serve suitable sanctions and behavioural modification plans
are compromised and restricted. I am officially stating that we have
on campus, intolerable and dangerous OHS and Duty of Care issues.

Issue 3:

Students arrive from the accommodation without having suitable
clothing (tank tops, open shoes, low cut blouses, unwashed and
rancid), some are overly tired from staying up with substance abuse
or a spree. Others have had their employment or course severed due
to sleeping in and unpreparedness [sic]. Many students are regularly
stoned.

Issue 4

Influential, recidivist individuals actively defy staff instruction and
flagrantly disrespect people, property. Such students seem to be able
to come and go despite their crimes. Negative role modelling is
endemic and pervasive.

Issue 5

The acting DP has had no input from LACs or Curriculum leaders
regarding rigour, curriculum design, assessment, reporting or
pedagogy. At present, the nature and skills of the staff determine the
curriculum, whether appropriate or not. Facilitation of an engaging,
relevant and inclusive curriculum is problematic.

There are a plethora of other issues that negate the exceptional
willingness of staff to make this program successful. Staff stress and
burnout is accelerated due to the dysfunctional nature of the program
at present. Inconsistent management of individuals and the disparity
of pastoral care between school and accommodation is frustrating.

…409

409 Letter from Melissa Gillett, DET, 18 December 2007, Appendix 22, Email from Mervyn Hammond,
Principal, BSHS, to Melissa Gillett, 7 August 2006 with attached letter of concern from Adrian Brand
(undated).
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5.45 Further, concerns of Mr Brand were noted in a email to Ms Gillett, Mr Taylor, Mr
Hammond and others as follows:

As you know I have been highlighting various OHS and Duty of Care
issues that arise in BWP, particularly with the disparity between DET
and Hurson’s Behaviour Management … eg staff assaults, drug abuse
ad nauseam ad infinitum. Two assaults of staff this week, and drug
affected students on campus will serve to illustrate my example.

Very little proactive and meaningful [sic] can be accomplished by me
as the staff are not DET employees so therefore my management,
advocacy and support is compromised. …

My health (and the BWP staff) has suffered and I cannot ethically
support the structure and function of BWP in its present form. My
urging for change has not been complied with, and I have not been
paid the appropriate remuneration. …

The most pressing issue right now is to replace all walkie-talkies as
our internal communication is dysfunctionally deficient. Michael has
been aware of this for some time but stasis prevails. …

You may not be aware but the confronting situations and issues daily
would not be tolerated by DET, Worksafe or Union if they were
aware, …410

5.46 Mr Taylor advised that he received many complaints from staff and that he had
concerns for the safety of the students and staff at BSHS:

The CHAIRPERSON: I guess did you have concerns for the safety
and duty-of-care aspects?

Mr Taylor: Of course. Yes, absolutely. That is why I worked with
the occ health and safety reps. When I first got to Balga high school,
there were certainly very strong rumblings that the staff were going to
walk off site, quit, whatever. There was a huge up-swell of concern
and angst about the behaviour of the Balga Works kids.411

410 Letter from Melissa Gillett, DET, 18 December 2007, Appendix 23, Email from Adrian Brand to Melissa
Gillett, Merv; Gary Taylor; tubby; patcarver; cooky, 23 August 2006.

411 Gary Taylor, Deputy Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 1 November 2007, pp10.
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5.47 Mr Lennox advised the Committee that in his view, the BWP was not fulfilling what it
was initially purported to be fulfilling, which was to educate and care for these
children.412

5.48 Private evidence received by the Committee from former employees and students
involved in the BWP relayed incidents of the operation of the BWP that exemplified
the concerns noted above. For example (see also paragraphs 4.56 to 4.64):

Witness H: Before I went, we wanted to know if I was going to get
my year 10, and he said -

Witness G: “Oh, definitely.”

Witness H: And then about November they told us that we had not
done the right work, that they had not given us the right work to do
our year 10 -

Hon PETER COLLIER: I am not quite sure what you mean by
“doing your year 10”.

Witness G: Well, they could not pass their year 10 certificate. They
would not get anything - any recognition for having completed year
10.

Hon PETER COLLIER: To move into senior secondary.

Witness G: To go up, yes. So if he had left then he would not have
had anything that said he had passed year 10.

…

Witness G: There was no basic education program at all. There was
a little bit of maths and a little bit of English, I think - like, “Let’s find
a worksheet, give them a worksheet; they can fill that one out and
that’ll keep them busy.” That is how it appears to me now that I - it
was pretty devastating to find out that he was not going to get his year
10, and then when I tried to contact Michael Carton, of course, he
would not answer his phone - ever, ever, ever - and there was no way
of getting through to him, but then they employed a couple of the
teachers and I went in and saw them. I think, being one of the few
children who had parents there, it was pretty unusual for a parent to
come in, and I went in and they said they had started them going
through the TAFE mature-age year 10 program, and [name deleted

412 Stephen Lennox, Supervised Bail Coordinator, Perth Children’s Court, Transcript of Evidence,
24 September 2007, p11.
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by Committee] did that over the summer holidays, which was pretty
hard for him to cope with too, because he went to school while his
other mates were not at school.413

And:

Hon KEN TRAVERS: What programs were actually running at the
school at that stage?

Witness J: You mean after June? The art program. The thing is that
when we were at the school, there was very little structure, so as
much as we would try really hard to get the students to actually
participate in stuff, there was no structure and there was no way. We
just could not get them to do it. I remember in the morning for some
reason they were not eating breakfast at the accommodation before
they left, so when they came down, the staff organised a room where
they would have breakfast. They would get them doing little
worksheets at least. There was no structure and the kids just felt that
they could do what they wanted, because any time we tried to
discipline them, it just did not work.414

And:

Hon PETER COLLIER: What would the kids do during the day?

Witness D: What would they do? Just run amok. We were chasing
them for school. They were going off school grounds. I chased a
pimp away from one of the girls at the school who was giving her
drugs for sex. Michael knew that.

…

Hon PETER COLLIER: I was aware that there was a degree of
disorganisation in terms of the mechanics of the operation of the
program but I was not aware that it was that parlous, I must say. As I
understood it, I was led to believe that these kids were engaged in
nationally accredited programs -

Witness D: Absolutely not.

Hon Peter Collier: - as in VET-endorsed programs.

413 Session 7, Transcript of Evidence, 11 September 2007, pp3-4. (private evidence)
414 Session 1, Transcript of Evidence, 24 September 2007, p6. (private evidence)
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Witness D: Absolutely not.

Hon PETER COLLIER: I am sorry; I am not disagreeing with
you; I am just saying that that is what I thought Balga Works was.

Witness D: Balga Works was meant to be a holistic program. It was
meant to help drug and alcohol counselling; it was meant to have
accommodation, education and skills-based coaching …. . All that
gamut of people - if the structure had been there, it could have been a
fantastic program, and that is how he got the funding. But it was
never run like that. When I first went there in December, I thought he
was an idiot. I thought that he was a guy with a great idea but he
does not know how to manage staff and he does not know what he is
doing.415

THE P & C

5.49 As previously stated, the BWP was a cooperative project between the BSHS, the P &
C and a private service provider.

5.50 The P & C was a supporter and an advocate of the program and it assisted the service
provider in sourcing funding for the BWP.

5.51 The P & C involvement in the BWP began in 2004, when it assisted in the
establishment of the BWP by applying for $40 000 grant funding in August 2004 from
the Office of Crime Prevention for the initial planning phase of the program (see
paragraphs 2.59 to 2.61).

5.52 The P & C was acting as an intermediary for monetary payments and donations
between BSHS and Hurson. Payments from BSHS were receipted to the P & C main
account and then out to Hurson.416

5.53 Mr Mynard advised the Committee that membership of the P & C included key
members of the BSHS management staff including Mr Hammond, the Registrar of
BSHS who was also Treasurer of the P & C and Mr Taylor:

Mr Mynard: Then Balga Works had its own management committee,
which was also a subcommittee of the P&C and also had its own
separate bank account. We were trying to get greater accountability
of any funds that were coming through and it was a management
committee made up predominantly of those in the school. By that time

415 Session 4, Transcript of Evidence, 11 September 2007, pp10-11, (private evidence).
416 Audit and Risk Management Directorate, DET, Audit Final Report on Balga Senior High School P & C,

23 July 2007, p4.
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Gary Taylor had come on board, so he was a prime focus - he would
have got most of the minutes, I think.

Hon PETER COLLIER: Who else was on that management
committee, do you remember?

Mr Mynard: Jon Cook took the chair, he was the vice president of
the P&C, Gary Taylor, Merv, myself and anybody else we needed at
the time. That was pretty much the crux of it. There were a couple of
others, but I cannot think who they were.

Hon SHEILA MILLS: I refer to the subcommittee. Who was the
Treasurer? Who handled the accounts for that committee?

Mr Mynard: It ran through the P&C Treasurer, Michelle Green,
which became an issue too. It is another one we will get to.

Hon PETER COLLIER: Was Michelle Green on the management
committee?

Mr Mynard: No, not directly. At that time it seemed to be an
advantage to have the school registrar as P&C Treasurer and, at one
time, the assistant registrar was also my secretary. It was fairly tight
knit, but, as I said, everybody was working for the common goal.
There did not seem to be an issue.417

5.54 Payments for the accommodation component from the DCD were going directly to the
P & C and then on to Hurson.

5.55 Mr Mynard, advised the Committee that as a result of confusion surrounding the
funding for the BWP coming in and out of the P & C, in an effort to achieve greater
accountability, a sub-entity of the P & C known as Balga Works was formed in
November 2005 specifically to manage the BWP, with the purpose of establishing a
bank account separate from the P & C main account:

Hon KEN TRAVERS: What was the reason that you created the
separate entity at that point?

Mr Mynard: At that time people, and even I, were getting confused
about some of the money that was going through the P&C, through to
MITS, Hursons or whoever. There seem to be a bit of confusion
there.

417 Keith Mynard, Transcript of Evidence, 24 September 2007, p5.
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The CHAIRPERSON: Can you elaborate on what was causing that
confusion?

Mr Mynard: It was simply coming through as donations when,
really, it was the education program and it ended up going through as
the construction of the shed. It seems to be a sticking point now. In
essence, it was an education program for the kids because they were
doing their learning and the construction was really a secondary part,
or bonus part, of it. The concentration was on getting the kids some
skill.418

5.56 The sub-entity arrangement continued until concerns were raised by the Treasurer and
President of the P & C.419

5.57 The P & C loaned Hurson some $51,500 for the BWP. The Committee notes that as
of 1 July 2006, 5 percent of all revenues received to the P & C Balga Works account
was to be retained by the P & C as a contribution to it for its services, and was to be
the means by which the debt to the P & C was to be repaid.420 Mr Mynard advised:

Mr Mynard: Well, sort of like a management fee. It was a way of
trying to recoup some of the money that Balga works owed the P&C.
That was part of the bigger vision, too. Okay, we will go into that,
then. If you looked at the bigger vision, you would have a P&C that,
if this program was still running, would have a million bucks going
through its account each year, and if you were retaining five per cent
to give back to the school and spend on the kids, Balga Senior High
would have been one of the best schools around the place. It would
have been a win-win situation.421

5.58 The DET Internal Assurance Directorate audited the P & C in 2007. The findings of
the audit were provided to the Committee. The audit report found that:

i) the financial statements of the P & C were not reliable;

ii) many of the transactions of the P & C relating to the BWP did not have
supporting documentation, receipts or invoices; and

418 Ibid, pp5-6.
419 Audit and Risk Management Directorate, DET, Audit Final Report on Balga Senior High School P & C,

23 July 2007, p4.
420 Balga Works Management Committee, Minutes of Meeting, Thursday 3 August 2006.
421 Keith Mynard, Transcript of Evidence, 24 September 2007, p14.
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iii) large sums of money donated by the BSHS to the P & C does not appear to
have been used for the purpose intended.422

Committee comment

5.59 The Committee notes the activities of the P & C in relation to the BWP included
sourcing funding, acting as an intermediary for the monetary payments between the
BSHS, the DCD and Hurson, and lending money.

5.60 The Committee is of the view that the P & C, being an incorporated not for profit
organisation, was pivotal to the operation of the BWP at BSHS. Use of the P & C
enabled money to be channelled from BSHS to the private provider without
appropriate DET scrutiny.

5.61 The Committee has only obtained minimal information regarding the activities of the
P & C in the BWP. The Committee has not undertaken a detailed investigation into
the role of the P & C.

5.62 The Committee notes that the overwhelming majority of the Executive of the P & C
were involved with the BWP and most were employed at BSHS. The Committee
finds that the P & C did not operate with sufficient autonomy from the BSHS and was
compromised by conflicts of interests.

Recommendation 7: The Committee by a majority (comprising Hons Giz Watson,
Peter Collier, Sheila Mills and Helen Morton MLCs) recommends that the Western
Australian Council of State School Organisations Incorporated prohibit school
employees who are members of a Parents and Citizens Association to also be
signatories of the Parents and Citizens Associations bank accounts.

Minority Recommendation: The minority of the Committee (Hon Ken Travers MLC)
recommends that consideration be given by Western Australian Council of State School
Organisations Incorporated to prohibit school employees who are members of a Parents and
Citizens Association from being signatories of the Parents and Citizens Association bank
accounts.

422 Letter from Keith Newton, A/Deputy Director General, Schools, DET, dated 23 August 2007,
Attachment.
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Recommendation 8: The Committee recommends that the Government ensure that a
detailed investigation be undertaken by the appropriate authorities into the role and
activities of the Balga Senior High School Parent and Citizens Association Inc in
relation to the Balga Works Program.
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CHAPTER 6
REFLECTIONS ON THE BALGA WORKS PROGRAM

6.1 The BWP closed in October 2006, approximately two years after it began. The
Committee in its inquiry has learnt that problems and issues were being experienced
with the program at all levels almost from the very beginning, with the problems
escalating until its closure in 2006.

WHY THE BWP FAILED

6.2 It is Mr Michael Carton’s view that the program failed due to poor planning,
governance, lack of funding, and that it was not a multi-agency approach:

Mr Carton: It went off the rails because of planning, because of
governance, because of funding and it was not a multi-agency
approach that was taken. I think it should have always been an NGO
program - a non-government organisation - that was able to deliver
and manage a program like this. It was in the wrong hands right
from the beginning. It should never have been private. There should
never have been a private provider in there for the simple reason that
we are here today: a private provider does not fit within that
framework. Unless you step into the corrective services-AIMS type of
arrangement, I do not know how it works with private providers.
NGOs have certainly got the expertise and there are a lot of good
people who can work in it. Ideally, it should have started and stayed
with NGOs.423

6.3 Mr Michael Carton further advised that he tried to do too much and failed:

Mr Carton: I was asked just before about a program to deliver these
needs. I think one of the big problems with the program was someone
like myself who tried to do all things for all people, and I certainly
failed miserably in what I did. There are much better people out
there who could do an immeasurably better job than what I did and I
will leave it at that.424

6.4 The Committee has come to the conclusion that the failure of the BWP can be
attributed to a number of factors, the main ones being:

423 Michael Carton, Transcript of Evidence, 22 October 2007, p27.
424 Ibid, p28.
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a) inadequate planning;

b) lack of sound management;

c) poor financial management;

d) lack of adequate budget controls to ensure sufficient funding;

e) the people managing the program lacked the appropriate experience and
expertise in behavioural management of young people;

f) the program expanded beyond what was initially planned and articulated;

g) the DET does not have a research and development capability for an
innovative process in its operational structure for piloting an innovative
program; and

h) the program was established and continued to operate without approval from
the Minister and Director General. This resulted in a mixed message about its
legitimacy.

NEED FOR THE PROGRAM

6.5 The Committee notes that despite all the concerns raised and the difficulties
encountered in the operation of the BWP, which at times seemed so bad that the
program ought to have been closed, the staff working within the program kept the
program going. The needs of the young people to whom the BWP was aimed
seemingly outweighed any difficulty encountered, including for many staff not being
paid wages, and being subjected to violent and threatening behaviour. As stated by
Mr Taylor:

The CHAIRPERSON: Did you at any time feel that the program
ought to be shut down, that it had got to a point where -

Mr Taylor: Many times, yes; many times. It was not my call, but
when I saw the good things that were going on for those kids, you just
could not do it. You could not do it. You had to push through
whatever difficulties there were, and even the Balga high school staff
recognised that. There were some really good things going on for
some of those kids, and some wonderful success stories - the sorts of
things I wish the paper would, you know, get hold of and produce -
kids who were foetal-dependent on heroin, had been all their lives,
had come to school to dry out, ending up with jobs, full-time
permanent jobs out of the program. I mean, there were some
wonderful success stories. So, you look at that and you balance that
up against the difficulties. Like my time at Girrawheen. You do not
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close the school down because you are facing difficulties with a
number of kids. You work with those kids and the parents, and you fix
it up. I mean, I had never come across anything like this, even though
I had worked very closely with a number of programs for highly at-
risk kids. This was a whole different level again, and you just had to
do it for the kids. You just had to keep going for the sake of the kids
that were benefiting from it.425

6.6 The rapid expansion of the BWP is a testimony to that fact that the BWP was a much
needed program. The failure of the BWP has highlighted the increasing need for such
programs in Western Australia. The Committee notes the comments of the DCD and
the DOJ:

Hon HELEN MORTON: I am just interested in the kind of need for
that sort of a program that you identified at the time that you were
entering into it. Now, you did not have any panel tenders or contracts
then, did you? So, you were identifying that this was an organisation
that provided a service that you needed for your kids and young folk?

Mr Glew: At that time there were a number of different agencies that
provided placement services. These kids were kids that were very
hard to place.

Hon HELEN MORTON: So, it was difficult to place them into the
other placement -

Mr Glew: Yes.

Ms Barnett: Mmm.

Hon HELEN MORTON: - services and somehow or another this
service offered you something that you did not have anywhere else - is
that -

Mr Glew: Exactly.

Hon HELEN MORTON: Is that need still there?

Mr Glew: Yes.

Hon HELEN MORTON: Is it an increasing need?

Mr Glew: Well, yes. Placements are extremely hard. You are
probably aware that we have had a 20 per cent increase in kids in

425 Gary Taylor, Deputy Principal, BSHS, Transcript of Evidence, 1 November 2007, pp10-11.
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care over the past 12 months. It is a trend that we do not believe will
drop in the immediate future. Of course, placing those kids becomes
extremely hard. We are in a position at the moment - you would be
aware - under the Ford Report we are going to do a series of group
homes; first-level residential care. These kids would not be suitable
for even that type of program. So, we would have to be looking at
other types of programs. I mean, there has been money that has come
into the department of child protection but, once again, there has
been unprecedented growth in the number of kids that are in care at
the moment.

Hon HELEN MORTON: But, you are not talking about 20 per cent
growth in these types of kids, or are you talking about 20 per cent
growth in these types of kids?

Mr Glew: We are talking about a proportionate increase -

Hon HELEN MORTON: Yes, okay.

Mr Glew: - so, we would have had this cohort of kids. If you look at
a 20 per cent increase, then you will find that there is a cohort of kids
within that 20 per cent that will certainly fit into this same category of
client.

Hon HELEN MORTON: What is happening to those kids in the
absence then of having anything like the Balga Works program?
Where are they, when they are not there?

Mr Glew: We are trying to work a variety of arrangements at the
moment where they are placed in foster care or they are placed in
some sort of supported accommodation. We are trying to do it so that
we minimise the number of placements. Sometimes it is hard. That is
one of the reasons that this panel contract we are talking about now,
and which we will finalise very shortly, will also provide a wrap-
around service for those kids that are really at the high end. If I may,
the “high end” involves a significant amount of cost per client.

Hon HELEN MORTON: Obviously, more so than a - I do not know
what you would call, how you talk about “degrees of difficulty” with
the children or youth you are talking about, but the higher the degree
of difficulty the higher the cost?

Mr Glew: Yes; because you have all the add-ons that come as well.
You are looking at 24-hour care and you obviously need
accommodation. You just cannot put them into normal
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accommodation elsewhere. There are also the psychologists and
psychiatrists; all the add-on costs that go with the client.426

And:

Hon HELEN MORTON: I was just wanting to know what sort of
pressure is on your agency to find placements. If I recall rightly from
the budget papers, the numbers of young people coming into
corrective services is increasing at a rapid rate, and so I am just
really interested in what pressure there is for you to find places.

…

Mr Robins: You are right in terms of - there is an increasing number
of young children that are either coming into custody or coming into
remand, or being remanded in custody for longer periods. Peter can
quote figures better than I can, but the number of young people that
are being placed under supervised bail has increased significantly
over the past couple of years.

Hon HELEN MORTON: The percentage of children on
supervised bail has increased to try to meet the demand?

Mr Logan: The percentage of young people being placed on
supervised bail has increased to reflect the changes in how the court
actually grants young people bail, to reflect the increase in the young
people being brought into custody due to changes in police practices,
to arguably reflect the changes in how the state addresses young
people who have had issues and circumstances and been subject to
the failure of other systems. Interestingly enough, the state provides
164 custodial beds in the metropolitan area for young people, and
provides 35 accommodation beds through the DCP. That maybe
reflects the onus that we put on how we address young people.

Hon HELEN MORTON: Is that enough?

Mr Logan: No.

Hon HELEN MORTON: So there is pressure on you to find an
alternative way?

426 Stephen Glew, A/Executive Director, Resource Allocation, Department for Child Protection, Transcript
of Evidence, 12 November 2007, pp22-23.
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Mr Robins: There is a pressure, and the pressure is more in terms of
the needs of young people; I mean, in terms of custodial environment
versus a community environment. So, yes, the pressure is in terms of
trying to meet the needs of young people; being provided with the best
possible option for them. As for supervised bail, it is rather than
putting them in a secure facility before they have even been sentenced
is to look at options to enable them to remain in the community and
minimise the potential impact that being in custody can have. So, yes,
there is an increased pressure in terms of trying to meet that demand.

Mr Logan: But certainly, there is no pressure in terms of releasing
people into the community on supervised bail because we do not have
the bed capacity to actually accommodate them. By nature, our
department is quite cautious, and we need to ensure - and especially
since and after our experiences with Balga Works, as much as there
was no long-term negative impact that we can measure on the young
people that actually participated in that program, but there is a
degree of caution, but, as my colleague stated, the pressure to release
young people is based on issues of social justice, rather than anything
else.427

Committee comment

6.7 The experience of BWP has highlighted what is required for such a program to be
successful. This includes proper planning, a solid overarching structure, strong
leadership and management, adequate funding and strong accountability and
monitoring processes. It also requires the collaboration of all government agencies
involved.

To achieve a holistic wrap-around service for children requires an
ongoing across government commitment from all relevant
departments in providing an integrated service which can also meet
the needs of individual children.428

6.8 The deficiencies of the BWP must be noted and learnt from.

6.9 The Committee is of the view that the concept of Balga Works has value and such a
program is desperately needed.

427 Peter Logan, Manager, Supervised Bail and Diversion, Rangeview Remand Centre, and Steven Robins,
A/Director, Juvenile Custodial Services, Department of Corrective Services, Transcript of Evidence, 19
October 2007, pp26-27.

428 Letter from Cheryl Barnett, A/Executive Director, Metropolitan Services, Department for Child
Protection, 28 November 2007, Attachment, p2.
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6.10 The Committee notes that the Swan Works Program position paper was presented to
the DET Corporate Executive for approval in June 2005. The program was never
approved.429

6.11 The Committee in its inquiry has heard a range of views on the adequacy of training
and financial management support in schools. The Committee is concerned that a lack
of adequate financial management support and training could lead to similar system
failures such as those experienced at the BWP in any school in Western Australia.

6.12 Given the unique circumstances surrounding the establishment and operation of the
Balga Works Program, the Committee believes that the DET, the DOJ and the DCD
should ensure that all former employees of the BWP, who can demonstrate their
claims for outstanding wages and superannuation, be reimbursed.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation 9: The Committee recommends that the Government establish as a
matter of priority, a program for disengaged youth that provides appropriate
education and vocational training along with integrated accommodation and life skills
support.

Recommendation 10: The Committee recommends that the Department of Education
and Training reviews the financial management support provided to schools. This
should include adequate training for Business Managers, Registrars, Principals and
Deputy Principals on the financial management practices of the Department of
Education and Training.

Recommendation 11: The Committee by a majority (comprising Hons Giz Watson,
Peter Collier, Sheila Mills and Helen Morton MLCs) recommends that the
Government reimburse all former employees of the Balga Works Program, who can
demonstrate their claims for outstanding wages and superannuation.

Recommendation 12: The Committee recommends that the Government examine
whether it has any recourse to recoup monies including outstanding wages and
superannuation from any individual or company and their directors involved in the
management of the Balga Works Program including Mr Hammond, Mr Michael
Carton and Hurson Pty Ltd.

429 John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET, Transcript of Evidence, 10 October 2007,
p30.
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Recommendation 13: The Committee recommends that the Government provide
assistance and support in the form of a debriefing and counselling to the people
affected by the Balga Works Program and that in six months time the Government
report back to the Legislative Council on its actions.

Recommendation 14: The Committee recommends that the Government identify the
young people who were enrolled in the Balga Works Program and ensure that they are
able to access educational and employment assistance to the level promised by the
Balga Works Program.

Recommendation 15: The Committee recommends that the Department of Education
and Training review the adequacy of its capacity to facilitate the resourcing and
establishment of innovative initiatives within schools.

____________________
Hon Giz Watson MLC
Chair

Date: 29 May 2008
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APPENDIX 1
LIST OF STAKEHOLDERS TO WHOM THE COMMITTEE WROTE

Name Position Date

Hon Mark McGowan MLA Minister for Education and Training 16/07/07

Hon Sue Ellery MLC Minister for Child Protection 16/07/07

Mr GA Crisp Liquidator, RSM Bird Cameron
Partners

16/07/07

Hon Margaret Quirk MLA Minister for Corrective Services 21/08/07

Hon Joe Hockey MP Commonwealth Minister for
Employment and Workplace
Relations

22/08/07
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APPENDIX 2
LIST OF WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED

No Submission Date

1 Private undated

2 Private 04/08/07

3 Private 03/08/07

4 Private undated

5 Private undated

6 Private undated

7 Private undated

8 Private 21/08/07

9 Private undated

10 Private 31/07/07

11 Private 10/08/07

12 Private 04/08/07

13 Private undated

14 Private 10/08/07

15 Hon Mark McGowan, Minister for Education and Training

1st Submission

2nd Submission

3rd Submission

4th Submission

5th Submission

6th Submission

7th Submission

09/08/07

29/08/07

August 2007

18/09/07

21/09/07

03/10/07

24/10/07
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No Submission Date

8th Submission 26/11/07

16 Private undated

17 Private undated

18 Hon Sue Ellery MLC, Minister for Child Protection 13/08/07

19 Private undated

20 Bob Padmanabham undated

21 John McQuay 14/11/07

22 Thomas Sturt 16/11/07
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APPENDIX 3
LIST OF WITNESSES

Witnesses Date

Session 1 - Witness A Private 11/09/07

Session 2 - Witness B Private 11/09/07

Session 3 - Witness C Private 11/09/07

Session 4 - Witness D Private 11/09/07

Session 5 - Witness E Private 11/09/07

Session 6 - Witness F Private 11/09/07

Session 7 - Witness G and Witness H Private 11/09/07

Session 8 - Witness I Private 11/09/07

Session 1 - Witness J Private 24/09/07

Keith Mynard
Former President
Balga Senior High School P & C

24/09/07

Stephen Lennox
Supervised Bail Coordinator
Perth Children’s Court

24/09/07

Trevor Sprigg MLA
Member for Murdoch

24/09/07

Sue Gordon
Magistrate
Perth Children’s Court

04/10/07

Bhupathy Padmanabham
Chinni Padmanabham

04/10/07

Gary Hodge 04/10/07
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Witnesses Date

Leslie Flaherty
Brooke Stone Accommodation Pty Ltd

04/10/07

Jonathon Cook
Principal
Meta Ink

04/10/07

Michael Thorn
former Director of the Office of Crime Prevention

10/10/07

Mark Carton
Balga Senior High School

10/10/07

John Garnaut
District Director, Swan Education District
Department of Education and Training

10/10/07

Robert Somerville
Director, Aboriginal Education and Training
Department of Education and Training

15/10/07

Peter McCaffrey
Deputy Director General, Finance and Administration
Department of Education and Training

15/10/07

Steve Robins, A/Director Juvenile Custodial Services
Peter Logan, Manager, Supervised Bail and Diversion
Department of Corrective Services

19/10/07

Keith Newton
Deputy Director General, Schools
Department of Education and Training

19/10/07

Michael Carton 22/10/07

Gary Taylor
Deputy Principal, Balga Senior High School

01/11/07

Mervyn Hammond
Former Principal
Balga Senior High School

07/11/07
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Witnesses Date

Cheryl Barnett, A/Executive Director, Metropolitan Services
Sue Renshaw, A/ Executive Director Policy and Planning
Steve Glew, A/Executive Director, Resource Allocation
Department for Child Protection

12/11/07

Melissa Gillett
Deputy Principal
Balga Senior High School

03/12/07

Mr Peter Bass
Manager, Perth Indigenous Co-ordinator Centre
Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and
Indigenous Affairs

25/02/08

Michelle Green
Business Manager
Balga Senior High School

17/03/08

Mr Gerald Borger
District Finance and Administration Officer, Swan Education
District Office
Department of Education and Training

27/03/08

Christine Annear
former Registrar
Balga Senior High School

27/03/08
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APPENDIX 4
RESPONSES TO ADVERSE FINDINGS

Letter to Mr Robert Sommerville, Director, Aboriginal Education and Training, DET
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Response from Mr Robert Sommerville, Director, Aboriginal Education and Training,
DET
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Letter to Mr John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET
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Response from Mr John Garnaut, District Director, Swan Education District, DET
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Letter to Ms Sharyn O’Neill, Director General, DET
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Response from Ms Sharyn O’Neill, Director General, DET
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APPENDIX 5
OVERVIEW OF THE EDUCATION COMPONENT430

430 Extract from the Tender document attached to the Fifth Submission from the DET, September 2007,
Attachment E. This is in similar terms to that contained in the Balga Works Programme Business Plan of
the Balga Works Program, April 2006.
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EDUCATION AND TRAINING, DATED 2 AUGUST 2004
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Minority Report of
Hon Ken Travers MLC

in regard to

Report 12 - Balga Works Program
DISSENT FROM RECOMMENDATION 7

1.1 At paragraph 5.62 the committee noted that the overwhelming majority of the
Executive of the P & C were involved with BWP and most were employed at BSHS.
Further the committee found that the P & C did not operate with sufficient autonomy
from the BSHS and was compromised by conflicts of interests.

1.2 As a result of this, the majority of the Committee has recommended that the Western
Australian Council of State School Organisations Incorporated (WACSSO) prohibit
school employees who are members of a Parents and Citizens Association (P &C) to
also be signatories of the P & C bank accounts.

1.3 However, the committee has not examined:

a) If staff in any other schools are signatories to P & C bank accounts and if so
how widespread the practise is.

b) What are the implications for schools and P & C’s if the majority
recommendation was implemented.

c) If there is some alternative action that could address the concerns raised as a
result of events surrounding the BWP.

d) If WACSSO actually has the ability to prohibit individual P&C’s from having
school employees as signatories to their bank accounts.

1.4 In light of this I am not able to support the majority decision.

1.5 However, I do believe this issue requires further examination and I would encourage
WACSSO and the DET to consider whether it is appropriate to apply such a
prohibition or if there is some other action that can be taken to prevent a repeat of the
events at BSHS P & C.

DISSENT FROM RECOMMENDATION 11

1.6 I dissent from Recommendation 11 for the following reasons.

1.7 The recommendation is very broad in its terms and the report contains no specific
justification for how the recommendation was arrived at or is justified.
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1.8 The committee, at paragraph 1.29 point out that:

The private provider was providing program planning, development,
operations, reviews and evaluations as well as accommodation,
transport, after school care and other programs initiatives. All
resources for the direct delivery of the BWP, including staffing were
the provider’s responsibility, except for the provision of the learning
environment, for example, classrooms and toilets, and administrative
support which were provided through negotiation with the Principal
of BSHS.

1.9 It is therefore clear that Hurson and its directors are responsible for the payment of all
wages and superannuation for people employed by BWP.

1.10 The Governments obligation is to ensure that they have paid all the money that they
owe to Hursons for the services they provided. The report does not indicate that the
committee has identified any outstanding payments owed to Hursons.

1.11 Despite this being the case the DET has already negotiated with many of the staff,
involved in the school based element, of BWP who claimed that they were owed
salary payments. Once agreement was reached, payments were made to Hurson who
then paid the individuals concerned. (See paragraph 3.161)

1.12 The DET concluded they had no obligation to meet the salary for people involved in
the accommodation component which was the full responsibility of Hurson. (See Para
3.160)

1.13 The school based element of the program was held in the grounds of BSHS and there
was some departmental involvement in the commencement of the program. This
would clearly provide some moral justification for assisting the staff.

1.14 The accommodation component of the program was established by Mr Michael
Carton independent of MITS or Hurson. The accommodation component was not
included in the original MITS/BSHS proposal. (Para 4.4) There was also no
Government involvement in its establishment.

1.15 It was conducted at private rented accommodation arranged by Mr Michael Carton in
Joondalup, well away from BSHS.

1.16 Before a payment is made by the Government to a former employee of the
accommodation component there is a need to determine the basis for making that
payment.
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1.17 It is impossible to understand why the majority of the committee supported the
recommendation. Nowhere in the Report is there any explanation as to the majorities
reasoning for why the recommendation is made.

1.18 Any payment without clearly understood reasons will set an interesting precedent for a
person who is employed by a company that provides a service to Government and is
not paid their wages.

1.19 Also there are a number of other issues that would need to be taken into consideration
before any payments are made to certain individuals who were employed by BWP.
They are:

 Allegations regarding inappropriate conduct by a small number of people
employed in the accommodation component of the program. (See paragraph
4.56)

 Some people employed in the accommodation component of the program
were closely related to the key people responsible for the failure of the
program.

 Some of the staff colluded with Mr Michael Carton in covering up some of
the programs deficiencies. (See paragraph 1.36)

1.20 There is no doubt that the events surrounding the BWP has clearly left many of the
former employees emotionally and financially scarred. It is understandable that the
members of the committee feel extremely sorry for the many good people who
suffered as a result of the actions of Mr Michael Carton and Mr Mervyn Hammond.

1.21 However this alone does not justify the Government paying the outstanding wages
owed by Hurson.

1.22 The Estimates and Financial Operations Committee is charged with overseeing the
financial administration of the State. It is therefore extraordinary that the majority of
that committee has made a recommendation for the Government to pay the staff wages
of a private, for profit organisation, without providing any argument or justification in
their report for why they believe these payments are warranted.

1.23 The DET has, as they should have, accepted responsibility and provided assistance to
those that were engaged in the school based component of the program to recover
outstanding wages.

1.24 I request the Government examine whether any Department still has any debt
owing to Hurson for the services they provided. If any debt is still owing I would
urge the Government to try and assist staff to receive their outstanding wages as
DET previously did.
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1.25 In providing any assistance I would urge the Government to consider the three
categories of former staff, outlined above, who do not deserve any payments in
my view.

1.26 In making this request I do not wish to provide false hopes to the former staff,
something which I believe the majority recommendation does. It is my view that it is
unlikely that there are any outstanding amounts owing.

IN CONCLUSION

1.27 I again want to indicate I feel very sorry for the many dedicated staff exploited,
abused and ripped off by Mr Michael Carton. Mr Carton was clearly an
extremely charismatic person who was both a hopelessly incompetent
administrator and I suspect on the evidence available a devious and corrupt
conman.

____________________
Hon Ken Travers MLC

Date: 29 May 2008


